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CHALLENGES IN JOINT VENTURE FORMATION

By

Byron F. Egan, Dallas, X"

I INTRODUCTION

The joint venture is a vehicle for the development of a business opportunity by two or more
entities acting together.' A joint venture may be structured as a corporation, partnership, limited
liability company (“LLC”), trust, contractual arrangement, or any combination of such entities and
arrangements.” Structure decisions for a particular joint venture will be driven by the venturers’ tax
situation, accounting goals, business objectives and financial needs, as well as the venturers’ planned
capital and other contributions to the venture, and antitrust and other regulatory considerations.’
Irrespective of the structure chosen, however, certain elements are must be considered in connection
with structuring every joint venture.

Because a joint venture is commonly thought of as a limited duration general partnership
formed for a specific business activity, the owners of a joint venture are sometimes referred to herein
as “partners” or ‘“venturers,” and the joint venture as the “entity,” “partnership” or “venture,” in

each case irrespective of the particular form of entity or other structure selected for the joint venture.
IL. JOINT VENTURE FORMATION

A. Choice of Entity

A joint venture may take the form of:

Copyright © 2010 by Byron F. Egan. All rights reserved.

Byron F. Egan is a partner of Jackson Walker L.L.P. in Dallas, Texas. Mr. Egan is a member of the ABA
Business Law Section’s Mergers & Acquisitions Committee, serves as Senior Vice Chair of the Committee and
Chair of its Executive Council and served as Co-Chair of its Asset Acquisition Agreement Task Force which
prepared the ABA Model Asset Purchase Agreement with Commentary.

Mr. Egan wishes to acknowledge the contributions of the following in preparing this paper: Bryan D. McCrory of
Brinker International in Dallas, Texas and William D. Marsh of Baker Hughes Incorporated in Houston, Texas.

See James R. Bridges and Leslie E. Sherman, Structuring Joint Ventures, 4 Insights 17 (Oct. 1990); David Ernst
and Stephen I. Glover, Combining Legal and Business Practices to Create Successful Strategic Alliances, 11
Insights 6 (Oct. 1997); Stephen 1. Glover, Joint Ventures and Opportunity Doctrine Problems, 9 Insights 9
(Nov. 1995); Warren S. de Wied, Structuring Strategic Equity Investments, 1 No. 8 M&A Law. 7 (Jan. 1998).

See Joint Venture Task Force of Negotiated Acquisitions Committee, American Bar Association, Section of
Business Law, Model Joint Venture Agreement with Commentary (American Bar Association 2006) (the “ABA
Model Joint Venture Agreement”).

See “Decision Matrix” at 141-145, in Byron F. Egan, Choice of Entity Decision Tree In Troubled Times,
TexasBarCLE & Business Law Section of State Bar of Texas’ program on Choice of Entity In Troubled Times,
San Antonio, TX, May 22, 2009, available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1175.pdf.
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@)) Contractual Relationship Not Constituting an Entity Recognized by Statute. The joint
venturers may operate under a relationship such as a contractual revenue-sharing joint venture, a
lease, a creditor/debtor relationship or some other relationship not constituting an entity. A risk to
this structure is that a court will impose general partnership duties or liabilities on the venturers if
their relationship is found to constitute “an association of two or more persons to operate a business
as co-owners for a profit” (the traditional definition of a partnership) regardless of how the venturers
characterize and document their relationship.4 In determining whether the relationship is a
partnership, the following factors are considered:

o Receipt or right to receive a share of profits;

o Expression of an intent to be partners;

o Participation or right to participate in control of the business;

o Sharing or agreeing to share losses or liabilities; or

° Contributing or agreeing to contribute money or property to the business.’

A contract is sometimes used to establish the relationship among the venturers even though
one of the entities referenced below may be the operating vehicle for the joint venture.

2) General Partnership. A general partnership is an unincorporated association of two or
more persons to operate a business as co-owners for profit that is not formed under another statute.’
The definition of a partnership under Texas general partnership statutes includes a “‘joint venture” or
any other named association that satisfies the definition of “partnership.”’ A joint venture may be
legally nothing more than a limited purpose general partnership, although a joint venture may be
organized as a corporation, limited partnership or LLC® A general partnership may become a
limited liability partnership (“LLP”), which is a general partnership in which the partners are not
vicariously liable to third parties for some or all partnership obligations if it makes the requisite
filings with the appropriate state secretary of state and complies with certain other state statutory
requirements.

Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on Legislative
Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 63-65, available at
http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

> Id.

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 62-73,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

! Texas Business Organizations Code (“TBOC”) § 152.051(b); Texas Revised Partnership Act (“TRPA”) § 2.02.

See Alan R. Bromberg and Larry E. Ribstein, Bromberg & Ribstein on Partnership, § 2.06 (Aspen Publishers
2003).

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 123-148,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

.
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3) Limited Partnership. A limited partnership is a partnership having at least two
partners including at least one limited partner and at least one general partner, and that files a
certificate of limited partnership with the applicable state secretary of state. 10" A limited partnership
can be structured in some states as a limited liability limited partnership (“LLLP”), which is a
limited partnership in which general partners are not vicariously liable to third parties for some or all
partnership obligations."'

4) Limited Liability Company. A limited liability company (“LLC”) is an
unincorporated organization formed by one or more persons filing a certificate of formation or
articles of organization under a state limited liability company act."> None of the members of an
LLC is p(133rsonally liable to a third party for the obligations of the LLC solely by reason of being a
member.

5) Corporation. A corporation is a business organization usually formed under a state
corporation law, but occasionally is formed under federal law such as certain banking
organizations."*

There are several factors typically considered in determining the appropriate form of entity or
other structure for a joint venture. Key elements usually are:

o How the entity and the venturers will be taxed under federal and state law;'* and

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 73-89,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 136-137,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 89-123,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 108-111,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 42-62,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

Federal and state taxation of an entity and its owners for entity income is a major factor in the selection of the
form of entity for a particular situation. Under the United States (“U.S.”) Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “IRC”), and the “Check-the-Box Regulations” promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) (Treasury Regulations §§ 301.7701-1, -2 and -3), an unincorporated business entity may be classified
as an “association” taxable as a corporation subject to income taxes at the corporate level ranging from 15% to
35% of taxable net income, which is in addition to any taxation which may be imposed on the owner as a result
of distributions from the business entity. Alternatively, the entity may be classified as a partnership, a non-
taxable “flow-through” entity in which taxation is imposed only at the ownership level. Although a corporation
is classified only as a corporation for IRC purposes, an LLC or partnership may elect whether to be classified as
a partnership. A single-owner LLC is disregarded as a separate entity for federal income tax purposes unless it
elects otherwise. See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE
webcast on Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 9-
34, available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.
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° Who will be liable for its contract, tort and statutory obligations (the entity itself will
always be liable to the extent of its assets; the question is whether owners will be
liable if entity’s assets insufficient to satisfy all claims).

Although these two considerations tend to receive the principal focus in the entity choice decision,
other factors can be critical: (a) the application of non-tax laws and regulations to the venture and the
venturers, (b) the ability of the venturers to order their duties and rights by agreement (e.g. limitation
of fiduciary duties), (c) the venturers’ exit strategies, (d) the manner in which the venturers will
share the economic benefits of the venture, (e) the possible need for additional contributions by new
and existing venturers, (f) the manner in which the venturers will make day-to-day and policy
decisions of the venture, (g) the agency rules applicable to the venture and (h) particular
requirements of the venture’s business.

Increasingly, the LLC is the form of entity chosen for domestic joint ventures in the U.S.'®
The allure of the LLC is its unique ability to bring together in a single business organization the best
features of all other business forms. Owners of a properly structured LLC can obtain both a
corporate-styled liability shield and the pass-through tax benefits of a partnership. All equity holders
of an LLC have the limited liability of corporate shareholders even if they participate in the business
of the LLC. Under the Check-the-Box Regulations, a domestic LLC with two or more members
typically would be treated for federal income tax purposes as a partnership. 7 AnLLC is subject to
Texas Margin Tax.

An underlying premise of the Texas and Delaware LLC statutes is that the LLC is based in
large part upon a contract between its members, similar to a partnership agreement. As a result,

In addition to federal tax laws, an entity and its advisors must comply with federal anti money laundering and
terrorist regulations. An entity and its advisors are charged with reviewing and complying with the Specially
Designated Nationals List (“SDN List”’) maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”’) within
the U.S. Department of Treasury. U.S. citizens and companies (subject to certain exclusions typically
conditioned upon the issuance of a special license) are precluded from engaging in business with any individual
or entity listed on the SDN List. The SND List and OFAC guidance are available on the OFAC website at
http://www.ustreas.gov/offices/enforcement/ofac/.

Texas does not have a state personal income tax. The Texas Legislature has replaced the Texas franchise tax on
corporations and LLCs with a novel business entity tax called the “Margin Tax,” which is imposed on all
business entities other than general partnerships wholly owned by individuals and certain “passive entities.”
Essentially, the calculation of the Margin Tax is based on a taxable entity’s, or unitary group’s, gross receipts
after deductions for either (x) compensation or (y) cost of goods sold, provided that the “tax base” for the
Margin Tax may not exceed 70% of the entity’s total revenues. This “tax base” is apportioned to Texas by
multiplying the tax base by a fraction of which the numerator is Texas gross receipts and the denominator is
aggregate gross receipts. The tax rate applied to the Texas portion of the tax base is 1% for all taxpayers,
except a narrowly defined group of retail and wholesale businesses that will pay a Y2 of 1% rate. For calendar
year taxpayers, the Margin Tax is payable annually on May 15 of each year based on entity income for the year
ending the preceding December 31.

1o Rodney D. Chrisman, LLCs are the New King of the Hill: An Empirical Study of the Number of New LLCs,
Corporations, and LPs Formed in the United States between 2004-2007 and How LLCs Were Taxed for Tax
Years 2002-2006, XV FORDHAM JOURNAL OF CORPORATE & FINANCIAL LAw 459 (2010), available at
http://www.abanet.org/dch/committee.cfm?com=CL590000.

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 91-95,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.
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fundamental principles of freedom of contract imply that the owners of an LLC have maximum
freedom to determine the internal structure and operation of the LLC."® Most of the provisions
relating to the organization and management of an LLC and the terms governing its equity interests
are contained in the LLC’s company agreement, which will typically contain provisions similar to
those in limited partnership agreements and corporate bylalws,19 and may also constitute the joint
venture agreement for a joint venture organized as an LLC.?

The identity of the specific entities through which the venturers will participate in the venture
is another key initial decision. If the joint venture is structured as a partnership, special purpose
subsidiaries will typically be used in order to insulate the venturers from liabilities incurred by the
venture. A venturer may desire to use a special purpose subsidiary to facilitate a subsequent transfer
of all or a portion of its interest in the venture. The use of special purpose subsidiaries may lead to
requests for parent company guarantees of subsidiary obligations to other venturers and to the entity.

In addition to the form of entity or arrangement, the organizers need to choose the particular
state laws that are to govern the entity. States like Delaware and Texas with well-developed statutes
and case law relating to the relationship between owners of the joint venture and managers of the
entity are preferable to states where the law is not as well recognized. The state of organization also
may affect where evidences of lien rights (“financing statements”) need to be filed under Article 9 of
the Uniform Commercial Code in secured lending arrangements, and where bankruptcy proceedings
may be commenced.

B. Scope and Purpose

A central element of every joint venture is the scope of its business, both as to the types of
products, services or technology which the venture is organized to provide, and as to the geographic
area or markets in which they will be provided.21 Where the business of the venture is similar to the

See Byron F. Egan, Business Entities in Texas after 2009 Texas Legislature, TexasBarCLE webcast on
Legislative Update: Business Entity and Margin Tax Law Changes, Austin, TX, July 1, 2009, at 95-117,
available at http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1207.pdf.

TBOC § 101.052; Joint Task Force of the Committee on LLCs, Partnerships and Unincorporated Entities and the
Committee on Taxation, ABA Section of Business Law, Model Real Estate Development Operating Agreement
with Commentary, 63 Bus. Law. 385 (February 2008).

20 See § 2.1(b) of ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement.
21

The ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement was prepared based on an assumed fact pattern in which the
proposed joint venture is a Delaware LLC with two members, one of whom has a 60% equity interest (“Large
Member”’) and one of which has a 40% equity interest (“Small Member”), and both of which are engaged in
manufacturing and selling high tech equipment. They want to contribute their assets relating to existing
products to the joint venture on its formation, and collaborate through the joint venture in developing and
marketing the next generation of high tech equipment, which they know will have be smaller and more
efficient. Although they are competitors, neither has a significant market share in their common products.
Independently they will continue to manufacture and distribute other products. Based on this fact pattern, the
ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement sets forth in recitals at the front definitions of the “Business” of the
proposed joint venture and other terms that will be used throughout the Agreement to define the purposes of the
joint venture, which in turn will be used to restrict other activities of the venturers elsewhere in the Agreement,
as follows:

A. Large Member, through its High Tech Division, and Small Member are each
currently engaged in the research, development, manufacturing and distribution of

-5-
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existing business of one or more of the venturers, it may be necessary to contractually define the
activities that may be conducted by the venturers only through the venture and those which the
parties may conduct sepalraltely.22

products (“Initial Products™), that each will manufacture on a toll
basis for the joint venture and that will be distributed by the joint venture.

B. Large Member, through its High Tech Division, currently distributes its Initial
Products in the United States and elsewhere in the world, and Small Member currently
distributes its Initial Products in the United States.

C. Large Member and Small Member desire to form a joint venture as a Delaware
limited liability company (the “Company”’) for the distribution of Initial Products and for the
research, development, manufacture and distribution of products that are
not Initial Products (“New Products;” and with such activities as to the Initial Products and
the New Products being the “Business”).

Article 15 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement prohibits a member from competing with the joint
venture during the period it holds an interest therein, and for a specified period thereafter, as follows:

Article 15: Competition
15.1 Competition.

(a) Generally. Each Member will not, and will take all actions necessary to ensure
that its Affiliates will not, engage in the activities prohibited by this Section 15.1. For
purposes of this Section 15.1, the ‘‘Restricted Period’” for a Member lasts for so long as it or
any of its Affiliates owns any interest in the Company. In addition, in the case of a Member
whose Member Interest is purchased pursuant to Article 10 (Buy-Sell in the Absence of
Default) or pursuant to Article 11 (Buy-Sell Upon Default), the Restricted Period lasts until
the last day of the 60th full calendar month following the date on which the purchase is
closed. Further, in the case of a Member that does not continue the Company’s Business
following the dissolution of the Company in which the Company’s Business is continued by
the other Member or by a third party purchaser, the Restricted Period lasts until the last day
of the 60th full calendar month following the date on which the Company is wound up.

(b) Restricted Activities. Neither the Member nor any of its Affiliates will:

(1) Non-Competition: during the Restricted Period, carry on or be engaged,
concerned or interested directly or indirectly whether as shareholder, partner, director,
employee, member, agent or otherwise in carrying on any business similar to or competing
with the Business anywhere in the United States (other than as a holder of not more than five
percent of the issued voting securities of any company listed on The Nasdaq Stock
MarketSM or any registered national securities exchange);

(ii) Non-Solicitation of Customers: during the Restricted Period, either on its own
account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any other Person, solicit or entice away or
attempt to solicit or entice away from the Company as a customer for the products or
services of the Business any Person who is, or at any time within the prior 24 months has
been, a customer, client or identified prospective customer or client of the Company;

(iii) Non-Solicitation of Employees: during the Restricted Period, either on its own
account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any other Person, employ, solicit or entice
away or attempt to employ, solicit or entice away from the Company, any Person who is or
will have been at the date of or within 24 months before any solicitation, enticement or
attempt, an officer, Manager, consultant or employee of the Company or of the other
Member, whether or not that Person would commit a breach of contract by reason of leaving
employment; provided, however, that the foregoing does not restrict a Member from
employing a Manager or officer who was an employee of that Member while serving as a
Manager or as an officer of the Company nor does it restrict a Member’s general
advertisements with respect to a position that are not directed to officers, Managers,
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A related issue is the extent of the exclusivity of the joint venture. What happens if the joint
venture does not have the funds to pursue particular prospects, projects or opportunities within its
scope. Further, where the joint venture has its own managers, what will happen if the managers
decide not to pursue a particular project or market? Alternatives for dealing with these issues
include: (i) make exclusivity absolute (e.g., even though the joint venture cannot or does not pursue a
specific opportunity falling within its “scope,” all participants are barred from doing so); (ii) allow
each participant separately to pursue opportunities which are within the “scope” of the joint venture
and which the joint venture management decides not to pursue; or (iii) where one or more
participants, but not the required number of participants, vote for the venture to fund and pursue a
particular opportunity, only those participants which voted in favor of pursuing the opportunity may
pursue it if the venture does not. Where the parent company or any affiliates of a participant have
the ability to compete with the joint venture, it may be necessary to get the agreement of such
companies, or the covenant of the participant to cause such companies, not to compete with the joint
venture.

Because common law “business opportunity” doctrines may impose fiduciary duties on the
partners to offer business opportunities to the venture,> joint venture agreements typically define

consultants or employees of the Company, and provided, further, that the Members may
agree from time to time that this Section does not apply to specified persons; and

(iv) Restriction on Use of Trademark and Trade name: at any time hereafter in
relation to any trade, business or company use a name including the word [or symbol]
[ >’] or any similar word [or symbol] in a way as to be capable of or likely to be
confused with the name of the Company.

15.2 Distribution. The Company may enter into distribution agreements with
independent distributors who currently are distributing products manufactured by a Member.
A Member whose products are distributed by an independent distributor after the Closing
will not be considered to have breached its obligations under Section 15.1 by virtue of those
distribution arrangements. Each Member hereby waives any claim it may have under existing
distribution agreements with independent distributors that an independent distributor would
have breached of its non-competition obligations under that existing distribution agreement
by distributing Products under a distribution agreement with the Company.

15.3 Independent Agreements. The agreements set forth in this Article 15 (and in
each Section or other part of this Article 15) are, will be deemed, and will be construed as
separate and independent agreements. If any agreement or any part of the agreements is held
invalid, void or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, then such invalidity,
voidness or unenforceability will in no way render invalid, void or unenforceable any other
part of the agreements; and this Article 15 will in that case be construed as if the void,
invalid or unenforceable provisions were omitted.

15.4 Scope of Restrictions. While the restrictions contained in this Article are
considered by the Members to be reasonable in all the circumstances, it is recognized that
restrictions of the nature in question may not be enforced as written by a court. Accordingly,
if any of those restrictions are determined to be void as going beyond what is reasonable in
all the circumstances for the protection of the interest of the Members, but would be valid if
restrictive periods were reduced or if the range of activities or area dealt with were reduced
in scope, then the periods, activities or area will apply with the modifications as are

necessary to make them enforceable.

> Byron F. Egan, Recent Fiduciary Duty Cases Affecting Advice to Directors and Officers of Delaware and Texas

Corporations, University of Texas School of Law 32nd Annual Conference on Securities Regulation and
Business Law, Dallas, TX, February 12, 2010, at 78-82, available at
http://www.jw.com/site/jsp/publicationinfo.jsp?id=1344; Byron F. Egan, Good Faith, Fair Dealing and Other
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carefully the scope of the contemplated business of the venture and the extent to which partners may
compete with the venture or pursue opportunities that the venture might undertake. Often these
matters are dealt with in a separate business opportunity agreement.

C.

Funding

Mechanisms should be established for funding the joint venture’s activities — both for initial

funding and for additional funding during the life of the joint venture. The joint venture’s governing
documents should state the participants’ rights and obligations to make mandatory and optional cash
contributions, as well as mandatory and optional loans to the joint venture entity.**

24

Contractual and Fiduciary Issues, University of Texas School of Law 2009 Partnerships and LLCs Conference,
Austin, TX, July 23, 2009, at 68-70, 78-85 and 102-111,  available  at
http://images.jw.com/com/publications/1220.pdf; Kevin G. Abrams and Srinivas M. Raju, Recent
Developments in the Corporate Opportunity Doctrine Under Delaware Law, 10 Insights 2 (June 1996).

Article 3 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement provides for initial and additional capital contributions,
as well as loans, by the venturers as follows:
Article 3: Capital Contributions

3.1 Initial Capital Contributions. Immediately after the completion of the capital
contributions for which Section 2.8 (Closing Deliveries) provides, the parties agree that the
Book Capital Account of each Member is as follows:

Name Initial Book Capital Account
Large Member $
Small Member $

3.2 Additional Capital Contributions and Member Loans.

(a) Mandatory Only If Included in Business Plan. Each Member will make
additional capital contributions (‘‘Additional Capital Contributions’’) or loans (‘‘Member
Loans’’) to the Company in accordance with its Member Interest, but only in the amounts
and at the times set forth in the Business Plan as it may be amended from time to time.
Neither Member is otherwise required to contribute capital or make Member Loans to the
Company.

(b) Procedure.

(i) Generally. All requirements or requests for Additional Capital Contributions or
Member Loans will: (A) be in a notice delivered to each Member by the CEO stating that the
Additional Capital Contribution has been approved by the Management Committee in
accordance with Section 5.4 (Actions Requiring Management Committee Approval—
Major); (B) state the aggregate amount of Additional Capital Contributions or Member
Loans and the amount of each Member’s share of such Additional Capital Contribution or
Member Loan; and (C) specify the date that the Additional Capital Contribution or Member
Loan is to be made, which will not be sooner than twenty Business Days following the
Member’s receipt of the notice.

(i) Accompanying Certificate. The Members will deliver certificates to the
Company and to each other, dated as of the date the Additional Capital Contribution or
Member Loan is to be made, that contain reasonable representations and warranties as to
such matters as is appropriate (for example, to establish the ability of the Member to comply
with its obligations under the Business Plan). In addition, if Additional Capital Contributions
are to consist of property other than cash, such certificate will contain reasonable
representations and warranties as to the ownership and condition of any such property.

-8-
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(c) The Member Loans. Each Member Loan will be evidenced by a promissory note
bearing interest at a fluctuating rate equal to six percentage points over the Prime Rate, but
not in excess of any legally permitted rate of interest (the ‘‘Specified Interest Rate’’). ‘‘Prime
Rate’” means the prime rate as published in the ‘“Money Rates’’ table of THE WALL STREET
JOURNAL on the first publication day of the calendar quarter in which the loan was made and
as adjusted as of the first publication day of each subsequent calendar quarter until paid.
Each Member Loan will (i) be for such term and subject to such security, if any, as
determined by the Management Committee, (ii) if necessary to secure financing for the
Company, be subordinated to any other indebtedness of the Company or a portion of it, (iii)
become due and payable in the event the Company is dissolved, (iv) rank pari passu with any
and all other Member Loans and (v) be nonrecourse as to the other Member.

3.3 Failure of a Member to Make a Required Additional Capital Contribution
or Make a Required Member Loan. If a Member (the ‘ ‘Non-Contributing Member’’) fails
to make a required Additional Capital Contribution or make a required Member Loan when
due, the other Member (the ‘‘Other Member’’) may exercise one or more of the following
remedies (but shall not be entitled to any other remedy either in the name of the Other
Member or in the name of the Company).

(a) Proceeding to Compel. Institute a proceeding either in the Other Member’s own
name or on behalf of the Company to compel the Non-Contributing Member to contribute
the Additional Capital Contribution or Member Loan.

(b) Loan by Other Member. Loan to the Company on behalf of the Non-
Contributing Member the amount of the Additional Capital Contribution or Member Loan
due from the Non-Contributing Member (‘‘Shortfall Loan’’), in which case the Non-
Contributing Member: (i) will be liable to the Other Member for the amount of such
Shortfall Loan, plus all expenses incurred by the Other Member (not including any interest
incurred by the Other Member in borrowing the funds used to fund the Shortfall Loan) and
the Company in connection with such Shortfall Loan, including reasonable attorneys’ fees,
and interest at the Specified Interest Rate; and (ii) hereby grants the Other Member a lien on
its Member Interest to secure repayment of the Shortfall Loan and constitutes the Other
Member as its attorney in fact to file a financing statement on form UCC-1 to perfect such
lien; provided, however, that the rights under such lien may be exercised by the Other
Member only in connection with exercising its rights to purchase such Member’s Member
Interest in accordance with Section 8.2(a) (Material Default). The Non-Contributing Member
will deliver to the Other Member the certificate representing its Member Interest as security
for such lien. Any distributions otherwise due from the Company to the Non-Contributing
Member will be applied as described in Section 4.4 (Payment of Distributions if Shortfall
Loans Outstanding). The Non-Contributing Member will repay the Shortfall Loan in 20
equal quarterly installments plus interest at the Specified Interest Rate. The Non-
Contributing Member’s failure to make any such payment when due is a Material Default
under Section 8.2(a).

(c) Other Borrowings. Borrow on behalf of the Company from a lender other than
the Other Member the amount of the Additional Capital Contribution or Member Loan due
from the Non-Contributing Member on such terms as the Other Member, in its sole
discretion, may be able to obtain. In this case, the Non-Contributing Member will be liable to
the Company for the principal amount of, and interest on, such borrowing, plus all expenses
reasonably incurred by the Company in connection with such borrowing, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees (also a ‘‘Shortfall Loan’’). The Non-Contributing Member’s
failure to make any such payment when due is a Material Default under Section 8.2(a)
(Material Default). The Non-Contributing Member does hereby grant to the Company a lien
on its Member Interest to secure repayment of the Shortfall Loan and constitutes the Other
Member as its attorney in fact to file a financing statement on form UCC-1 to perfect such
lien. The Non-Contributing Member will deliver to the Company the certificate representing
its Member Interest as security for such lien. Any distributions otherwise due from the
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Typically, procedures will be put in place whereby the participants, either directly or through
their representatives on the joint venture’s board of directors or board of managers, agree upon an
annual budget for the venture.” Cash required from the participants to fund the venture’s operations
under the agreed budget is then frequently provided on the call of the venture’s senior manager,
based on an agreed schedule. An issue related to the cash funding of the joint venture is the
contribution of services, technology, products, or other assets to the joint venture. To the extent that
a participant will be making any such non-cash contributions, a procedure should be established at
the outset of the venture for the valuation of such contributions.

Company to the Non-Contributing Member will be applied as described in Section 4.4
(Payment of Distributions if Shortfall Loans Outstanding).

(d) Refuse to Make Capital Contribution. Refuse to make any Additional Capital
Contributions or Member Loans to the Company without being in default of any provision of
this Agreement.

(e) Exercise of Article 8 Rights. Exercise its rights under Article 8 (Dis-solution and
Other Rights upon Default).

3.4 No Withdrawal of or Payment of Interest on Capital. No Member will have
any right to withdraw or make a demand for withdrawal of all or any portion of its Book
Capital Account. No interest or additional share of profits will be paid or credited to the
Members on their Book Capital Accounts.

» Section 5.8 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement provides for business plans and budgets of the joint

venture as follows:
5.8 Business Plan.

(a) Initial Business Plan. The initial business plan (‘ ‘Business Plan’”) attached
as Exhibit One covers the first five years of the Company’s proposed operations and
identifies the items that (i) the Members deem to be critical to the Company’s success (a
““Critical Target’”) and (ii) if not met, will give one or both Members the rights described in
Section 7.2(a) (Fundamental Failure). The Business Plan will include a budget prepared in
accordance with Section 5.8(b). The Members intend that the Business Plan be reviewed or
modified, as applicable, at least annually. At least 120 days before the beginning of each
Fiscal Year, the CEO will deliver to the Management Committee any proposed
modifications in the Business Plan.

(b) Budget Contents. The budget will include:

(6))] a projected income statement, balance sheet and operational and capital
expenditure budgets for the forthcoming Fiscal Year;

(i1) a projected cash flow statement showing in reasonable detail: (A) the
projected receipts, disbursements and distributions; (B) the amounts of any corresponding
projected cash deficiencies or surpluses; and (C) the amounts and due dates of all projected
calls for Additional Capital Contributions for the forthcoming Fiscal Year; and

(iii) such other items requested by the Management Committee.

() Consideration of Proposed Plans. Each proposal to continue or modify a
Business Plan will be considered for approval by the Management Committee at least 90
days before the beginning of the Fiscal Year to which it pertains. The Management
Committee may revise the proposed Business Plan or direct the CEO to submit revisions to
the Management Committee.

(d Continuation of Existing Business Plan. Until a revised Business Plan is
approved, the Company will be managed consistently with the last Business Plan approved
by the Management Committee, adjusted as necessary to reflect the Company’s contractual
obligations and other changes that result from the passage of time or the occurrence of events
beyond the control of the Company.

-10 -
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D. Allocations and Distributions

Subject to various limitations imposed by tax laws, the participants have great flexibility in
structuring the allocation and distribution of profits, losses and other items.”® For example, where

26 Article 4 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement provides for the allocation of profits and losses and

distributions as follows:
Article 4: Allocation of Profits and Losses; Distributions

4.1 Shares of Profits and Losses. Each Member will share in the Company’s
profits and losses in accordance with its Member Interest. A Member’s share of the taxable
income or loss or other tax items of the Company will be determined in accordance with
Attachment 12 (Tax Provisions).

4.2 Definitions.

(a) Cash Flow from Operations. ‘‘Cash Flow from Operations’’ means all cash
available to the Company from its Ordinary Course of Business activities remaining after
payment of current expenses, liabilities, debts or obligations of the Company (other than
principal or interest on Member Loans).

(b) Other Available Cash. ‘‘Other Available Cash’’ means cash generated by the
Company’s activities outside its Ordinary Course of Business activities.

(c) Tax Amount. The ‘“Tax Amount’’ is the product of (i) the Effective Tax Rate
and (ii) the Company’s Cumulative Net Taxable Income. The Tax Amount will not be in
excess of the product of (A) the Effective Tax Rate and (B) the Company’s taxable income
for the Fiscal Year of the determination. For purposes of the foregoing:

(i) Effective Tax Rate. The ‘‘Effective Tax Rate’’ is the highest U.S. corporate
income tax rate for that year plus the federal tax-effected state and local income tax rate in
effect at the principal office of the Company.

(ii) Cumulative Net Taxable Income. The ‘‘Cumulative Net Taxable Income’’ is
determined at the end of the Company’s Fiscal Year with respect to which the Tax Amount
is to be determined and is the sum of all taxable income for the current and all prior Fiscal
Years reduced by the sum of all taxable losses for the current and all prior Fiscal Years.

4.3 Distributions. Distributions are made in the following priority:

(a) Distribution of Tax Amount. At least ten Business Days before each date when a
U.S. corporate estimated income tax payment is due, the Company will distribute, from Cash
Flow from Operations (or, if necessary, from Other Available Cash), to each Member its
share of the Tax Amount estimated by the Company to have accrued during the estimated tax
period before the distribution date. No later than 65 days after the end of the Company’s
Fiscal Year, the Company will distribute, from Cash Flow from Operations (or, if necessary,
from Other Available Cash), to each Member its share of any previously unpaid Tax Amount
for such Fiscal Year.

(b) Reserves. The Management Committee will establish reserves from Cash Flow
from Operations for:

(i) contingent or unforeseen obligations, debts or liabilities of the Company, as the
Management Committee deems reasonably necessary;

(ii) amounts required by any Contracts of the Company; and
(iii) such other purposes as decided upon by the Management Committee.

(c) Pay Member Loans. Member Loans will be paid from Cash Flow from
Operations (or, if necessary, from Other Available Cash) as follows:

(1) If the terms of Member Loans state the order of priority of payment of principal
and interest, then those priority rules will apply.

(ii) Otherwise, the Company: (A) first will pay interest due on the Member Loans,
on a proportionate basis without preference, in accordance with the total amount of interest
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the joint venture entity in partnership form is expected to have substantial operating losses in its
early years, the partners may allocate a disproportionate share of the losses to participants which
have income against which to offset such losses, while allocating a disproportionate share of any
other benefits or net income in future years to the other participants. The provisions of a venture’s
governing documents are typically structured in such a manner as to maximize all available financial
benefits, whether they be in the form of income, gains, losses, deductions, tax credits or other items.

outstanding on all Member Loans; and (B) then will pay the principal due on the Member
Loans, on a proportionate basis without preference, in accordance with the total amount of
principal outstanding on all Member Loans.

(d) The Balance. Subject to Section 4.4, the Company will distribute the balance, if
any, of Cash Flow from Operations to the Members in accordance with their Member
Interests within 90 days after the end of the Company’s Fiscal Year.

(e) Other Available Cash. Distributions of Other Available Cash are to be made in
such amounts and at such times as determined by the Management Committee, taking into
account the needs of the Company and the distribution policy set forth in Section 4.8. If there
is not enough Cash Flow from Operations to make all the distributions provided for in
Sections 4.3(a) and 4.3(c), Other Available Cash will be used to make the distributions in the
priority specified in such Sections.

4.4 Payment of Distributions if Shortfall Loans Outstanding. If a Shortfall Loan
is outstanding, any distribution made pursuant to Section 4.3 to which the Non-Contributing
Member otherwise would be entitled will be considered a distribution to the Non-
Contributing Member. The distribution, however, will be paid directly to the Other Member
if the other Member has made a Shortfall Loan. Such distribution will be applied first against
interest and then against principal, until all accrued interest and principal of Shortfall Loans
are repaid in full. The distribution then will be applied against expenses, in the same manner
as provided in Section 3.3(c) (Other Borrowings). If there are two or more Shortfall Loans
outstanding to the Non-Contributing Member, any distribution paid pursuant to this Section
will be applied to such Shortfall Loans on a first-in, first-out basis. If the Company has
borrowed money under Section 3.3(c) (Other Borrowings), the Non-Contributing Member’s
distribution will be used to pay principal and interest on such loans.

4.5 No Priority. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, no Member will
have priority over any other Member as to the return of capital, allocation of income or
losses, or any distribution.

4.6 Other Distribution Rules. No Member will have the right to demand and
receive property other than cash in payment for its share of any distribution. Distribution of
non-cash property may be made with the consent of both Members. The preceding sentence
expressly overrides the contrary provisions of DLLCA § 18—605 as to non-cash distributions.

4.7 Liquidating Distribution Provisions. Subject to Section 4.4 (Payment of
Distributions of Shortfall Loans Outstanding), distributions made upon liquidation of any
Member Interest will be made in accordance with the positive Book Capital Account balance
of the Member. These balances will be determined after taking into account all Book Capital
Account adjustments for the Company’s Fiscal Year during which the liquidation occurs.

4.8 Distribution Policy. The Members recognize the need for the Company to fund
its own growth. Accordingly, funds of the Company will be retained for this purpose, and no
distribution under Sections 4.3(d) (Balance) or 4.3(e) (Other Available Cash) will be paid to
the Members, until and so long as the Company’s Cash Flow from Operations net of reserves
established pursuant to Section 4.3(b) (Reserves) exceeds the level required to be self-
sustaining, without the need for further investment by the Members.

4.9 Limitation upon Distributions. No distribution will be made to Members if
prohibited by DLLCA § 18-607 or other Applicable Law.
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E. Governance and Management

The venture’s governing documents (whether in the form of a shareholders agreement,
partnership or LLC agreement or otherwise) usually specify the mechanics of the overall governance
and the day-to-day management of the venture’s affairs.”’ Typically, this will involve a board of

7 Sections 5.1 — 5.5 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement provide for the governance of the LLC as

follows:
5.1 Management Committee.

(a) Managers. The business and affairs of the Company will be managed
exclusively by or under the direction of a committee (the ‘‘Management Committee’”)
consisting of four individuals (each a ‘‘Manager’’). Except for the right to appoint a delegate
in Section 5.1(f) (Delegation) and for the delegation of authority to Officers provided in
Section 5.7 (Other Officers and Employees), no Manager may delegate his rights and powers
to manage and control the business and affairs of the Company. The foregoing expressly
override the contrary provisions of DLLCA § 18-407.

(b) Initial Appointment,; Replacement. Each Member will appoint two Managers,
unless otherwise provided by Section 8.3(c) (Management Changes). The initial
appointments by each Member are as follows:

Large Member Small Member

By written notice to the other Member and Managers, a Member may in its sole discretion
remove and replace with or without cause either or both of its appointed Managers with other
individuals. A Manager may be an officer or employee of a Member or of an Affiliate of a
Member. Each Manager will serve on the Management Committee until his successor is
appointed or until his earlier death, resignation or removal.

(c) Compensation and Expenses of Managers. Each Member will pay the
compensation and expenses of the Managers it appoints.

(d) Right to Rely on Manager Certificate. Any Person dealing with the Company
may rely (without duty of further inquiry) upon a certificate signed by any Manager as to (i)
the identity of any Manager or Member, (ii) the existence or nonexistence of any fact or facts
that constitute a condition precedent to acts by the Management Committee or that are in any
other manner germane to the affairs of the Company, (iii) the Persons who are authorized to
execute and deliver any instrument or document of the Company, or (iv) any act or failure to
act by the Company or any other matter whatsoever involving the Company, any Manager or
any Member.

(e) Signing on Behalf of the Company.

(1) Generally. Except as otherwise provided in Section 5.1(e)(ii) or as required by
law but without limiting Section 5.6(c)(v) (CEO-Authority), the signature of any Manager
(or other individual to whom the Management Committee has delegated appropriate
authority) is sufficient to constitute execution of a document on behalf of the Company. A
copy or extract of this Agreement may be shown to the relevant parties in order to confirm
such authority.

(ii) Deeds, Certain Promissory Notes, etc. The signature of the Chair of the
Management Committee is required (A) to convey title to real property owned by the
Company or (B) to execute (1) promissory notes with respect to indebtedness for borrowed
money in excess of $ and related trust deeds, mortgages and other security
instruments and (2) any other document the subject matter of which exceeds $ or
that binds the Company for a period exceeding one year.
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(f) No Authority of Members to Act on Behalf of the Company. Except as otherwise
specifically provided in this Agreement, no Member will act for, deal on behalf of, or bind
the Company in any way other than through its representatives (acting as such) on the
Management Committee.

5.2 Management Committee Meetings.

(a) Meetings. The Management Committee will hold regular meetings (at least
quarterly) at such time and place as it determines. Any Manager or the Chair may call a
special meeting of the Management Committee by giving the notice specified in Section
5.2(g).

(b) Chair. The chairperson of the Management Committee (‘‘Chair’’) will be one
of the two Managers who are appointed by Large Member. The initial Chair
is . The Chair will preside at all meetings of the Management Committee.

(c) Participation. Managers may participate in a meeting of the Management
Committee by conference video or telephone or similar communications equipment by
means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Such
participation will constitute presence in person at the meeting.

(d) Written Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of
the Management Committee may be taken without a meeting upon the written consent of the
number and identity of Managers otherwise required to approve such matter at a
Management Committee meeting. Each Manager will be given a copy of the written consent
promptly after the last required signature is obtained. A copy of the consent will be filed with
the minutes of Management Committee meetings.

(e) Minutes. The Management Committee will keep written minutes of all of its
meetings. Copies of the minutes will be provided to each Manager.

(f) Delegation. Each Manager has the right to appoint, by written notice to the other
Managers, any individual as his delegate. That delegate may attend meetings of the
Management Committee on his behalf and exercise all of such Manager’s authority for all
purposes until the appointment is revoked.

(g) Notice. Written notice of each special meeting of the Management Committee
will be given to each Manager at least five Business Days before the meeting and will
identify the items of business to be conducted at the meeting. No business other than those
items listed in the notice may be conducted at the special meeting, unless otherwise
expressly agreed by all the Managers. The notice provisions of this Section may be waived in
writing and will be waived by a Manager’s attendance at the meeting, unless the Manager at
the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon his arrival objects to holding the meeting or
transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken
at the meeting.

5.3 Voting of Managers; Quorum.

(a) Generally. Each Manager will have one vote, subject to Section 5.3(b). Except
as otherwise provided in Section 5.4, all actions by the Management Committee will require
the approval of a majority of the Managers present at a meeting at which a quorum exists.

(b) Chair’s Additional Vote. If (i) Large Member is not a Defaulting Member (see
Section 8.2) and (ii) there is a tie vote of the Managers on an action other than those
described in Section 5.4, then the Chair will have an additional vote on such action.

(¢) Quorum. Three Managers will constitute a quorum for the transaction of
business, unless (i) a duly called meeting is adjourned because (A) neither of the Managers
appointed by a Member attends that meeting and (B) neither of the Managers appointed by
that Member attends a meeting duly called as to the same items of business of the adjourned
meeting within thirty days after the adjournment of that first meeting and (ii) notice of both
meetings complied with Section 5.2(g). In such event, two Members will constitute a quorum
for the transaction of business.
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5.4 Actions Requiring Management Committee Approval—Major.

The following actions require the approval of both (1) a majority of the Managers
present at a meeting at which a quorum exists and otherwise in accordance with Section 5.3
and (2) at least one Manager appointed by each Member:

(a) amendment of this Agreement;
(b) admission of additional Members;

(c) approval of any new Business Plan or material modification of an existing
Business Plan (for this purpose, any change by 10% or more during any Fiscal Year of any
line item in the budget that is included in the Business Plan, any change in a Critical Target
and any Additional Capital Contribution will be considered material);

(d) merger or combination of the Company with or into another Person;
(e) sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;

(f) any material change in the Business, in particular, entering into the manufacture
and/or sale of a new line of products or adopting a new line of business or a new business
location;

(g) any material change in accounting or tax policies of the Companys;
(h) conversion of the Company to another form of legal entity;

(1) entering into or amending the terms of any transaction or series of transactions
between the Company and any Member, any Affiliate of a Member, or any Manager or
Affiliate of a Manager; and

(j) amendment of any Related Agreement.

5.5 Actions Requiring Management Committee Approval—Other. The
following actions require the approval of (1) a majority of the Managers present at a meeting
at which a quorum exists and otherwise in accordance with Section 5.3 (Voting of Managers;
Quorum) but (2) not the separate approval of at least one Manager appointed by each
Member:

(a) any change in the Company’s auditors (if the new auditor will be an
independent, nationally recognized accounting firm);

(b) any change by less than 10% during any Fiscal Year of any line item in the
budget that is included in the Business Plan or any other change in the Business Plan that
does not require approval under Section 5.4(c);

(c) any establishment of reserves under Section 4.3(b) (Reserves) and other
applicable provisions of this Agreement;

(d) the incurring of indebtedness for borrowed money in excess of $ ;

(e) the entering into of contracts, or series of related contracts, obligating the
Company in excess of $ ;

(f) the acquisition or disposition of any interest in any other business or the
participation in any increase or reduction of capital of any other business that is within the
budget and consistent with the Business Plan;

(g) the purchase of real estate or other fixed assets or the sale and disposition of real
estate or other fixed assets at a price of or valued at more than $ ;

(h) the lending or advancing of any monies, including the guaranteeing or
indemnifying of any indebtedness, liability or obligation of any Person other than the
granting of trade credit and other than in the Ordinary Course of Business as established in
the then-current budget; and

(1) the creation of, the permitting to exist for more than 15 days of, or the
assumption of any Encumbrance upon Company assets that have an aggregate value in
excess of 10% of the aggregate value of the Company’s total assets; provided, however, that
the renewal of existing Encumbrances is not included in this limitation.
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directors or managers of the joint venture entity on which each of the participants may have
representation more or less proportional to its percentage interest in the joint venture. Sometimes,
provision is made for an independent member of the board, appointed by the agreement of the
participants, in order to protect against board deadlock over operational issues.

Additionally, it is common to provide that certain key decisions may be made only with the
unanimous, or a supermajority, approval of the board or the members. Such key decisions often
include the following matters (often with materiality parameters): (1) capital expenditures in excess
of specified amounts; (2) incurring indebtedness; (3) initiating or settling litigation; (4) entering into
contracts involving more than an agreed sum; or (5) entering into contracts with a joint venture
participant or any of its affiliates.

The venture’s governing documents typically specify the types of officers and other
managers who will conduct the day-to-day operations of the venture. Provision is also typically
made for the removal and replacement, compensation and other benefits, and indemnification of
board members, officers and other managers.

F. Restrictions on Transfer of Joint Venture Interests

Joint ventures are entered into between a limited number of parties (typically two) who
respect each other and believe the others can contribute substance and funding to the venture over an
extended period. As aresult, provision is typically made to restrict the participants’ transfer of their
joint venture interests and for the admission and withdrawal of participants to the joint venture.
Typically, a participant’s ability to transfer its interest is restricted to transfers to wholly-owned
subsidiaries (and perhaps other affiliates) and then only so long as the transfer causes no adverse tax
consequences to the joint venture or any of the other participants. A transfer of an interest to a third
party can make the other parties wish to dissolve the venture or at least have the right to approve
their new partner, and is ordinarily are more restricted. Sometimes such transfers are entirely
prohibited, although such a provision may make it necessary for the participants to have the right
unilaterally to unwind the venture. Alternatively, transfers to third parties may be permitted only
where the other participants have a right of first refusal to buy the interest to be transferred. A right
of first refusal may apply either from the inception of the venture or after a specified number of
years during which no third-party transfers are permitted. To facilitate the right of first refusal
mechanism, it may be helpful to require third-party transfers to be solely for cash consideration and
separate and apart from transfers of other property. The ability to make transfers to third parties also
is frequently limited by the establishment of specific objective criteria which a party must satisfy in
order to qualify as an acceptable transferee. These criteria might include a required minimum net
worth for a transferee, a requirement that the transferee not be a competitor of the non-transferring
venturer, a requirement that the transferee not be owned or controlled by foreign persons
(particularly if the venture has government contracts), or any number of other matters

When preparing transfer restriction provisions, indirect transfers by a change in control of a
participant should be considered. A change in control may be defined to include (i) a transfer of
stock in a venturer by its ultimate parent entity, (i) a change in management in the venturer in which
specified individuals cease to be in control or (iii) a change in control of an ultimate parent entity.
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G. Defaults

Joint venture agreements often specify the events constituting an event of default by a
venture participant and the remedies of the other participants upon a default.”® The participants’

Article 8 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement defines and establishes remedial processes for defaults
by venturers as follows:

Article 8: Dissolution and Other Rights Upon Default

8.1 Applicability. This Article applies only if (a) only one Member is a Defaulting
Member, in which case the Non-Defaulting Member may elect to terminate the Company in
accordance with Section 8.3 (Remedies Upon Default by One Member), or (b) both
Members are Defaulting Members, in which case Section 8.4 (Remedies if Both Members
are Defaulting Members) will apply.

8.2 Definitions—Defaulting Member and Non-Defaulting Member and Default
Event. ‘‘Defaulting Member’’ is a Member with respect to which any Default Event has
occurred. A ‘‘Non-Defaulting Member’’ is a Member with respect to which no Default
Event has occurred. Each of the following is a ‘‘Default Event’’:

(a) Material Default. Any material default by the Member in the performance of
any covenant in this Agreement or in the performance of any material provision of any
Related Agreement, which default continues for a period of 30 days after written notice
thereof has been given by the Non-Defaulting Member to the Defaulting Member. A
“‘material default’” under this Section includes (i) any failure to make when due an
Additional Capital Contribution or to make a required Member Loan in accordance with
Section 3.2 (Additional Capital Contributions and Member Loans), (ii) any failure to make
any payment when due under a Member Loan (See Section 3.2(c)—The Member Loans),
(iii) any failure to make any payment when due under a Shortfall Loan (See Section 3.3(b)—
Loan by Other Member) and (iv) a Critical Target Failure that is the result of a breach by a
Member.

(b) Material Breach. A breach of any representation or warranty contained in
Sections s and of Attachments 2.4-A or -B, any breach of which will be
deemed to be a material breach for purposes of this Agreement.

(c) Termination of Existence by a Member. A Member commences any proceeding
to wind up, dissolve or otherwise terminate its legal existence.

(d) Termination of Existence by another Person. Any Proceeding commenced
against a Member that seeks or requires the winding up, dissolution or other termination of
its legal existence; except if the Member defends or contests that Proceeding in good faith
within 15 days of its commencement and obtains a stay of that Proceeding within 90 days of
its commencement, a Default Event will not exist so long as the stay continues and the
Member pursues the defense or contest diligently thereafter or the Proceeding is dismissed.

(e) Dissociation. The Member dissociates from the Company in violation of the
prohibition against withdrawal in Section 2.3 (Term).

(f) Prohibited Transfer. The Member agrees to any transaction that would, if
consummated, breach or result in a default under Section 6.1 (Restrictions on Transfer of
Member Interests).

(g) Change of Control. There is a Change of Control of the Member or Person
directly or indirectly controlling the Member, including a transfer pursuant to Section 6.2
(Assignment to Controlled Persons) (each a ‘‘Target’”). A ‘‘Change of Control’’ occurs
when any of the following occurs:

(i) Change in Ownership. Any Person or group of Persons acting in concert acquires
or agrees to acquire, directly or indirectly, either (A) that percent of the ownership interests
of the Target that will provide the acquirer with a sufficient number of the Target’s
ownership interests having general voting rights to elect a majority of the directors or
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corresponding governing body or (B) in the case of a Target that has a class of securities
registered under section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or that is
subject to the periodic reporting requirements of that act by virtue of section 15(d) of that act,
more than 30% of the Target’s ownership interests having general voting rights for the
election of directors or corresponding governing body.

(i) Board Approval of Acquisition. The Target’s board of directors or
corresponding governing body recommends approval of a tender offer for 50% or more of
the outstanding ownership interest of the Target.

(h) Insolvency Proceeding. If any of the following occurs: (i) the Member seeks
relief in any Proceeding relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, liquidation,
receivership, dissolution, winding-up or relief of debtors (an ‘‘Insolvency Proceeding’”); (ii)
the institution against the Member of an involuntary Insolvency Proceeding; provided,
however, that if the Member defends or contests that Insolvency Proceeding in good faith
within 15 days of its commencement and obtains a stay of that Proceeding within 90 days of
its commencement, a Default Event will not exist so long as the stay continues and the
Member pursues the defense or contest diligently thereafter or the Proceeding is dismissed;
(iii) the Member admits the material allegations of a petition against the Member in any
Insolvency Proceeding; or (iv) an order for relief (or similar order under non-U.S. law) is
issued in any Insolvency Proceeding.

(i) Appointment of a Receiver or Levy. Either (i) a Proceeding has been commenced
to appoint a receiver, receiver-manager, trustee, custodian or the like for all or a substantial
part of the business or assets of the Member or (ii) any writ, judgment, warrant of
attachment, warrant of execution, distress warrant, charging order or other similar process
(each, a “‘Levy’’) of any court is made or attaches to the Member’s Member Interest or a
substantial part of the Member’s properties; provided, however, that if the Member defends
or contests that Proceeding or Levy in good faith within 15 days of its commencement and
obtains a stay of that Proceeding or Levy within 90 days of its commencement, a Default
Event will not exist so long as the stay continues and it pursues the defense or contest
diligently thereafter or the Proceeding is dismissed.

(j) Assignment for Benefit of Creditors. The Member makes a general assignment
for the benefit of creditors, composition, marshalling of assets for creditors or other, similar
arrangement in respect of the Member’s creditors generally or any substantial portion of
those creditors.

8.3 Remedies—Upon Default by One Member.

(a) By Non-Defaulting Member. A Non-Defaulting Member may, within 90 days of
becoming aware of the occurrence of a Default Event, give notice of the Default Event (a
““‘Default Notice’’) to the Defaulting Member. The Default Notice must specify one of the
following remedies (which, together with Section 8.3(c) and subject to Section 8.3(b), are
exclusive remedies):

(i) Dissolution. Dissolution of the Company in accordance with Article 9
(Dissolution Procedures).

(ii) Right to Buy. The purchase of the Defaulting Member’s Member Interest for
90% of Fair Market Value and otherwise in accordance with Article 11 (Buy-Sell Upon
Default). The Non-Defaulting Member must propose the Fair Market Value in the Default
Notice, which must be accompanied by a deposit in immediately available funds equal to
25% of the Defaulting Member’s Book Capital Account as reflected in the annual financial
statements of the Company for the Fiscal Year immediately preceding the year in which the
Default Notice is given.

(iii) Right To Sell. The sale of the Non-Defaulting Member’s Member Interest to the
Defaulting Member for 100% of Fair Market Value and otherwise in accordance with Article
11 (Buy-Sell upon Default). The Non-Defaulting Member must propose the Fair Market
Value in the Default Notice.
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(b) Other Remedies.

(1) Generally. The Non-Defaulting Member’s election to dissolve the Company
under Article 9 (Dissolution) will not preclude its exercise of whatever rights it may also
have under Article 14 (Indemnification) or at law. However, the Non-Defaulting Member’s
election to purchase the Defaulting Member’s Member Interest under Section 8.3(a)(ii)
(Right To Buy) or to sell its Member Interest under Section 8.3(a)(iii) (Right To Sell) is the
election of an exclusive remedy.

(ii) Certain Other Rights. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no election under Section
8.3(a) will preclude either (A) the appointment of additional Managers by Small Member
under Section 8.3(c) if Small Member is the Non-Defaulting Member, (B) the recourse by
either the Defaulting Member or the Non-Defaulting Member to whatever injunctive relief to
which it may otherwise be entitled under this Agreement or any Related Agreement or (C)
the recourse by the Non-Defaulting Member under § 2.11(b) (Actions by Company) to
recover amounts owing to the Company that are not specifically taken into account in the
determination of Fair Market Value.

(iii) Legal Fees and Expenses. The Non-Defaulting Member’s legal fees and
expenses will be deducted from any distribution otherwise to be made to the Defaulting
Member and will be paid to the Non-Defaulting Member or, if the Non-Defaulting Member
elects, will be paid by the Defaulting Member to the Non-Defaulting Member.

(c) Management Changes. In addition to other rights a Member may have under this
Section 8.3:

(1) if Small Member is the Non-Defaulting Member and it elects in its Default
Notice the remedy in Section 8.3(a)(ii) (Right To Buy), it may, by simultaneously giving
notice to the Defaulting Member and each Manager, also (A) appoint that number of
additional Managers that will give Small Member a majority of the members of the
Management Committee, (B) cause a simple majority of the members of the Management
Committee to constitute a quorum, and (C) appoint the Chair of the Management Committee.
Concurrently with that appointment, the appointee of Large Member will cease to be the
Chair. However, in all cases the consent of at least one Manager appointed by each Member
will continue to be required for the matters specified in Section 5.4 (Actions Requiring
Management Committee Approval—Major); or

(ii) if the Non-Defaulting Member (which may be either Small Member or Large
Member) elects in its Default Notice the remedy in Section 8.3(a)(i) (Dissolution), then
concurrently with that notice and thereafter until the dissolution is completed or is terminated
(A) the Non-Defaulting Member or its duly appointed representative will assume all of the
powers and rights of the Management Committee and (B) its actions (1) will have the same
effect as if taken by unanimous vote of the members of the Management Committee before
the assumption and (2) will be deemed to include the consent of one Manager appointed by
each Member to the matters specified in Section 5.4 (Actions Requiring Management
Committee Approval—Major).

The management changes set forth in this Section 8.3(c) shall have effect only for so long as
the Non-Defaulting Member is actively pursuing the remedy it elected under Section 8.3(a).

(d) Effect of Notice. If the Non-Defaulting Member elects in its Default Notice the
remedy in Section 8.3(a)(i) (Dissolution), it will carry out that dissolution in accordance with
Article 9 (Dissolution Procedures). If the Non-Defaulting Member elects in its Default
Notice either to buy under Section 8.3(a)(ii) or to sell under Section 8.3(a)(iii) (and, in the
former case, makes the required deposit), the Members will complete that purchase or sale,
as applicable, in accordance with Article 11 (Buy-Sell Upon Default).

8.4 Remedies if Both Members are Defaulting Members. If both Members are, or
become, Defaulting Members, simultaneously or sequentially, before a sale of a Member
Interest under Section 8.3(a)(ii) or Section 8.3(a)(iii) has been completed, then
notwithstanding any election previously made by a Non-Defaulting Member or steps taken to
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obligations to each other and to the joint venture may extend beyond funding and non-competition to
such things as the provision of goods, services or personnel to the venture. A default in any of these
obligations may be deemed a default under the joint venture agreement.

The participants may desire to structure disincentives to default, such as liquidated damages
or other penalty provisions. Moreover, it may provide the non-defaulting participants with the right
to buy out the interest of a defaulting participant, or to cause the dissolution of the joint venture, in
addition to any damages resulting from the default. A purchase price for a buy-out provision of this
type may be a specified discount from the fair market value of the interest as determined by a pre-
established formula, by agreement of the parties or through a determination by a third party.

Where the joint venture obligations of a participant are guaranteed through a parent or other
affiliate guarantee, certain circumstances or events in respect of the guarantor may also be deemed a
default by the participant under the joint venture agreement. For example, the bankruptcy of a
participant’s guarantor may be deemed a default by the participant under the joint venture
agreement.

H. Dispute Resolution

The joint venture agreement may provide for any number of dispute resolution mechanisms,
including litigation, arbitration or other alternative dispute resolution forms.” Whatever the

further such election, then (a) the Members and the Managers will proceed as expeditiously
as possible to dissolve the Company in accordance with Article 9 (Dissolution Procedures)
(other than Section 9.1(b)) as though such dissolution resulted from an election pursuant to
Section 8.3(a)(i), and (b) both Defaulting Members will thereafter have whatever rights and
remedies available to them under Article 14 (Indemnification) and under Applicable Law.

Article 5.9 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement establishes dispute resolution procedures for
disagreements regarding modifications to the Business Plan or the failure to obtain requisite approvals for
specified actions as follows:

5.9 Dispute Resolution Procedures.

(a) Failure to Approve Actions Requiring Special Approval by Management
Committee. If the Management Committee has disagreed regarding (i) modifications to the
then-current Business Plan and the disagreement has not been resolved at least ten Business
Days before the beginning of the next Fiscal Year or (ii) any other action listed in Section 5.4
(Actions Requiring Management Committee Approval—Major) when properly submitted to
it for a vote (either of which, a ‘‘Business Dispute’’), then the Managers will consult and
negotiate with each other in good faith to find a mutually agreeable solution. If the Managers
do not reach a solution within ten Business Days from the date the disagreement occurred
and the failure to reach a solution, in a Member’s judgment, materially and adversely affects
the Company, then that Member may give notice to the other Member initiating the
procedures under this Section (a ‘‘Dispute Notice’”).

(b) Consideration by Member Executives. Within two Business Days after the
giving of the Dispute Notice, the Business Dispute will be referred by the Managers to the
senior executive of each Member to whom the respective Managers report (each a ‘‘Member
Executive’’) in an attempt to reach resolution. If the Member Executives are unable to
resolve the Business Dispute within ten Business Days after the date of the Dispute Notice,
or such longer period as they may agree in writing, then they will refer the Business Dispute
to the chief executive officer of each Member. The chief executive officers will meet, consult
and negotiate with each other in good faith. If they are unable to agree within twenty
Business Days of the date of the Dispute Notice, then they will adjourn such attempts for a
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mechanism provided, it is frequently provided that before any participant resorts to any such
mechanism the dispute must be referred to specified senior level officers or managers of each
participant for resolution. It also is important to provide for continued operation of the joint venture
entity during the pendency of any dispute.

1. Termination

The joint venture governing documents typically specify the events, if any, which will cause
a termination of the joint venture. Some agreements include a “termination for convenience”
provision, under which any participant can force a termination of the joint venture, perhaps after a
set period of time such as five yealrs.30 The joint venture agreements often include an affirmative

further period of five Business Days during which no meeting will be held. On the first
Business Day following such period, the chief executive officers of the Members will meet
again in an effort to resolve the Business Dispute. If the chief executive officers are unable to
resolve the Business Dispute within 48 hours after the time at which their last meeting

occurred, then Section 7.2(b) (Unresolved Business Dispute) will apply.

30 Article 8 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement defines and establishes remedial processes for defaults

by venturers and is set forth in note 28, supra. Article 7 of the ABA Model Joint Venture Agreement defines
the venturers exit rights, either by dissolution or by purchase of sale of member interests, in the absence of a
default as follows:

Article 7: Dissolution or Buy-Sell—in the Absence of Default

7.1 Applicability. This Article applies only if neither Member is a Defaulting
Member (as defined in Section 8.2 (Definitions—Defaulting Member and Non-Defaulting
Member and Default Event).

7.2 Triggering Events—Absence of Default. Either Member may elect a remedy
set forth in Section 7.3 upon the occurrence of either of the following events:

(a) Fundamental Failure. The Company fails to achieve a Critical Target at the time
specified in the Business Plan (‘‘Critical Target Failure’”) that is not a result of a material
breach by a Member and the Members fail to agree upon and implement a plan to remedy
that failure within 30 days (or such longer period as may be agreed by the Members) after
either Member or any Manager has given notice of the failure to the Members and to each
Manager.

(b) Unresolved Business Dispute. The occurrence of a Business Dispute unresolved
under Section 5.9(b) (Consideration by Member Executives).

7.3 Remedies—Absence of Default. A Member may, within 90 days of becoming
aware of the occurrence of either of the events specified in Section 7.2, give notice of the
event to the other Member. The notice must specify one of the following alternative remedies
(which are exclusive remedies):

(a) Dissolution. Dissolution of the Company in accordance with Article 9
(Dissolution Procedures).

(b) Mandatory Buy-Sell. Initiation of the sale of its Member Interest or the purchase
of the other Member’s Member Interest by giving the notice specified in Section 10.1 (Offer
to Buy or Sell).

If both Members give notices within that time period, the notice given first prevails.

7.4 Voluntary Buy-Sell. At any time after the third anniversary of the date of this
Agreement (but not earlier), if no prior notice under Section 7.3 or Section 8.3 (Remedies—
Upon Default of One Member) has rightfully been given, either Member may give a written
notice to the other offering to purchase the other Member’s Member Interest or sell its
Member Interest to the other Member in accordance with Article 10 (Buy-Sell in Absence of
Default).
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obligation for each participant not to take any actions that would terminate the joint venture in
violation of the other provisions of the joint venture agreement.

Rather than terminating the venture by terminating its business and winding up its affairs,
provision may be included for a non-defaulting participant to purchase the interests of the other
participants. One method of providing for such an alternative is a “Dutch-auction” provision under
which a participant may place a value on the entire joint venture and offer to purchase the interests
of the other participants for their prorata shares of that value. Within a specified period of time, each
other participant must then elect to purchase its share of the offering participant’s interest at the
value established by the offering participant or, failing such an election, must sell its interest to the
offering participant at the price offered.

J. Antitrust

HSR Filing Requirements. Pre-merger notification filings under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (“HSR”) are generally required if:?!

(1) a person or entity (the “acquiring person”)*? is acquiring at least a 50% membership
or membership interest in the venture,

2) the value of the interest acquired is at least $63.4 million®? (the “size-of-transaction”
test), and

3) in most cases, the acquiring person has at least $126.9 million in sales or total assets
and the other party has at least $12.7 million in sales or total assets" (the “size-of-person” test).

If an HSR filing were required, there could be a waiting period of at least 30 days before the
joint venture could be consummated unless “early termination” were granted.3 >

Under current HSR rules, the formation of a “non-corporate entity” - including an LLC - is
reportable if the above tests are satisfied and a party gains “control” of the entity as a result of the
transaction.’® The HSR rules define a “non-corporate interest” as “an interest in any unincorporated
entity which gives the holder the right to any profits of the entity or in the event of dissolution of that
entity the right to any of its assets after payment of its debts.”’ These unincorporated entities

o Clayton Act 7A, 15 U.S.C. § 18a. The thresholds are adjusted each year based on the percentage change in the

U.S. gross national product for the fiscal year. The most recent adjustment for 2010 appeared at 75 Reg. 3468
(Jan. 21, 2010), and was effective on February 22, 2010. For the first time in history, the thresholds were

decreased in 2010.

32 16 C.F.R. § 801.2 (Jan. 11, 2006).

33 75 Reg. 3468  (Jan. 21, 2010), effective  February 22, 2010, available at
http://edocket.access.gpo.gov/2010/pdf/2010-1039.pdf.

34 75 Reg. 3468 (Jan. 21, 2010), effective February 22, 2010, available  at

http://edocket.access.gpo.gov/2010/pdf/2010-1039.pdf.

Stephen M. Axinn, Acquisitions under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act: A Practical Analysis
of the Statute & Regulations 1-14 (New York: Law Journal Press 3d ed. 2008).

36 16 C.F.R. § 801.1(a)(1) (Jan. 11, 2006).
37 16 C.E.R. § 801.1(H)(1)(ii) (Jan. 11, 2006).

35
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include, but are not limited to, general partnerships, limited partnerships, limited liability
partnerships, limited liability companies, cooperatives and business trusts. The HSR rules also
provide that “control” is held by a person or entity with rights to 50% or more of the profits of the
entity, or 50% or more of the assets upon the entity’s dissolution.™

HSR Filing Fee Thresholds. The HSR filing fee thresholds, as of March 18, 2010, are as
39

follows:
Filing Fee Value of Transaction ($ millions)
$45,000 More than $63.4 but less than $126.9
$125,000 $126.9 to less than $634.4
$280,000 $634.4 or more

General Antitrust Considerations. Whether or not pre-merger notification is required, the
prospective joint venturers need to analyze whether the joint venture will be considered unlawful
under antitrust law. While there is no clear test, a number of legal standards in the relevant case law
as well as agency opinions, consent orders, guidelines and speeches are summarized in the Federal
Trade Commission (“FTC”) and U.S. Department of Justice (“D0OJ”’) Antitrust Guidelines for
Collaborations Among Competitors, available at
http://www.ftc.gov/0s/2000/04/ftcdojguidelines.pdf. In addition, if the joint venture is sufficiently
similar to a horizontal merger, then the DOIJ/FTC Horizontal Merger Guidelines,
http://www.ftc.gov/bc/docs/horizmer.shtm (the “Guidelines’’) may apply. The FTC and the DOJ
will be holding a series of public workshops in 2010 to obtain public input into possibly updating the
Guidelines.

K. Intellectual Property

Under federal law, intellectual property rights are not assignable, even indirectly as part of a
business combination transaction among affiliated parties, unless the owner has agreed otherwise.
This presumption of non-assignability is based on the concept that allowing free assignability would
undermine the reward for invention. Where patent or copyright licenses constitute material assets to
be contributed to a joint venture, the due diligence review should take into consideration not only the
language of the license agreements, but also the federal law presumption against assignability of
patent or copyright licenses.

In Cincom Systems, Inc. v. Novelis Corp.,*”° the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit
held that an internal forward merger between sibling entities constitutes an impermissible software
license transfer, notwithstanding a state corporation statute that provides that a merger vests title to

38 16 C.E.R. § 801.1(b) (Jan. 11, 2006).
39 http://www.ftc.egov/bc/hsr/filing2.shtm.
40 581 F.3d 431 (6™ Cir. 2009).
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assets in the surviving corporation without any transfer having occurred.*’ The reasoning in the
Cincom case follows that of PPG Industries, Inc. v. Guardian Industries Corp. ,42 which held that,
although state law provided for the automatic transfer and vesting of licenses in the successor
corporation in a merger without any transfer having occurred, an intellectual property license, based
on applicable federal law, is presumed to be non-assignable and nontransferable in the absence of
express provisions to the contrary in the license. PPG held the state merger statute was preempted
and trumped by this federal law presumption of non-transferability.

L. Confidentiality Agreement

A confidentiality agreement is the first stage for the due diligence process as parties generally
are reluctant to provide confidential information to the other side without having the protection of a
confidentiality agreement. The target typically proposes its form of confidentiality agreement, and a
negotiation of confidentiality agreement ensues. A seller’s form of confidentiality agreement is
attached as Appendix c.®

M. Letter of Intent

In some transactions, the parties do not sign a binding agreement until the closing. If a letter
of intent has been executed that includes a no-shop provision and gives the buyer adequate
opportunity to conduct due diligence, the buyer may resist becoming contractually bound until it is
ready to close.** Conversely, the seller has an interest in not permitting extensive due diligence until

41 . . . . . e
The Cincom case involved Cincom’s non-exclusive license of software to Alcan Rolled Products Division

(““Alcan Ohio”), a corporation wholly owned by Alcan, Inc. The license agreement required Alcan Ohio, as
licensee, to obtain Cincom’s written approval prior to any transfer of its rights or obligations under the
agreement. As part of an internal corporate restructuring, Alcan Ohio eventually merged into Novelis Corp.,
another subsidiary of Alcan, Inc. This forward merger caused the software to be owned by a different entity,
but it remained on the same computer specified by the license agreement and its use of the software by the
surviving entity was unchanged. Cincom was not asked to, and did not, consent to the merger.

In addition to showing that the operation of the software was unaffected, Novelis Corp. claimed the intent of the
license agreement demonstrated no concern with preventing internal corporate reorganizations. Further,
Novelis Corp. argued that Ohio substantive corporate law required the court to find no transfer occurred as a
result of the internal merger.

After considering these arguments, the Sixth Circuit found that the merger was a transfer in breach of the
express terms of Cincom’s license and held that software licenses did not vest with the surviving entity formed
as part of a corporate restructuring. The court reached this conclusion notwithstanding Ohio’s merger law that
automatically vests assets with the surviving entity. Relying instead on federal common law, the court aligned
itself with the presumption that, in the context of intellectual property, a license is non-transferable unless there
is an express provision to the contrary.

2 597 F.2d 1090 (6th Cir. 1979).
43 See Article 12 of the Model Asset Purchase Agreement, infra, and Appendix C, infra.
4 See Global Asset Capital, LLC vs. Rubicon US REIT, Inc., C.A. No. 5071-VCL (Del. Ch. Nov. 16, 2009), in

which in the context of explaining why he granted a temporary restraining order enjoining the target and its
affiliates from disclosing any of the contents of a letter of intent or soliciting or entertaining any third-party
offers for the duration of the letter of intent, Delaware Vice Chancellor Laster wrote:

[I]f parties want to enter into nonbinding letters of intent, that’s fine. They can readily do that

by expressly saying that the letter of intent is nonbinding, that by providing that, it will be

subject in all respects to future documentation, issues that, at least at this stage, I don’t

believe are here. I think this letter of intent is binding . . . [A] no-shop provision, exclusivity
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the buyer is contractually bound. This is especially so in circumstances in which the buyer is a
competitor or in which the seller is concerned that the due diligence process will necessitate or risk
disclosure to employees, customers or competitors that the business is for sale.

III. TRANSFERRING ASSETS TO A JOINT VENTURE
A. Overview

Transferring assets to a joint venture, including a division or a subsidiary, revolves around a
purchase agreement between the buyer (the joint venture) and the selling entity (one of the joint
venture parties) and sometimes its owners. Purchases of assets are characterized by the acquisition
by the buyer of specified assets from an entity, which may or may not represent all or substantially
all of its assets, and the assumption by the buyer of specified liabilities of the seller, which typically
do not represent all of the liabilities of the seller. When the parties choose to structure an acquisition
as an asset purchase, there are unique drafting and negotiating issues regarding the specification of
which assets and liabilities are transferred to the buyer, as well as the representations, closing
conditions, indemnification and other provisions essential to memorializing the bargain reached by
the parties. There are also statutory (e.g., bulk sales and fraudulent transfer statutes) and common
law issues (e.g., de facto merger and other successor liability theories) unique to asset purchase
transactions that could result in an asset purchaser being held liable for liabilities of the seller which
it did not agree to assume.®’

A number of things can happen during the period between the signing of a purchase
agreement and the closing of the transaction that can cause a buyer to have second thoughts about
the transaction. For example, the buyer might discover material misstatements or omissions in the

provision, in a letter of intent is something that is important. . . . [A]n exclusivity provision
or a no-shop provision is a unique right that needs to be protected and is not something that
is readily remedied after the fact by money damages. . . . [Clontracts, in my view, do not
have inherent fiduciary outs. People bargain for fiduciary outs because, as our Supreme
Court taught in Van Gorkom, if you do not get a fiduciary out, you put yourself in a position
where you are potentially exposed to contract damages and contract remedies at the same
time you may potentially be exposed to other claims. Therefore, it is prudent to put in a
fiduciary out, because otherwise, you put yourself in an untenable position. That doesn’t
mean that contracts are options where boards are concerned. Quite the contrary. And the fact
that equity will enjoin certain contractual provisions that have been entered into in breach of
fiduciary duty does not give someone carte blanche to walk as a fiduciary. . . . I don’t regard
fiduciary outs as inherent in every agreement.”).

But see Paramount Commc’ns Inc. v. QVC Network Inc., 637 A.2d 34, 51 (Del. 1994) (noting that a board
cannot “contract away” its fiduciary duties); ACE Ltd. v. Capital Re Corp., 747 A. 2d 95, 107-08 (Del. Ch.
1999).

These drafting and legal issues are dealt with from a United States (“U.S.”’) law perspective in the Model Asset
Purchase Agreement with Commentary, which was published by the Negotiated Acquisitions Committee of the
American Bar Association (“ABA”) in 2001 (the “Model Asset Purchase Agreement” or the “Model
Agreement”). Inrecognition of how mergers and acquisitions (“M&A ”’) have become increasingly global, the
Model Agreement was accompanied by a separate ABA Negotiated Acquisitions Committee volume in 2001
entitled International Asset Acquisitions, which included summaries of the laws of 33 other countries relevant
to asset acquisitions, and in 2007 was followed by another ABA Negotiated Acquisitions Committee book,
which was entitled International Mergers and Acquisitions Due Diligence and which surveyed relevant laws
from 39 countries.

45
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seller’s representations and warranties, or events might occur, such as the filing of litigation or an
assessment of taxes, that could result in a material liability or, at the very least, additional costs that
had not been anticipated. There may also be developments that could seriously affect the future
prospects of the business to be purchased, such as a significant downturn in its revenues or earnings
or the adoption of governmental regulations that could adversely impact the entire industry in which
the target operates.

The buyer initially will need to assess the potential impact of any such misstatement,
omission or event. If a potential problem can be quantified, the analysis will be somewhat easier.
However, the impact in many situations will not be susceptible to quantification, making it difficult
to determine materiality and to assess the extent of the buyer’s exposure. Whatever the source of the
matter, the buyer may want to terminate the acquisition agreement or, alternatively, to close the
transaction and seek recovery from the seller. If the buyer wants to terminate the agreement, how
strong is its legal position and how great is the risk that the seller will dispute termination and
commence a proceeding to seek damages or compel the buyer to proceed with the acquisition? If the
buyer wants to close, could it be held responsible for the problem and, if so, what is the likelihood of
recovering any resulting damage or loss against the seller? Will closing the transaction with
knowledge of the misstatement, omission or event have any bearing on the likelihood of recovering?

The dilemma facing a buyer under these circumstances seems to be occurring more often in
recent years. This is highlighted by the Delaware Chancery Court decisions in IBP, Inc. v. Tyson
Foods, Inc.,46 in which the Court ruled that the buyer did not have a valid basis to terminate the
merger agreement and ordered that the merger be consummated, and Frontier Oil Corp. v. Holly
Corp.,”” in which the Court ruled a target had not repudiated a merger agreement by seeking to
restructure the transaction due to legal proceedings commenced against the buyer after the merger
agreement was signed. While these cases are each somewhat unique and involved mergers of
publicly-held corporations, the same considerations will generally apply to acquisitions of closely-
held businesses.”® In the event that a buyer wrongfully terminates the purchase agreement or refuses
to close, the buyer could be liable for damages under common law for breach of contract.”’ There is
little case law dealing with these issues in the context of an asset transfer to a joint venture because,
more often than not, the parties will attempt to reach a settlement rather than resorting to legal
proceedings.

The issues to be dealt with by the parties to an asset transfer to a joint venture will depend
somewhat on the structure of the transaction and the wording of the acquisition agreement.
Regardless of the wording of the agreement, however, there are some situations in which a buyer can

46 789 A.2d 14 (Del. Ch. 2001).
4 CA No. 20502 2005, WL 1039027, (Del. Ch. Apr. 29, 2005).
48 Nixon v. Blackwell, 626 A.2d 1366, 1380-81 (Del. 1993) (en banc) (refusing to create special fiduciary duty

rules applicable in closely held corporations); see Merner v. Merner, 2005 WL 658957 (9" Cir. March 18,
2005) (California would follow approach of Delaware in declining to make special fiduciary duty rules for
closely held corporations); but see Donahue v. Rodd Electrotype Co., 367 Mass. 578,328 N.E.2d 505, 515 & n.
17 (Mass. 1975) (comparing a close corporation to a partnership and holding that “stockholders in the close
corporation owe one another substantially the same fiduciary duty in the operation of the enterprise that
partners owe to one another”).

¥ See Rus, Inc. v. Bay Industries, Inc. and SAC, Inc.,2004 WL 1240578 (S.D.N.Y. May 25, 2004), discussed in
the Comment to Section 11.4 of the Model Agreement infra.
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become responsible for a seller’s liabilities under successor liability doctrines. The analysis of these
issues is somewhat more complicated in the acquisition of assets, whether it be the acquisition of a
division or the purchase of all the assets of a seller.

B. Alternative Structures for Transfers of Businesses to Joint Venture

The actual form of the sale of a business can involve many variations. Nonetheless, there are
many common threads involved for the draftsman. The principal segments of a typical agreement
for the sale of a business include:

(1) Introductory material (i.e., opening paragraph and recitals);
2) The price and mechanics of the business combination;

3) Representations and warranties of the buyer and seller;

4 Covenants of the buyer and seller;

5 Conditions to closing;

(6) Indemnification;

@) Termination procedures and remedies; and

(8) Miscellaneous (boilerplate) clauses.

There are many basic legal and business considerations for the draftsman involved in the
preparation of agreements for the sale of a business. These include federal income taxes; state sales,
use and transfer taxes; federal and state environmental laws; federal and state securities laws; the
accounting treatment; state takeover laws; problems involving minority shareholders; the purchaser’s
liability for the seller’s debts and contingent liabilities; insolvency and creditors’ rights laws;
problems in transferring assets (mechanical and otherwise); state corporation laws; stock exchange
rules; pension, profit-sharing and other employee benefit plans; antitrust laws; foreign laws;
employment, consulting and non-compete agreements; union contacts and other labor
considerations; the purchaser’s security for breach of representations and warranties; insurance; and
a myriad of other considerations.”

There are three basic forms of business acquisitions:

1) Statutory business combinations (e.g., mergers, consolidations and share
exchanges);

(i) Purchases of shares; and

(iii)  Purchases of assets.

%0 See Byron F. Egan, The Roles of an M&A Lawyer, INSIDE THE MINDS: STRUCTURING M&A TRANSACTIONS

(2007); George W. Dent, Jr., Business Lawyers as Enterprise Architects, 64 Bus. Law. 279 (Feb. 2009).
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C. Mergers and Consolidations

Mergers and consolidations involve a vote of shareholders, resulting in the merging or
disappearance of one corporate entity into or with another corporate entity. Mergers and
consolidations can be structured to be taxable or non-taxable for federal income tax purposes.
Simply stated, if stock is the consideration for the acquisition of the non-surviving corporation, the
merger can qualify as an “A” reorganization (IRC § 368(a)(1)(A)). Thus, a shareholder of the target
corporation receives stock in the purchasing corporation wholly tax-free. However, a shareholder of
the target company who receives only “boot” (i.e., consideration other than purchaser’s stock or
other purchaser securities under certain circumstances) is normally taxed as if the shareholder had
sold his stock in the target corporation in a taxable transaction. Generally stated, a shareholder who
receives both stock and boot is not taxed on the stock received but is taxed on the boot. The boot is
taxed either as a dividend or as a capital gain, but not in excess of the gain which would have been
realized if the transaction were fully taxable.

D. Purchases of Shares

Purchases of shares of the target company can likewise be handled on a taxable or non-
taxable basis. In a voluntary stock purchase, the acquiring corporation must generally negotiate with
each selling shareholder individually. An exception to this is a mechanism known as the “share
exchange” permitted by certain state business corporation statutes®’ under which the vote of holders
of the requisite percentage (but less than all) of shares can bind all of the shareholders to exchange
their shares pursuant to the plan of exchange approved by such vote.

Generally speaking, if the purchasing corporation acquires the stock of the target corporation
solely in exchange for the purchaser’s voting stock and, after the transaction the purchasing
corporation owns stock in the target corporation possessing at least 80% of the target’s voting power
and at least 80% of each class of the target corporation’s non-voting stock, the transaction can
qualify as a tax-free “B” reorganization.52

Note that one disadvantage of an acquisition of the target corporation’s stock is that the
purchasing corporation does not obtain a “step-up” in the basis of the target corporation’s assets for
tax purposes. If the stock acquisition qualifies as a “qualified stock purchase” under IRC §338
(which generally requires a taxable acquisition by a corporation of at least 80% of the target
corporation’s stock within a 12-month period), an election may be made to treat the stock acquisition
as a taxable asset purchase for tax purposes. However, after the effective repeal of the General
Utilities doctrine, discussed infra, IRC §338 elections are seldom made unless the target is a member
of a group of corporations filing a consolidated federal income tax return (or, since 1994, an S
corporation) and the seller(s) agree to an IRC §338(h)(10) election, which causes the seller to bear
the tax on the deemed asset sale since the present value of the tax savings to the buyer from a
stepped-up basis in target’s assets is less than the corporate-level tax on the deemed asset sale.

E. Asset Purchases
31 See e.g. Texas Business Organizations Code §§ 10.051-10.056 and § 21.454.
32 See IRC §368(a)(1)(B).

-28 -
5754336v.1



Generally speaking, asset purchases feature the advantage of specifying the assets to be
acquired and the liabilities to be assumed. A disadvantage involved in asset purchases in recent
years, however, has been the repeal, pursuant to the Tax Reform Act of 1986, of the so-called
General Utilities doctrine. Prior to then, the Code generally exempted a “C” corporation from
corporate-level taxation (other than recapture) on the sale of its assets to a third party in connection
with a complete liquidation of the corporation and the distribution of the proceeds to its
shareholders. After the effective repeal of the General Utilities doctrine, a “C” corporation generally
recognizes full gain on a sale of assets even in connection with a complete liquidation. Thus, if a
purchasing corporation buys the target’s assets and the target corporation liquidates, the target pays a
corporate-level tax on its full gain from the sale of its assets (not merely the recaptured items). The
shareholders of the target are taxed as if they had sold their stock for the liquidation proceeds (less
the target’s corporate tax liability). Absent available net operating losses, if the sale is a gain, the
General Utilities doctrine repeal thus makes an asset sale less advantageous for the shareholders.

Generally speaking, for a non-taxable acquisition of assets, the purchaser must acquire
“substantially all” of the target’s assets solely in exchange for the voting stock of the purchaser. See
IRC §368(a)(1)(C). Basically, a “C” reorganization is disqualified unless the target distributes the
purchaser’s stock, securities and other properties it receives, as well as its other properties, in
pursuance of the plan of reorganization.

There are a number of other tax requirements applicable to tax-free and taxable
reorganizations, too numerous to cover in this outline.

IV.  WHETHER TO DO AN ASSET PURCHASE

An acquisition might be structured as an asset purchase for a variety of reasons. It may be
the only structure that can be used when a noncorporate seller is involved or where the buyer is only
interested in purchasing a portion of the company’s assets or assuming only certain of its liabilities.
If the stock of a company is widely held or it is likely that one or more of the shareholders will not
consent, a sale of stock (except perhaps by way of a statutory merger or share exchange) may be
impractical. In many cases, however, an acquisition can be structured as a merger, a purchase of
stock or a purchase of assets.

As a general rule, often it will be in the buyer’s best interests to purchase assets but in the
seller’s best interests to sell stock or merge. Because of these competing interests, it is important
that counsel for both parties be involved at the outset in weighing the various legal and business
considerations in an effort to arrive at the optimum, or at least an acceptable, structure. Some of the
considerations are specific to the business in which a company engages, some relate to the particular
corporate or other structure of the buyer and the seller and others are more general in nature.

Set forth below are some of the more typical matters to be addressed in evaluating an asset
purchase as an alternative to a stock purchase or a merger or a share exchange (“statutory
combination”).

A. Purchased Assets

Asset transactions are typically more complicated and more time consuming than stock
purchases and statutory combinations. In contrast to a stock purchase, the buyer in an asset
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transaction will only acquire the assets described in the acquisition agreement. Accordingly, the
assets to be purchased are often described with specificity in the agreement and the transfer
documents. The usual practice, however, is for buyer’s counsel to use a broad description that
includes all of the seller’s assets, while describing the more important categories, and then to
specifically describe the assets to be excluded and retained by the seller. Often excluded are cash,
accounts receivable, litigation claims or claims for tax refunds, personal assets and certain records
pertaining only to the seller’s organization. This puts the burden on the seller to specifically identify
the assets that are to be retained.

A purchase of assets also is cumbersome because transfer of the seller’s assets to the buyer
must be documented and separate filings or recordings may be necessary to effect the transfer. This
often will involve separate real property deeds, lease assignments, patent and trademark assignments,
motor vehicle registrations and other evidences of transfer that cannot simply be covered by a
general bill of sale or assignment. Moreover, these transfers may involve assets in a number of
jurisdictions, all with different forms and other requirements for filing and recording.

B. Contractual Rights

Among the assets to be transferred will be the seller’s rights under contracts pertaining to its
business. Often these contractual rights cannot be assigned without the consent of other parties. The
most common examples are leases that require consent of the lessor and joint ventures or strategic
alliances that require consent of the joint venturer or partner. This can be an opportunity for the third
party to request confidential information regarding the financial or operational capability of the
buyer and to extract concessions in return for granting its consent. This might be avoided by a
purchase of stock or a statutory combination.™ Leases and other agreements often require consent of
other parties to any change in ownership or control, whatever the structure of the acquisition. Many
government contracts cannot be assigned and require a novation with the buyer after the transaction
is consummated. This can pose a significant risk to a buyer.

Asset purchases also present difficult questions about ongoing coverage for risks insured
against by the seller. Most insurance policies are, by their terms, not assignable and a buyer may not

3 See Branmar Theatre Co. v. Branmar, Inc.,264 A.2d 256 (Del. Ch. 1970) (holding that a sale of a company’s
stock is not an “assignment” of a lease of the company where the lease did not expressly provide for forfeiture
in the event the stockholders sold their shares); Baxter Pharmaceutical Products, Inc. v. ESI Lederle Inc., 1999
WL 160148 (Del. Ch. 1999) (nonassignability clause that does not prohibit, directly or by implication, a stock
acquisition or change of ownership is not triggered by a stock purchase); Star Cellular Telephone Co., Inc. v.
Baton Rouge CGSA, Inc., 1993 WL 294847 (Del. Ch.), aff’d, 647 A.2d 382 (Del. Supr. 1994) (where a
partnership agreement did not expressly include transfers by operation of law in its anti-transfer provision, court
declines to attribute to contracting parties an intent to prohibit a merger and notes that drafter could have
drafted clause to apply to all transfers, including by operation of law); Philip M. Haines, The Efficient Merger:
When and Why Courts Interpret Business Transactions to Trigger Anti-Assignment and Anti-Transfer
Provisions, 61 Baylor L. Rev. 683 (2009). However, some courts have held that a merger violates a
nonassignment clause. See, e.g., PPG Indus., Inc. v. Guardian Indus. Corp., 597 F.2d 1090 (6th Cir. 1979). At
least one court held that such a violation occurred in a merger where the survivor was the contracting party.
See SQL Solutions, Inc. v. Oracle Corp., 1991 WL 626458 (N.D. Cal. 1991).
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be able to secure coverage for acts involving the seller or products it manufactures or services it
renders prior to the closing.™

C. Governmental Authorizations

Transfer of licenses, permits or other authorizations granted to a seller by governmental or
quasi-governmental entities may be required. In some cases, an application for a transfer or, if the
authorization is not transferable, for a new authorization, may involve hearings or other
administrative delays in addition to the risk of losing the authorization. Many businesses may have
been “grandfathered” under regulatory schemes, and are thereby exempted from any need to make
costly improvements to their properties; the buyer may lose the “grandfather” benefits and be subject
to additional compliance costs.

D. Assumed Liabilities

An important reason for structuring an acquisition as an asset transaction is the desire on the
part of a buyer to limit its responsibility for liabilities of the seller, particularly unknown or
contingent liabilities.

Unlike a stock purchase or statutory combination, where the acquired corporation retains all
of its liabilities and obligations, known and unknown, the buyer in an asset purchase has an
opportunity to determine which liabilities of the seller it will contractually assume. Accordingly,
one of the most important issues to be resolved is what liabilities incurred by the seller prior to the
closing are to be assumed by the buyer. It is rare in an asset purchase for the buyer not to assume
some of the seller’s liabilities relating to the business, as for example the seller’s obligations under
contracts for the performance of services or the manufacture and delivery of goods after the closing.
Most of the seller’s liabilities will be set forth in the representations and warranties of the seller in
the acquisition agreement and in the seller’s disclosure letter or schedules, reflected in the seller’s
financial statements or otherwise disclosed by the seller in the course of the negotiations and due
diligence. For these known liabilities, the issue as to which will be assumed by the buyer and which
will stay with the seller is reflected in the express terms of the acquisition agreement.

For unknown liabilities or liabilities that are imposed on the buyer as a matter of law, the
solution is not so easy and lawyers spend significant time and effort dealing with the allocation of
responsibility and risk in respect of such liabilities. Many acquisition agreements provide that none
of the liabilities of the seller, other than those specifically identified, are being assumed by the buyer
and then give examples of the types of liabilities not being assumed (e.g. tax, products and
environmental liabilities). There are, however, some recognized exceptions to a buyer’s ability to
avoid the seller’s liabilities by the terms of the acquisition agreement, including the following:

54 See, e.g., Henkel Corp. v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co., 29 Cal. 4th 934 (2003), in which the California
Supreme Court held that, where a successor’s liability for injuries arose by contract rather than by operation of
law, the successor was not entitled to coverage under a predecessor’s insurance policies because the insurance
company had not consented to the assignment of the policies. For an analysis of the Henkel decision and a
discussion of decisions in other jurisdictions, see Lesser, Tracy and McKitterick, M&A Acquirors Beware:
When You Succeed to the Liabilities of a Transferor, Don’t Assume (at Least, in California) that the Existing
Insurance Transfers Too, VIII Deal Points (The Newsletter of the ABA Bus. L. Sec. Committee on Negotiated
Acquisitions) 2 (No. 3, Fall 2003), which can be found at
http://www.abanet.org/buslaw/negacq/newsletter/2003/08 _03.pdf.
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° Bulk sales laws permit creditors of a seller to follow the assets of certain types of
sellers into the hands of a buyer unless specified procedures are followed.

° Under fraudulent conveyance or transfer statutes, the assets acquired by the buyer
can be reached by creditors of the seller under certain circumstances. Actual fraud is
not required and a statute may apply merely where the purchase price is not deemed
fair consideration for the transfer of assets and the seller is, or is rendered, insolvent.

° Liabilities can be assumed by implication, which may be the result of imprecise
drafting or third-party beneficiary arguments that can leave a buyer with
responsibility for liabilities of the seller.

° Some state tax statutes provide that taxing authorities can follow the assets to recover
taxes owed by the seller; often the buyer can secure a waiver from the state or other
accommodation to eliminate this risk.

° Under some environmental statutes and court decisions, the buyer may become
subject to remediation obligations with respect to activities of a prior owner of real
property.

° In some states, courts have held buyers of manufacturing businesses responsible for

tort liabilities for defects in products manufactured by a seller while it controlled the
business. Similarly, some courts hold that certain environmental liabilities pass to
the buyer that acquires substantially all the seller’s assets, carries on the business and
benefits from the continuation.

° The purchaser of a business may have successor liability for the seller’s unfair labor
practices, employment discrimination, pension obligations or other liabilities to
employees.

° In certain jurisdictions, the purchase of an entire business where the shareholders of

the seller become shareholders of the buyer can cause a sale of assets to be treated as
a “de facto merger.” This theory would result in the buyer assuming all of the
seller’s liabilities.

None of these exceptions prevents a buyer from attempting to limit the liabilities to be
assumed. Thus, either by compliance with a statutory scheme (e.g. the bulk sales laws or state tax
lien waiver procedure) or by careful drafting, a conscientious buyer can take comfort in the fact that
most contractual provisions of the acquisition agreement should be respected by the courts and
should protect the buyer against unforeseen liabilities of the seller.

It is important to recognize that in a sale of assets the seller retains primary responsibility for
satisfying all its liabilities, whether or not assumed by the buyer. Unlike a sale of stock or a statutory
combination, where the shareholders may only be liable to the buyer through the indemnification
provisions of the acquisition agreement, a creditor still can proceed directly against the seller after an
asset sale. If the seller is liquidated, its shareholders may remain subject to claims of the seller’s
creditors under statutory or common law principles, although this might be limited to the proceeds
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received on liquidation and expire after a period of time. Under state corporate law statutes, a
seller’s directors may become personally liable to its creditors if the seller distributes the proceeds of
a sale of assets to its shareholders without making adequate provision for its liabilities.

In determining what liabilities and business risks are to be assumed by the buyer, the lawyers
drafting and negotiating the acquisition agreement need to be sensitive to the reasons why the
transaction is being structured as a sale of assets. If the parties view the transaction as the
acquisition by the buyer of the entire business of the seller, as in a stock purchase, and the
transaction is structured as a sale of assets only for tax or other technical reasons, then it may be
appropriate for the buyer to assume most or all liabilities, known and unknown. If instead the
transaction is structured as a sale of assets because the seller has liabilities the buyer does not want to
assume, then the liabilities to be assumed by the buyer will be correspondingly limited.

A buyer may be concerned about successor liability exposure and not feel secure in relying
on the indemnification obligations of the seller and its shareholders to make it whole. Under these
circumstances, it might also require that the seller maintain in effect its insurance coverage or seek
extended coverage for preclosing occurrences which could support these indemnity obligations for
the benefit of the buyer.

E. Income Taxes

In most acquisitions, the income tax consequences to the buyer and to the seller and its
shareholders are among the most important factors in determining the structure of the transaction.
The shareholders will prefer a structure that will generate the highest after-tax proceeds to them,
while the buyer will want to seek ways to minimize taxes after the acquisition. The ability to
reconcile these goals will depend largely on whether the seller is a C or an S corporation or is an
entity taxed as a partnership.

In a taxable asset purchase, the buyer’s tax basis in the purchased assets will be equal to the
purchase price (including assumed liabilities). An important advantage to the buyer of an asset
purchase is the ability to allocate the purchase price among the purchased assets on an asset-by-asset
basis to reflect their fair market value, often increasing the tax basis from that of the seller. This
“step-up” in basis can allow the buyer greater depreciation and amortization deductions in the future
and less gain (or greater loss) on subsequent disposition of those assets. (In the case of an S
corporation, the same result may be achieved by a buyer purchasing stock and making a joint
election with the selling shareholders under IRC § 338(h)(10) to treat the purchase of stock as a
purchase of assets.)

A significant disadvantage of an asset sale to a C corporation and its shareholders results
from the repeal, as of January 1, 1987, of the so-called General Utilities doctrine. This doctrine had
exempted a C corporation from corporate-level taxation (other than recapture) on the sale of its
assets to a third party at a gain followed by a complete liquidation and the distribution of the
proceeds to its shareholders. With the repeal of the General Utilities doctrine, a C corporation will
generally recognize gain on a sale of assets to a third party or on the in-kind distribution of its
appreciated assets in a complete liquidation. Thus, if a buyer purchases assets and the seller
liquidates, the seller will recognize gain or loss on an asset-by-asset basis, which will be treated as
ordinary income or loss or capital gain or loss, depending on the character of each asset. However,
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corporations do not receive the benefit of a lower rate on long term capital gains, and the gains can
be taxed at a rate as high as 35%. Its shareholders then will be taxed as if they had sold their stock
for the proceeds received in liquidation (after reduction by the seller’s corporate tax liability). Gain
or loss to the shareholders is measured by the difference between the fair market value of the cash or
other assets received and the tax basis of the shareholders’ stock.

Absent available net operating losses, the repeal of the General Utilities doctrine can make
an asset transaction significantly less advantageous for the shareholders of a C corporation. A sale
of stock would avoid this “double tax.” However, a buyer purchasing stock of a C corporation will
obtain a stepped up basis only in the stock, which is not an asset it would be able to amortize or
depreciate for tax purposes, and the buyer generally would not want to succeed to the seller’s
presumably low tax basis in the acquired assets.

The tax treatment to the seller and its shareholders in an S corporation’s sale of assets will
depend upon the form of consideration, the relationship of the tax basis in the seller’s assets (the
“inside basis”) to the tax basis of its shareholders in their stock (the “outside basis”), whether there is
“built-in gain” (i.e., fair market value of assets in excess of tax basis at the effective date of the S
corporation election) and whether the seller’s S status will terminate. Generally, the amount and
character of the gain or loss at the corporate level will pass through to the shareholders and be taken
into account on their individual tax returns, thereby avoiding a “double tax.” However, the purchase
price will be allocated among the S corporation’s assets and, depending on the relationship of the
inside basis and the outside basis, the amount of the gain or loss passed through to the shareholders
for tax purposes may be more or less than if the same price had been paid for the stock of the S
corporation. Since the character of the gain as ordinary income or capital gain is determined by the
nature of the S corporation assets, the sale of assets by an S corporation may create ordinary income
for the shareholders as compared to the preferred capital gain generated by a stock sale. An S
corporation that was formerly a C corporation also must recognize “built-in gain” at the corporate
level, generally for tax years beginning after 1986, on assets that it held at the time of its election of
S status, unless ten years have elapsed since the effective date of the election.

The preceding discussion relates to federal income taxes under the Code. Special
consideration must be given to state and local tax consequences of the proposed transaction.

F. Transfer Taxes

Many state and local jurisdictions impose sales, documentary or similar transfer taxes on the
sale of certain categories of assets. For example, a sales tax might apply to the sale of tangible
personal property, other than inventory held for resale, or a documentary tax might be required for
recording a deed for the transfer of real property. In most cases, these taxes can be avoided if the
transaction is structured as a sale of stock or a statutory combination. Responsibility for payment of
these taxes is negotiable, but it should be noted that the seller will remain primarily liable for the tax
and that the buyer may have successor liability for them. It therefore will be in each party’s interest
that these taxes are timely paid.

State or local taxes on real and personal property should also be examined, because there
may be a reassessment of the value for tax purposes on transfer. However, this can also occur in a
change in control resulting from a sale of stock or a merger.
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G. Employment Issues

A sale of assets may yield more employment or labor issues than a stock sale or statutory
combination, because the seller will typically terminate its employees who may then be employed by
the buyer. Both the seller and buyer run the risk that employee dislocations from the transition will
result in litigation or, at the least, ill will of those employees affected. The financial liability and
risks associated with employee benefit plans, including funding, withdrawal, excise taxes and
penalties, may differ depending on the structure of the transaction. Responsibility under the Worker
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (“WARN Act”’) can vary between the parties, depending
upon whether the transaction is structured as an asset purchase, stock purchase or statutory
combination. In a stock purchase or statutory combination, any collective bargaining agreements
generally remain in effect. In an asset purchase, the status of collective bargaining agreements will
depend upon whether the buyer is a “successor,” based on the continuity of the business and work
force or provisions of the seller’s collective bargaining agreement. If it is a successor, the buyer
must recognize and bargain with the union.

V. SUCCESSOR LIABILITY

A. Background

In any acquisition, regardless of form, one of the most important issues to be resolved is what
liabilities incurred by the seller prior to the closing are to be assumed by the buyer. Most of such
liabilities will be known -- set forth in the representations and warranties of the seller in the
acquisition agreement and in the exhibits thereto, reflected in the seller’s financial statements or
otherwise disclosed by seller to buyer in the course of the negotiations and due diligence in the
acquisition. For such known liabilities, the issue as to which will be assumed by the buyer and
which will stay with the seller is resolved in the express terms of the acquisition agreement and is
likely to be reflected in the price. For unknown liabilities, the solution is not so easy and lawyers
representing principals in acquisition transactions spend significant time and effort dealing with the
allocation of responsibility and risk in respect of such unknown liabilities.

While all of the foregoing would pertain to an acquisition transaction in any form, the legal
presumption as to who bears the risk of undisclosed or unforseen liabilities differs markedly
depending upon which of the three conventional acquisition structures has been chosen by the
parties.

° In a stock acquisition transaction, since the acquired corporation simply has new
owners of its stock and has not changed in form, the corporation retains all of its
liabilities and obligations, known or unknown, to the same extent as it would have
been responsible for such liabilities prior to the acquisition. In brief, the acquisition
has had no effect whatsoever on the liabilities of the acquired corporation.

. In a merger transaction, where the acquired corporation is merged out of existence,
all of its liabilities are assumed, as a matter of state merger law, by the corporation
which survives the merger. Unlike the stock acquisition transaction, a new entity
will be responsible for the liabilities of the constituent entities. However, the
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practical result is the same as in a stock transaction (i.e. the buyer will have assumed
all of the preclosing liabilities of the acquired corporation as a matter of law).

. By contrast, in an asset purchase, the contract between the parties is expected to
determine which of the assets will be acquired by the buyer and which of the
liabilities will be assumed by the buyer. Thus, the legal presumption is very different
from the stock and merger transactions: the buyer will not assume liabilities of the
selling corporation which the buyer has not expressly agreed to assume by contract.

There are a number of business reasons for structuring an acquisition as an asset transaction
rather than as a merger or purchase of stock. Some are driven by the obvious necessities of the deal;
e.g., if less than all of the assets of the business are being acquired, such as when one acquires a
division of a large corporation. However, there is probably no more important reason for structuring
an acquisition as an asset transaction than the desire on the part of the buyer to limit by express
provisions of a contract the liabilities - particularly unknown or contingent liabilities - which the
buyer does not intend to assume.

As previously discussed in these materials, there have been some recognized exceptions to
the buyer’s ability to avoid seller’s liabilities by the terms of an acquisition agreement between the
seller and the buyer. One of the exceptions is the application of various successor liability doctrines
that may cause a buyer to be responsible for product, environmental and certain other liabilities of
the seller or its predecessors.”

B. Successor Liability Doctrines

During the past three decades, the buyer’s level of comfort that it will not be responsible for
unassumed liabilities has dropped somewhat. During that period, courts have developed some
theories which require buyers to be responsible for seller preclosing liabilities in the face of express
contractual language in the asset purchase agreement to the contrary. In addition, since the early
1980’s federal and state statutes have imposed strict liability for certain environmental problems on
parties not necessarily responsible for causing those problems. These developments, particularly in
the areas of product liability, labor and employment obligations and environmental liability, have
created problems for parties in asset purchase transactions. The remainder of this section will briefly
describe the principal theories of successor liability and will address some of the techniques which
lawyers have used to deal with those problems.

1. De Facto Merger

Initially, the de facto merger theory was based upon the notion that, while a transaction had
been structured as an asset purchase, the result looked very much like a merger. The critical
elements of a de facto merger were that the selling corporation had dissolved right away and that the
shareholders of the seller had received stock in the buyer. These two facts made the result look very
much like a merger. The theory was applied, for example, to hold that dissenters’ rights granted by
state merger statutes could not be avoided by structuring the transaction as an asset sale. While this
may have pushed an envelope or two, the analysis was nonetheless framed within traditional

» See George W. Kuney, A Taxonomy and Evaluation of Successor Liability (2009).
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common law concepts of contract and corporate law. However, the de facto merger doctrine was
judicially expanded in one state in 1974 to eliminate the requirement that the corporation dissolve
and, more importantly, to introduce into the equation the public policy consideration that if successor
liability were not imposed, a products liability plaintiff would be left without a remedy; in balancing
the successor company’s interest against such a poor plaintiff, the plaintiff won.’ 6

The elements of a de facto merger were set forth about 10 years after the that case in
Philadelphia Electric Co. v. Hercules, Inc.:”’

° There is a continuation of the enterprise of the seller corporation, so that there is a
continuity of management, personnel, physical location, assets and general business
operations.

° There is a continuity of shareholders which results when the purchasing corporation

pays for the acquired assets with shares of its own stock, this stock ultimately coming
to be held by the shareholders of the seller corporation so that they become a
constituent part of the purchasing corporation.

. The seller corporation ceases its ordinary business operations, liquidates and
dissolves as soon as legally and practically possible.

° The purchasing corporation assumes those obligations of the seller ordinarily
necessary for the uninterrupted continuation of normal business operation of the
seller corporation.

In 1995 the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania applied the
doctrine of de facto merger to find successor liability for environmental costs in SmithKline
Beecham Corp. v. Rohm and Haas Co.”® The District Court indicated that all four elements of de
facto merger set forth in Hercules did not have to be present (although all four factors were found in
this case). In addition the District Court determined that Pennsylvania law does not require that the
seller’s former shareholders take control over the buyer in order to satisfy the continuity of a
shareholder factor above-mentioned. The Third Circuit reversed the District Court and held that the
de facto merger doctrine would not apply in the circumstances of this case. The facts of SmithKline
Beecham were somewhat unusual. Beecham had bought assets of a company from Rohm and Haas
in 1978. Rohm and Haas had given an indemnification to Beecham for all liabilities prior to the
closing, and Beecham indemnified Rohm and Haas for liabilities following the 1978 transaction.
Rohm and Haas in turn had bought the company in 1964 - also in an asset transaction. The District
Court had held that the 1964 transaction satisfied the de facto merger rule which meant that Rohm
and Haas would be liable for the prior owner’s unknown liabilities and therefore those pre-1964
liabilities would be swept up in the indemnification which Rohm and Haas had given to Beecham 14
years later. On appeal the Third Circuit determined that in the 1978 indemnification provision,

%6 Knapp v. North American Rockwell Corp., 506 F.2d 361 (3rd Cir. 1974).
37 762 F.2d 303 (3rd Cir. 1985).
o8 No. 92 - 5394, 1995 WL 117671 (E.D. Pa March 17, 1995).
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Rohm and Haas did not intend to include in its indemnification liabilities prior to its ownership of
Beecham.” Thus the Third Circuit made the following determinations:

In this case, the parties drafted an indemnification provision that excluded successor
liability. SKB and R & H chose to define ‘Business’ and limit its meaning to New
Whitmoyer. Under these circumstances, we believe it was not appropriate for the
district court to apply the de facto merger doctrine to alter the effect of the
indemnification provision.

But where two sophisticated corporations drafted an indemnification provision that
excluded the liabilities of a predecessor corporation, we will not use the de facto
merger doctrine to circumvent the parties’ objective intent.

The Third Circuit’s reasoning suggests that if two parties intend that successor liability shall
not obtain, the Third Circuit will respect those intentions. If this is so, the opinion seriously
undermines the very basis of the de facto merger doctrine — that a court will use the doctrine to
impose liability on the successor in spite of the express intentions of the parties in an asset purchase
agreement to the contrary.®

More recently, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit in Cargo Partner AG v.
Albatrans Inc. ,61 a case involving a suit over trade debt, ruled that, without determining whether all
four factors discussed above need to be present for there to be a de facto merger, a corporation that
purchases assets will not be liable for a seller’s contract debts under New York law absent continuity
of ownership which “is the essence of a merger.” It cited a New York case,® in which the Court had
stated that not all of the four elements are necessary to find a de facto merger.

Some states have endeavored to legislatively repeal the de facto merger doctrine. See, for
example, Texas Business Corporation Act Article 5.10B, which provides that in relevant part that
“[a] disposition of any, all, or substantially all, of the property and assets of a corporation . . . (1) is
not considered to be a merger or conversion pursuant to this Act or otherwise; and (2) except as
otherwise expressly provided by another statute, does not make the acquiring corporation, foreign
corporation, or other entity responsible or liable for any liability or obligation of the selling
corporation that the acquiring corporation, foreign corporation, or other entity did not expressly
assume.”® In C.M. Asfahl Agency v. Tensor, Inc.,** a Texas Court of Civil Appeals, quoting Tex.
Bus. Corp. Act Ann. art. 5.10(B)(2) and citing two other Texas cases, wrote:

This transaction was an asset transfer, as opposed to a stock transfer, and thus
governed by Texas law authorizing a successor to acquire the assets of a corporation

> SmithKline Beecham Corp. v. Rohm and Haas Corp., 89 F.3d 154 (3rd Cir. 1996).

60 See Tafe, The de facto Merger Doctrine Comes to Massachusetts Wherein The Exception to the Rule Becomes

the Rule, Boston Bar Journal (November/December 1998).
ol 352 F.3d 41, 2003 U.S. App. LEXIS 24692 (2d Cir. 2003).
62 Fitzgerald v. Fahnestock & Co., 286 A.D. 2d 573, 730 N.Y.S.2d 70 (2001).

6 Texas Business Corporation Act Article 5.10B has been carried forward into Texas Business Organizations

Code § 10.254.
o4 135 S.W.3d 768, 780-81 (Tex.App.—Houston [1* Dist.] 2004).
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without incurring any of the grantor corporation’s liabilities unless the successor
expressly assumes those liabilities. [citations omitted] Even if the Agency’s sales
and marketing agreements with the Tensor parties purported to bind their ‘successors
and assigns,’” therefore, the agreements could not contravene the protections that
article 5.10(B)(2) afforded Allied Signal in acquiring the assets of the Tensor parties
unless Allied Signal expressly agreed to be bound by Tensor parties’ agreements
with the Agency.65

2. Continuity of Enterprise

As above noted, the de facto merger doctrine has generally been limited to instances where
there is a substantial identity between stockholders of seller and buyer - a transaction which looks
like a merger in which the selling corporation has gone out of existence and its stockholders have
received stock of the buyer. In 1976 the Michigan Supreme Court took the de facto merger doctrine
a step further and eliminated the continuing stockholder requirement.66

3. Product Line Exception

In 1977 California took a slightly different tack in holding a successor liable in a products
liability case. In Ray v. Alad Corp.,%" the buyer had acquired essentially all of the seller’s assets
including plant, equipment, inventories, trade name, goodwill, etc. and had also employed all of its
factory personnel. The buyer continued to manufacture the same line of products under the seller’s
name and generally continued the seller’s business as before. Successor liability was found by the
California Supreme Court:

A party which acquires a manufacturing business and continues the output of its line
of products under the circumstances here presented assumes strict tort liability for
defects in units of the same product line previously manufactured and distributed by
the entity from which the business was acquired.

The rationale for this doctrine had moved a long way from the corporate statutory merger analysis of
the de facto merger doctrine. The Court determined that the plaintiff had no remedy against the
original manufacturer by reason of the successor’s acquisition of the business and consequent ability
of the successor to assume the original manufacturer’s risk. The Court also determined that the
responsibility of the successor to assume the risk for previously manufactured product was

6 See Byron F. Egan and Curtis W. Huff, Choice of State of Incorporation --Texas versus Delaware: Is it Now

Time to Rethink Traditional Notions, 54 SMU Law Review 249, 287-290 (Winter 2001).

In Turner v. Bituminous Casualty Co., 397 Mich. 406 (1976), the Court was dealing with a transaction in which
the consideration was cash, rather than stock, and the Court concluded that this fact alone should not produce a
different result from that which would obtain under a de facto merger analysis if the consideration had been
stock. Under this “continuity of enterprise” test, successor liability can be imposed upon findings of (1)
continuity of the outward appearance of the enterprise, its management personnel, physical plant, assets and
general business operations; (2) the prompt dissolution of the predecessor following the transfer of assets; and
(3) the assumption of those liabilities and obligations necessary to the uninterrupted continuation of normal
business operations. These are essentially the same ingredients which support the de facto merger doctrine -
but without the necessity of showing continuity of shareholder ownership.

o7 560 P.2d 3 (Cal. 1977).

66
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essentially the price which the buyer had paid for the seller’s goodwill and the buyer’s ability to
enjoy the fruits of that goodwill.®®

4. Choice of Law

Of those states which have considered the issues directly, more have rejected the product line
exception than have embraced it. However, under applicable choice of law principles (especially in
the area of product liability), the law of a state in which an injury occurs may be found applicable
and, thus, the reach of those states which have embraced either the product line exception or the
narrower continuity of interest doctrine may extend beyond their respective borders.”
Compounding the difficulties of predicting both what theory of successor liability might be imposed
and what state’s laws might be applicable to a successor liability claim under applicable choice of
law principles, the choice of law provision in an asset purchase agreement may not govern the choice
of law in a successor liability case.”

5. Environmental Statutes

In 1980 the federal Superfund law was enacted - Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (“CERCLA”). In the years since the enactment of that
statute, environmental issues have become a central - and often dominant - feature of acquisitions.
Moreover, in creating liability of a current owner for the costs of cleaning up contamination caused
by a prior owner, the statute effectively preempted the ability of a buyer to refuse to accept liability
for the sins of the seller or seller’s predecessor. Unlike the theories discussed above which might
impose successor liability on a buyer if certain facts appeal to certain courts, CERCLA determined
that every buyer would be liable for certain environmental liabilities regardless of the provisions of
any acquisition agreement or any common law doctrines or state statutes.

In addition to CERCLA, a number of states have enacted Superfund-type statutes with
similar provisions to CERCLA. Further, as indicated above, the de facto merger and continuity of
enterprise doctrines have been applied in environmental cases in states where courts have adopted
one or more variations of those themes.

6. Federal Common Law/ERISA; Patents

In Brend v. Sames Corporation,”" an asset purchase agreement expressly provided that the
buyer was not assuming any liability under seller’s “top hat” plan, an unfunded deferred
compensation plan for selected executives of seller. Following federal common law rather than state
law, the Court held that the buyer could be liable if (1) it knew of the claim (which was evidenced by

o8 See also Ramirez v. Amsted Industries, Inc., 431 A.2d 811 (N.J. 1981).

6 See generally Ruiz v. Blentech Corporation, 89 F.3d 320 (7™ Cir. 1996); Nelson v. Tiffany Industries, 778 F.2d
533 (9" Cir. 1985).

70 See Berg Chilling Systems, Inc. v. Hull Corp., 435 F.3d 455 (3rd Cir., 2006) (contractual choice of law

provision held inapplicable to successor liability claim, with the majority reasoning that the de facto merger
doctrine looks beyond the form of the contract to its substance and that a claimant not a party to the contract
should not be bound by its choice of law provision).

m 2002 WL 1488877 (N.D.I11. 2002).
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the express non-assumption wording in the asset purchase agreement) and (2) there was substantial
continuity of the business.

Both the buyer and seller were public corporations that continued to exist after the
transaction, which involved the sale of a division of seller. No stock of buyer was issued to seller or
its shareholders in the transaction, and no employee of seller became an officer or director of buyer.
Seller ultimately commenced Chapter 7 bankruptcy proceedings. The former executives of seller
sued on a successor liability theory seeking a judicial declaration that buyer was liable under the “top
hat” contracts.

Although the “top hat” plan was exempt from most of the provisions of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), the former executives sought to enforce their
rights under ERISA since under Illinois common law “[t]he well-settled general rule is that a
corporation that purchases the assets of another corporation is not liable for the debts or liabilities of
the transferor corporation,” subject to certain traditional exceptions. The Court noted that
“[s]uccessor liability under federal common law is broader . . . . [and] allows lawsuits against even a
genuinely distinct purchaser of a business if (1) the successor had notice of the claim before the
acquisition; and (2) there was ‘substantial continuity’ in the operation of the business before and
after the sale.” In so holding, the Court followed decisions applying the federal common law of
successor liability to multiemployer plan contribution actions.”* The opinion was rendered on cross
motions for summary judgment by the former executives and buyer, and in denying both motions the
Court wrote:

The evidence submitted precludes summary judgment against either party,
but is insufficient to enter summary judgment for either party. It is undisputed that
ITW [buyer] acquired “substantial assets” of Sames [seller]. But the evidence
submitted by the parties does not tell us enough about what actually happened after
the Purchase Agreement was executed to permit us to fully analyze whether ITW
continued the operations of the Binks Business [the acquired division] “without
interruption or substantial change.” We know that the Purchase Agreement provided
for ITW’s hiring of former Sames employees, but we do not know how many or what
percentage of former Sames employees became employees of ITW or whether these
employees performed the same jobs, in the same working conditions, for the same
supervisors. There is no evidence regarding the production processes or facilities, or
whether ITW made the same products or sold to the same body of customers.
Additional (absent) relevant evidence would address whether there was a stock
transfer involving a type of stock other than common stock, and the exact makeup of
the companies’ officers and directors before and after the sale.

7. Effect of Bankruptcy Court Orders

In MPI Acquisition, LLC v. Northcutt,73 the Alabama Supreme Court held that federal
bankruptcy law preempts state law successor liability theories, and prevented a plaintiff from

See Upholsterers’ Int’l Union Pension Fund v. Artistic Furniture, 920 F.2d 1323 (7" Cir. 1990); Moriarty v.
Svec, 164 F.3d 323 (7" Cir.1998).

3 14 So0.3d 126 (Ala. 2009).
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bringing a successor liability suit against a purchaser of assets pursuant to a bankruptcy court order
declaring the assets free and clear of liabilities. The opinion references the conflict in both federal
and state courts over the issue of whether federal bankruptcy law preempts state successor liability
law’* and resolved in favor of preemption as follows:

Third parties cannot access “worth” if the bankruptcy court orders that they take the
assets free and clear of any and all claims whatsoever, but nonetheless, unsecured
creditors can “lie in the weeds” and wait until the bankruptcy court approves a sale
before it sues the purchasers.”

The MPI Acquisition decision is a reminder that bankruptcy court orders do not in all cases
preclude successor liability claims under state law, and that the language in the bankruptcy court
order can be critical in insulating the buyer against such claims.”

In Mickowski v. Visi-Track Worldwide, LLC,”" plaintiff obtained a patent infringement
judgment against a corporation which subsequently sought protection under the Bankruptcy Code
and sold substantially all of its remaining assets with Bankruptcy Court approval. The Bankruptcy
Court later revoked its discharge of debtor liabilities without overturning the asset sale. The plaintiff
then sued the asset purchaser, which had not assumed the patent infringement judgment, on the
grounds that the purchaser was the successor to and a mere continuation of the bankrupt corporation,
arguing that each of the officers and key employees became employees of the asset purchaser
performing substantially the same duties and the website of the acquired business indicated it was
the same company at a new location. Plaintiff argued that the federal “substantial continuity” test
applied in age discrimination cases was applicable and was satisfied by continuation of these
personnel. The Sixth Circuit held that the Ohio common law standard for successor liability was
applicable to patent infringement cases and that under the Ohio standard for successor liability “‘the
basis of this [mere continuation] theory is the continuation of the corporate entity, not the business
operation, after the transaction,” such as when one corporation sells its assets to another corporation
with the same people owning both corporations.”

C. Some Suggested Responses

1. Analysis of Transaction

The first step in determining whether a proposed asset purchase will involve any substantial
risk of successor liability is to analyze the facts involved in the particular transaction in light of the
developments of the various theories of successor liability above discussed. It is clear that product
liability and environmental liability pose the most serious threats as virtually all of the significant
developments in the law of successor liability seem to involve either product liabilities or
environmental liabilities.

74 14 So0.3d at 128-29.
7 14 So0.3d at 129.

7 M&A Jurisprudence Subcommittee, ABA Mergers and Acquisitions Committee, Annual Survey of Judicial

Developments Pertaining to Mergers and Acquisitions, 65 Bus. Law. 293, 506-507 (2010).
7 415 F.3d 501, 510 (6th Cir. 2005).
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(a) Product Liability

It may well be that the company whose assets are the subject of the transaction will not have
any product liability problem by reason of the nature of its business. Moreover, even if the company
to be acquired does sell products that create some potential liability issues, in the course of due
diligence the buyer may be able to make some reasonable judgments with respect to the potential for
problems based upon the past history of the selling company. A buyer might also be able to rely on
insurance, on an occurrence basis if previously carried by the seller and on a claims-made basis in
respect of insurance to be carried by the buyer. It may also be possible to acquire a special policy
relating only to products manufactured by the seller prior to the closing and to build in the cost of
that policy to the purchase price.

(b) Environmental

On the environmental front, a similar analysis must be made. There are obviously some
types of businesses which present very high-risk situations for buyers. As above noted there are both
federal and state statutes which will impose liabilities on successors regardless of the form of the
transaction. At the same time, the SmithKline Beecham case confirms that the doctrine of de facto
merger may well cause a successor to be subject to much greater liability than would be imposed
directly by CERCLA or other statutes. Accordingly, the due diligence on the environmental front, in
addition to all of the customary environmental analyses done in any asset purchase, may well require
an analysis of prior transactions and prior owners.

(©) Applicable Laws

In addition to analyzing the particular facts which might give rise to successor liability for
either products or environmental concerns, one should obviously also review the laws which might
be applicable if a successor liability issue were to arise. While choice-of-law problems may deny
100% comfort, it is a fact that the more expansive doctrines of successor liability above mentioned
have been adopted by a relatively small number of states and it may well be that in any particular
transaction one can determine that the risk of such doctrines applying in the aftermath of a particular
acquisition transaction is very low.

2. Structure of Transaction

If a transaction is likely to be subject to one or more of the doctrines of successor liability, it
might be possible to structure the asset purchase in the manner which avoids one or more of the
factors upon which courts rely in finding successor liability. In all likelihood the business
considerations will dictate most of the essential elements of how the transaction will be put
together - and in particular how the business will be run by the buyer in the future. However, since
continuity of the seller’s business into the buyer’s period of ownership is a common theme in all of
the current successor liability doctrines, it may be possible for the buyer to take steps to eliminate
some of the elements upon which a successor liability case could be founded. Thus continuity of
management, personnel, physical location, trade names and the like are matters over which the buyer
has some control after the asset purchase and might be managed in a way to reduce the risk of
successor liability in a close case.
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3. Asset Purchase Agreement Provisions

(a) Liabilities Excluded

If the buyer is to have any hope of avoiding unexpected liabilities in an asset transaction, the
contract between the buyer and the seller must be unambiguous as to what liabilities the buyer is and
is not assuming. In any transaction in which a buyer is acquiring an ongoing business, the buyer is
likely to be assuming certain of the seller’s liabilities, especially obligations incurred by seller in the
ordinary course of seller’s business. Indeed, it is likely to be very important to the buyer in dealing
with the seller’s creditors, vendors, customers, etc. that the asset purchase be viewed in a seamless
process in which the buyer hopes to get the benefit of seller’s goodwill for which the buyer has paid.
Under these circumstances however, it is most important that the contract be very clear as to which
liabilities the buyer is expressly not assuming.78

(b) Indemnification

As a practical matter, probably the most effective protection of a buyer against successor
liability is comprehensive indemnification by the seller, particularly if indemnification is
backstopped by a portion of the purchase price held in escrow.””

4. Selling Corporation - Survival

The dissolution of the selling corporation is a factor which the courts have consistently taken
into account in successor liability cases. While it may be placing form over substance, if the seller’s
dissolution were delayed, one of the elements of the successor liability rationale would at least be in
doubt.

5. Limitation on Assets

In creating a corporate structure for the asset purchase, buyer should keep in mind the
desirability of limiting the assets of the acquired enterprise which might be accessible to a plaintiff in
a future successor liability case. Thus, if in the last analysis the buyer is to be charged with a
liability created by the seller or a predecessor of the seller, it would be helpful to the buyer if assets
available to satisfy that claim were limited in some manner. There may be no way as a practical
matter to achieve this result in a manner consistent with the business objectives of the buyer.
However, if, for example, the particular line of business with serious product liability concerns were
acquired by a separate corporation and thereafter operated consistent with principles which would
prevent veil-piercing, at least the buyer would have succeeded in placing a reasonable cap on the
successor liability exposure.

VI. SELECTED ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT PROVISIONS

To illustrate and amplify the matters discussed above, there are set forth below the following
selected provisions of a hypothetical Asset Purchase Agreement (the page number references are to
pages herein) which are derived from a pre-publication draft of the Model Asset Purchase

7 See Section 2.4 of the Selected Asset Purchase Agreement Provisions infra.

7 See Section 11 of the Selected Asset Purchase Agreement Provisions infra.

-44 -
5754336v.1



Agreement. The selected provisions below represent only certain parts of an Asset Purchase
Agreement which are relevant to issues discussed herein and do not represent a complete Asset
Purchase Agreement, the principal provisions thereof or even all of the provisions which distinguish
an asset purchase from another form of business combination.

1. DEFINITIONS AND USAGE ...t 49
1.1 IDEFINITIONS .....oooviiiiiiteeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeasaeereereereerererrerererrrarerrrrrrrsrarrrerarer——————. 49
1.2 USAGE ...ttt e e e e et e e e et e e e e e taa e e e e e tr e e e e eetaeeeeenaraaaean 62

2. SALE AND TRANSFER OF ASSETS; CLOSING..........cooooiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen 63
2.1 ASSETS TOBE SOLD ........uutiiiiiiiiieeeeitteeeeeeeeeeeeteeeeeeteeeeeetaaeeeeeeiaaeeeeeearaeeeeesseeeeenaraeeeas 63
2.2 EXCLUDED ASSETS .....cootiiititeeieee et e eeeeiteeeee e e e e eeesttaaeeeeseesesessaatreeesssesseesssrsreeeeeseessnsnnes 67
2.3 CONSIDERATION .......cuuviiiiiiitiieeeeiteeeeeeitteeeeeeiteeeeeeeseeeeeeisseeeeeesaeeeeentsseeeeeissseeeensreeeeanns 69
2.4 LIABILITIES .....oovvviiiiiiieiiiiitieeeee e e e eeettee et e e e e e e eesataaeeeeseesesesaatseeeeeseeseesnssrsreeeseseessnnnes 70
2.5 ALLOCATION .....oooitiiiiiiiiiee et eeeette e e eeeae e e e eetaeeeeeeaaeeeeetaaeeeeeetseeseeetsaeeeeesseeeeenaseeeeas 75
2.6 (03 5701 1, O ERRORRR 76
2.7 CLOSING OBLIGATIONS .....ouvviiiiiiiieeeeiitteeeeeeiteeeeeeeiaeeeeeeitreeeeeetsaeeeeesseeeeeeissseeeeesseeeaanns 77
2.8 ADJUSTMENT AMOUNT AND PAYMENT .......ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiee et e e e e eeanns 82
2.9 ADJUSTMENT PROCEDURE ...........ccocvviiiiiitiiieeeeiieee e e eettteeeeeeteeeeeeeaaeeeeetaeeeeeearaeaean 84
200 CONSENTS ....ooiiiiiiiitieeeee e e eeeeee e e e et e e e eeeeeeeeeesaaaareeeseeeeeasaasrrreeeeeseeennatrrrreeseeeeas 89

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER AND

SHAREHOLDERS ...ttt e e e e et e e e e e e e e e eaaeeeeenaaaeeeeanns 91
3.1 ORGANIZATION AND GOOD STANDING........c.uvvtieiiiieieeeiitreeeeeeiteeeeeeiiaeeeeeeireeeeeeisreeeeenns 95
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Asset Purchase Agreement

This Asset Purchase Agreement (‘‘Agreement”) is made as of ,20___by
and among ,a corporation (“Buyer”); ,a
corporation (‘“‘Seller”); , aresident of (*“A”); and , aresident
of (“B”) (with A and B referred to herein as ‘“‘Shareholders”).

COMMENT

The two principal shareholders are included as parties to the Model Agreement because they
indemnify the Buyer and are responsible for certain of the covenants. Sometimes some or all
of the shareholders are made parties to a separate joinder agreement rather than making them
parties to the acquisition agreement.

RECITALS

Shareholders own __shares of the common stock, par value $____ per share, of Seller,
which constitute ___ % of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Seller. Seller desires
to sell, and Buyer desires to purchase, the Assets of Seller for the consideration and on the terms set
forth in this Agreement.

COMMENT

While there is no legal requirement that an acquisition agreement contain recitals, they can
help the reader understand the basic context and structure of the acquisition. Recitals are
typically declarative statements of fact, but these statements normally do not serve as
separate representations or warranties of the parties. The parties and their counsel should,
however, be aware of the possible legal effect of recitals. See, e.g., Cal. Evid. Code § 622
(“The facts recited in a written instrument are conclusively presumed to be true as between
the parties thereto . . . .”).
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Agreement

The parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

1.  DEFINITIONS AND USAGE
COMMENT

It is useful, both to reduce the length of other sections and to facilitate changes
during negotiations, to have a section of the acquisition agreement that lists all defined terms
appearing in more than one section of the agreement. A common dilemma in drafting
definitions is whether to include long lists of terms with similar but slightly different
meanings. If the goal is to draft a comprehensive, all-inclusive definition, the tendency is to
list every term that comes to mind. If too many terms are listed, however, the absence of a
particular term may be accorded more significance than intended, even if a phrase such as
“without limitation” or a catch-all term beginning with “any other” is used. (The Model
Agreement avoids repetitive use of such a phrase and contains a general disclaimer in
Section 1.2(a)(vii) instead.) Also, long lists of terms with similar meanings perpetuate a
cumbersome and arcane style of drafting that many lawyers and clients find annoying at best
and confusing at worst. The Model Agreement resolves this dilemma in favor of short lists
of terms that are intended to have their broadest possible meaning.

There are alternative methods of handling the definitions in typical acquisition
agreements. They may be placed at the end of the document as opposed to the beginning,
they may be placed in a separate ancillary document referred to in the agreement or they may
be incorporated in the earliest section of the agreement where they appear followed by initial
capitalization of those defined terms in the subsequent sections of the agreement. There are
proponents for each of these alternatives and probably no one of them is preferable, although
the drafters of the Model Agreement felt that reference would be easier if most of the
principal definitions were in one place. However, it was also recognized that where
relatively brief definitions are set out in one section of the Agreement and are not used
outside of that section, those definitions generally would not also be listed in the Definitions
in Section 1.1. Every definition, however, is listed in the Index of Definitions following the
Table of Contents. The Model Agreement does not attempt to incorporate definitions from
the various agreements and documents that are exhibits or ancillary to the Agreement.

1.1 DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms and variations thereof have the
meanings specified or referred to in this Section 1.1:

“Accounts Receivable” -- (1) all trade accounts receivable and other rights to payment from
customers of Seller and the full benefit of all security for such accounts or rights to payment,
including all trade accounts receivable representing amounts receivable in respect of goods shipped
or products sold or services rendered to customers of Seller, and (ii) all other accounts or notes
receivable of Seller and the full benefit of all security for such accounts or notes, and (iii) any claim,
remedy or other right related to any of the foregoing.

“Adjustment Amount” -- as defined in Section 2.8.
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“Assets” -- as defined in Section 2.1.

“Assignment and Assumption Agreement” -- as defined in Section 2.7(a)(ii).
“Assumed Liabilities” -- as defined in Section 2.4(a).

“Balance Sheet” -- as defined in Section 3.4.

“Best Efforts” -- the efforts that a prudent Person desirous of achieving a result would use in
similar circumstances to achieve that result as expeditiously as possible, provided, however, that a
Person required to use his Best Efforts under this Agreement will not be thereby required to take
actions that would result in a materially adverse change in the benefits to such Person of this
Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, or to dispose of or make any change to its business,
expend any material funds or incur any other material burden.

COMMENT

Case law provides little guidance for interpreting a commitment to use “best efforts.”
See generally Farnsworth, On Trying to Keep One’s Promises: The Duty of Best
Efforts in Contract Law, 46 U. Pitt. L. Rev. 1 (1984). Some courts have held that “best
efforts” is equivalent to “good faith” or a type of “good faith.” See, e.g., Gestetner Corp.
v. Case Equip. Co., 815 F.2d 806, 811 (1st Cir. 1987); Western Geophysical Co. of Am.
v. Bolt Assocs., Inc., 584 F.2d 1164, 1171 (2d Cir. 1978); Kubik v. J. & R. Foods of Or.,
Inc., 577 P.2d 518, 520 (Or. 1978). Other courts view “best efforts” as a more exacting
standard than “good faith.” See, e.g., Bloor v. Falstaff Brewing Corp.,601 F.2d 609,615
(2d Cir. 1979) ([t]he requirement that a party use its best efforts does not prevent a party
from giving reasonable consideration to its own interests”); Grossman v. Lowell, 703 F.
Supp. 282,284 (S.D.N.Y. 1989); In re Heard, 6 B.R. 876, 884 (Bankr. W.D. Ky. 1980). The
standard is not definable by a fixed formula but takes its meaning from the circumstances.
See, e.g., Triple-A Baseball Club Ass’n v. Northeastern Baseball, Inc., 832 F.2d 214, 225
(1st Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 935 (1988); Joyce Beverages of N.Y., Inc. v. Royal
Crown Cola Co., 555 F. Supp. 271, 275 (S.D.N.Y. 1983); Polyglycoat Corp. v. C.P.C.
Distribs., Inc., 534 F. Supp. 200, 203 (S.D.N.Y. 1982). In Hermann Holdings Ltd. v. Lucent
Technologies, Inc., 302 F.3d 522, 581-582 (5lh Cir. 2002), the Court wrote that when
determining whether a party has used its best efforts, the Court measures the party’s efforts
“...by comparing the party’s performance with that of an average prudent comparable
operator.”

The Model Agreement definition requires more than good faith but stops short of
requiring a party to subject itself to economic hardship. Because “Best Efforts” duties apply
most often to the Seller, a high standard of what constitutes “Best Efforts” favors the Buyer.
Some attorneys, particularly those representing a Seller, prefer to use the term “commercially
reasonable efforts” rather than “best efforts”. A sample definition of the former follows:

For purposes of this Agreement, ‘commercially reasonable efforts’
will not be deemed to require a Person to undertake extraordinary or
unreasonable measures, including the payment of amounts in excess of
normal and usual filing fees and processing fees, if any, or other payments
with respect to any Contract that are significant in the context of such
Contract (or significant on an aggregate basis as to all Contracts).
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The parties may wish to provide for a specific dollar standard, either in specific
provisions where “Best Efforts” is required, or in the aggregate.

“Bill of Sale” -- as defined in Section 2.7(a)(i).

“Breach” -- any breach of, or any inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty or any
breach of, or failure to perform or comply with, any covenant or obligation, in or of this Agreement
or any other Contract, or any event which with the passing of time or the giving of notice, or both,
would constitute such a breach, inaccuracy or failure.

“Bulk Sales Laws” -- as defined in Section 5.10.

“Business Day” -- any day other than (i) Saturday or Sunday or (ii) any other day on which
banks in are permitted or required to be closed.

“Buyer” -- as defined in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
“Buyer Contact” -- as defined in the Section 12.2.
“Buyer Indemnified Persons”-- as defined in Section 11.2.
“Closing” -- as defined in Section 2.6.
“Closing Date” -- the date as of which the Closing actually takes place.
COMMENT
It is important to distinguish among the date on which the closing is scheduled to
occur, the date on which the closing actually occurs (defined as the “Closing Date”) and the
time as of which the Closing is effective (defined as the “Effective Time”). See the
definition of “Effective Time” and the related Comment and Sections 2.6 and 9.1 and the
related Comments.
“Closing Financial Statements” -- as defined in Section 2.9(b).
“Closing Working Capital” -- as defined in Section 2.9(b).
“Code” -- the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
“Confidential Information” -- as defined in Section 12.1.
“Consent” -- any approval, consent, ratification, waiver, or other authorization.

“Contemplated Transactions” -- all of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“Contract” -- any agreement, contract, Lease, consensual obligation, promise, or undertaking
(whether written or oral and whether express or implied), whether or not legally binding.

COMMENT
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This definition includes all obligations, however characterized, whether or not
legally binding. The Buyer may want to know about statements by the Seller to its
distributors that the Seller will look favorably on a request for a return for credit of unsold
products when the Seller introduces a replacement product. The Buyer may also want to
encompass established practices of the Seller within this definition. Similarly, the Buyer
may want the definition to encompass “comfort letters” confirming the Seller’s intention to
provide financial support to a subsidiary or other related person and assurances to employees
regarding compensation, benefits, and tenure, whether or not such letters or assurances are
legally binding.

“Damages” -- as defined in Section 11.2.
“Disclosing Party” -- as defined in Section 12.1.

“Disclosure Letter” -- the disclosure letter delivered by Seller and Shareholders to Buyer
concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

COMMENT

The form and content of the Disclosure Letter (sometimes called a disclosure
schedule) should be negotiated and drafted concurrently with the negotiation and drafting of
the acquisition agreement. The Disclosure Letter is an integral component of the acquisition
documentation and should be prepared and reviewed as carefully as the acquisition
agreement itself. The Buyer may prefer to attach multiple schedules or exhibits to the
acquisition agreement instead of using a disclosure letter.

“Effective Time” -- [The time at which the Closing is consummated.] [ on the
Closing Date.]

COMMENT

Under the Model Agreement, if the Closing occurs, the Effective Time fixes the time
at which the transfer to the Buyer of the assets and the risks of the business and the
assumption by the Buyer of liabilities are deemed to have taken place, regardless of the
actual time of consummation of the transaction.

Normally the Effective Time will be the time when payment for the assets is made,
at the consummation of the Closing. Sometimes acquisition agreements specify an effective
time at the opening or closing of business on the closing date, or even (in the case of a
business, such as a hospital, that operates and bills on a twenty-four hour basis) 12:01 a.m.
on the Closing Date. This must be done with care, however, to avoid unintended
consequences, such as the buyer having responsibility for an event that occurs after the
Effective Time but before the Closing or the seller having responsibility for an event that
occurs after the Closing but before the Effective Time.

Many drafters do not use a general definition of effective time and simply treat the
closing as if it occurred at a point in time on the closing date. If the parties agree on an
effective time for financial and accounting purposes that is different from the time of the
closing, this can be accomplished by a sentence such as the following: “For financial and
accounting purposes (including any adjustments pursuant to Section 2.8), the Closing shall
be deemed to have occurred as of on the Closing Date.”
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“Encumbrance” -- any charge, claim, community property interest, condition, equitable
interest, lien, option, pledge, security interest, mortgage, right of way, easement, encroachment,
servitude, right of first option, right of first refusal or similar restriction, including any restriction on
use, voting (in the case of any security or equity interest), transfer, receipt of income, or exercise of
any other attribute of ownership.

“Escrow Agreement” -- as defined in Section 2.7(a)(viii).
“Excluded Assets” -- as defined in Section 2.2.
“Exhibit” -- an exhibit to this Agreement.

“GAAP” -- Generally accepted accounting principles for financial reporting in the United
States, applied on a basis consistent with the basis on which the Balance Sheet and the other
financial statements referred to in Section 3.4 were prepared.

COMMENT
The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants defines GAAP as:

a technical accounting term that encompasses the conventions, rules, and
procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particular
time. It includes not only broad guidelines of general application, but also
detailed practices and procedures. . . . Those conventions, rules, and
procedures provide a standard by which to measure financial presentations.

CODIFICATION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES, Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 69, § 2 (American Inst. of Certified Pub. Accountants, 1992).

The use of this term in an acquisition agreement is customary. Although the
requirement that financial statements be prepared in accordance with GAAP provides some
comfort to the buyer, the buyer should understand the wide latitude of accepted accounting
practices within GAAP. GAAP describes a broad group of concepts and methods for
preparing financial statements. GAAP thus represents a boundary of accepted practice but
does not necessarily characterize a “good” financial statement.

GAAP is not a static concept — a financial statement will change as GAAP changes.
The principal authority determining the “conventions, rules, and procedures” that constitute
GAAP is the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), although custom and usage
also play arole. The FASB often issues Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) bulletins
that present guidelines for financial accounting in special circumstances or changes in
accepted practices. The adoption of FAS 106, for example, changed the presentation of
retiree health costs by requiring such costs to be recorded as a liability rather than expensed
as incurred.

GAAP permits the exercise of professional judgment in deciding how to present
financial results fairly. GAAP permits different methods of accounting for items such as
inventory valuation (“FIFO,” “LIFO,” or average cost), depreciation (straight line or
accelerated methods), and accounting for repairs and small tools. Changes in these
alternative methods can substantially affect reported results even though there has been no
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change in the underlying economic position of the seller. The buyer may want to examine
the seller’s financial statements from previous years to ensure their consistency from year to
year. The buyer also may want to determine whether there are any pending FAS bulletins
that would require a change in the seller’s accounting practices, and the buyer may want the
seller to represent and covenant that there have been (within the past five years, for example)
and will be (prior to the closing) no voluntary changes in the seller’s accounting practices.
For a further discussion of these issues, see the comment to Section 3.4.

Although GAAP is the standard used in the preparation of nearly all financial
statements, the SEC reserves the right to mandate specific accounting methods for public
companies. When dealing with financial statements of public companies, the Buyer may
want to amend the definition of GAAP to include compliance with SEC accounting
standards.

In international transactions, the parties should be aware that there are important
differences between the GAAP standards and accounting standards used in other nations.
The buyer sometimes requires that foreign financial statements be restated to conform to
United States GAAP or accompanied by a reconciliation to United States GAAP.

“Governing Documents” -- with respect to any particular entity, (a) if a corporation, the
articles or certificate of incorporation and the bylaws; (b) if a general partnership, the partnership
agreement and any statement of partnership; (c) if a limited partnership, the limited partnership
agreement and the certificate of limited partnership; (d) if a limited liability company, the articles of
organization and operating agreement; (e) any other charter or similar document adopted or filed in
connection with the creation, formation or organization of a Person; (f) all equityholders’
agreements, voting agreements, voting trust agreements, joint venture agreements, registration rights
agreements or other agreements or documents relating to the organization, management or operation
of any Person, or relating to the rights, duties and obligations of the equityholders of any Person; and
(g) any amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing.

“Governmental Authorization” -- any Consent, license, or permit issued, granted, given, or
otherwise made available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any
Legal Requirement.

“Governmental Body” -- any:
(a) nation, state, county, city, town, borough, village, district, or other jurisdiction;
(b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, or other government;

(©) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any agency,
branch, department, board, commission, court, tribunal or other entity exercising
governmental or quasi-governmental powers);

(d) multi-national organization or body;

(e) body exercising, or entitled or purporting to exercise, any administrative, executive,
judicial, legislative, police, regulatory, or taxing authority or power; or
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(f) official of any of the foregoing.

“Ground Lease” -- any long-term lease of land in which most of the rights and benefits
comprising ownership of the land and the improvements thereon or to be constructed thereon, if any,
are transferred to the tenant for the term thereof.

“Ground Lease Property” -- any land, improvements and appurtenances subject to a Ground
Lease in favor of Seller.

“HSR Act” -- the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.
“Indemnified Person” -- as defined in Section 11.9.

“Indemnifying Person” -- as defined in Section 11.9.

“Initial Working Capital” -- as defined in Section 2.9(a).

“Interim Balance Sheet” -- as defined in Section 3.4.

“Inventories” -- all inventories of the Seller, wherever located, including all finished goods,
work in process, raw materials, spare parts and all other materials and supplies to be used or
consumed by Seller in the production of finished goods.

“IRS” -- the United States Internal Revenue Service, and, to the extent relevant, the United
States Department of the Treasury.

“Knowledge” -- an individual will be deemed to have “Knowledge” of a particular fact or
other matter if:

(a) such individual is actually aware of such fact or other matter; or

(b) a prudent individual could be expected to discover or otherwise become aware of
such fact or other matter in the course of conducting a reasonably comprehensive
investigation regarding the accuracy of any representations or warranties contained in this
Agreement.

A Person (other than an individual) will be deemed to have “Knowledge” of a particular fact or other
matter if any individual who is serving, or who has at any time served, as a director, officer, partner,
executor, or trustee of such Person (or in any similar capacity) has, or at any time had, Knowledge of
such fact or other matter (as set forth in (a) and (b) above), and any such individual (and any
individual party to this Agreement) will be deemed to have conducted a reasonably comprehensive
investigation regarding the accuracy of any representations and warranties made herein by such
Person or individual.

COMMENT

The seller will attempt to use the caveat of knowledge to qualify many of its
representations and warranties. A knowledge qualification of representations concerning
threatened litigation has become accepted practice. Otherwise, there is no standard practice
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for determining which representations, if any, should be qualified by the seller’s knowledge.
Ultimately, the issue is allocation of risk -- should the buyer or the seller bear the risk of the
unknown? The buyer will often argue that the seller has more knowledge of and is in a
better position to investigate its business and therefore should bear the risk. The seller’s
frequent response is that it has made all information about the seller available to the buyer
and that the buyer is acquiring the assets as part of an on-going enterprise with the possibility
of either unexpected gains or unexpected losses. Resolution of this issue usually involves
much negotiation.

If the buyer agrees to a knowledge qualification, the next issue is whose knowledge
is relevant. The buyer will seek to have the group of people be as broad as possible, to
ensure that this group includes the people who are the most knowledgeable about the specific
representation being qualified, and to include constructive and actual knowledge. The
broader the group and the greater the knowledge of the people in the group, the greater will
be the risk retained by the seller. An expansive definition of knowledge can return to haunt
the buyer, however, if an “anti-sandbagging” provision is proposed by the seller and
accepted by the buyer. This provision would preclude a buyer’s claim for indemnity if it
closes the transaction notwithstanding its knowledge of the inaccuracy of a representation by
the seller (normally acquired between the signing of the definitive agreement and closing).
See the Commentary to Section 11.1.

The final issue is the scope of investigation built into the definition. Some
acquisition agreements define knowledge as actual knowledge without any investigation
requirement. Others may require some level of investigation or will impute knowledge to an
individual who could be expected to discover or become aware of a fact or matter by virtue
of that person’s position, duties or responsibilities. If the actual knowledge standard is used,
the buyer may want to expand the scope to the actual knowledge of key employees of the
seller and list the titles or names of these employees.

“Land” -- all parcels and tracts of land in which Seller has an ownership interest.

“Lease” -- any Real Property Lease or any lease or rental agreement, license, right to use or
installment and conditional sale agreement to which Seller is a party and any other Seller Contract
pertaining to the leasing or use of any Tangible Personal Property.

COMMENT

If the Assets to be acquired also include options to purchase or lease real property,
the Buyer may wish to include the options in the definition of Land or Lease, respectively, in
order to receive the benefit of the representations contained in Sections 3.7, 3.8 and 3.10, as
applicable with respect to the option property as well as the assignment provisions of Section
2.7.

“Legal Requirement” -- any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, international,
multinational, or other constitution, law, ordinance, principle of common law, regulation, statute, or
treaty.

“Liability” -- with respect to any Person, any liability or obligation of such Person of any
kind, character or description, whether known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or
unaccrued, disputed or undisputed, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, joint or several,
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due or to become due, vested or unvested, executory, determined, determinable or otherwise and
whether or not the same is required to be accrued on the financial statements of such Person.

“Order” -- any order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, assessment or arbitration award of
any Governmental Body or arbitrator.

“Ordinary Course of Business” -- an action taken by a Person will be deemed to have been
taken in the “Ordinary Course of Business” only if that action:

(a) is consistent in nature, scope and magnitude with the past practices of such Person
and is taken in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations of such Person;

(b) does not require authorization by the board of directors or shareholders of such
Person (or by any Person or group of Persons exercising similar authority) and does not
require any other separate or special authorization of any nature; and

(©) is similar in nature, scope and magnitude to actions customarily taken, without any
separate or special authorization, in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations
of other Persons that are in the same line of business as such Person.

COMMENT

When the acquisition agreement is signed, the buyer obtains an interest in being
consulted about matters affecting the seller. However, the seller needs to be able to operate
its daily business without obtaining countless approvals, which can significantly delay
ordinary business operations. This tension is analogous to that found in other areas of the
law that use the concept of “in the ordinary course of business”:

1. Under bankruptcy law, certain transactions undertaken by the
debtor “other than in the ordinary course of business” require
approval of the Bankruptcy Court. See 11 U.S.C. § 363(b)(1)
(1988).

2. Most states’ general corporation laws require shareholder approval
for a sale of all or substantially all of a corporation’s assets other
than in the regular course of business.

3. A regulation under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 allows
management to omit a shareholder proposal from a proxy statement
“[i]f the proposal deals with a matter relating to the company’s
ordinary business operations.” See 17 C.F.R. § 14a-8(i)(7) (1999).

An important consideration in drafting this definition is the relevant standard for
distinguishing between major and routine matters: the past practices of the seller, common
practice in the seller’s industries, or both. In one of the few cases that have interpreted the
term “ordinary course of business” in the context of an acquisition, the jury was allowed to
decide whether fees paid in connection with obtaining a construction loan, which were not
reflected on the seller’s last balance sheet, were incurred in the ordinary course of business.
See Medigroup, Inc. v. Schildknecht, 463 F.2d 525 (7th Cir. 1972). In Medigroup, the trial
judge defined “ordinary course of business” as “that course of conduct that reasonable
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prudent men would use in conducting business affairs as they may occur from day to day,”
and instructed the jury that the past practices of the company being sold, not “the general
conduct of business throughout the community,” was the relevant standard. Id. at 529; cf. In
re Fulghum Constr. Corp., 872 F.2d 739, 743 & n.5 (6th Cir. 1989) (stating that, in the
bankruptcy context, the relevant standard is “the business practices which were unique to the
particular parties under consideration and not to the practices which generally prevailed in
the industry,” but acknowledging that “industry practice may be relevant” in arriving at a
definition of “ordinary business terms”). But see In re Yurika Foods Corp., 888 F.2d 42, 44
(6th Cir. 1989) (noting that it might be necessary to examine industry standards as well as
the parties’ prior dealings to define “ordinary course of business”); In re Dant & Russell,
Inc., 853 F.2d 700, 704 (9th Cir. 1988) (applying, in the bankruptcy context, a “horizontal
dimension test” based on industry practices); In re Hills Oil & Transfer, Inc., 143 B.R. 207,
209 (Bankr. C.D. Ill. 1992) (relying on industry practices and standards to define “ordinary
course of business” in a bankruptcy context).

The Model Agreement definition distinguishes between major and routine matters
based on the historic practices of both the Seller and others in the same industry and on the
need for board or shareholder approval. The definition is derived primarily from the analysis
of “ordinary course of business” in bankruptcy, which examines both the past practice of the
debtor and the ordinary practice of the industry. See, e.g., In re Roth Am., Inc., 975 F.2d
949, 952-53 (3d Cir. 1992); In re Johns-Manville Corp., 60 B.R. 612, 616-18 (Bankr.
S.D.N.Y. 1986). No standard can eliminate all ambiguity regarding the need for consultation
between the buyer and the seller. In doubtful cases, the seller should consult with the buyer
and obtain its approval.

The buyer should be aware that its knowledge of transactions the seller plans to enter
into before the closing may expand the scope of this definition. One Court has stated:

If a buyer did not know the selling corporation had made
arrangements to construct a large addition to its plant, “the ordinary course
of business” might refer to such transactions as billing customers and
purchasing supplies. But a buyer aware of expansion plans would intend
“the ordinary course of business” to include whatever transactions are
normally incurred in effectuating such plans.

Medigroup, 463 F.2d at 529. Thus, the buyer should monitor its knowledge of the seller’s
plans for operations before the closing, and if the buyer knows about any plans to undertake
projects or enter into transactions different from those occurring in the past practice of the
seller and other companies in the same industries, the buyer may want specifically to exclude
such projects or transactions, and all related transactions, from the definition of “ordinary
course of business.”

Clause (b) of the definition has special significance in a parent-subsidiary
relationship. State law does not normally require parent company authorization for actions
taken by subsidiaries. Unless the certificate or articles of incorporation provide otherwise,
most state laws require shareholder approval only for amendments to the charter, mergers,
sales of all or substantially all of the assets, dissolutions, and other major events. Therefore,
the Model Agreement definition excludes any action requiring authorization by the parent of
a seller not only for subsidiary actions requiring shareholder authorization under state law,
but also for subsidiary actions requiring parent authorization under the operating procedures
in effect between the parent and the subsidiary.
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A seller may object to clause (c) of the definition on the ground that it does not know
the internal approval processes of other companies in its industries.

“Part” -- a part or section of the Disclosure Letter.

“Permitted Encumbrances” -- as defined in Section 3.9.

“Person” -- an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, limited liability company,
limited liability partnership, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture or
other entity, or a Governmental Body.

“Proceeding” -- any action, arbitration, audit, hearing, investigation, litigation, or suit
(whether civil, criminal, administrative, judicial or investigative, whether formal or informal,

whether public or private) commenced, brought, conducted, or heard by or before, or otherwise
involving, any Governmental Body or arbitrator.

“Promissory Note” -- as defined in Section 2.7(b)(ii).
“Purchase Price” -- as defined in Section 2.3.

“Real Property” -- the Land and Improvements and all Appurtenances thereto and any
Ground Lease Property.

“Real Property Lease” -- any Ground Lease or Space Lease.

“Record” -- information that is inscribed on a tangible medium or that is stored in an
electronic or other medium and is retrievable in perceivable form.

“Receiving Party” -- as defined in Section 12.1.
“Related Person” --
With respect to a particular individual:
(a) each other member of such individual’s Family;

(b) any Person that is directly or indirectly controlled by any one or more
members of such individual’s Family;

(©) any Person in which members of such individual’s Family hold (individually
or in the aggregate) a Material Interest; and

(d) any Person with respect to which one or more members of such individual’s
Family serves as a director, officer, partner, executor, or trustee (or in a similar

capacity).

With respect to a specified Person other than an individual:
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(a) any Person that directly or indirectly controls, is directly or indirectly
controlled by, or is directly or indirectly under common control with such specified
Person;

(b) any Person that holds a Material Interest in such specified Person;

(©) each Person that serves as a director, officer, partner, executor, or trustee of
such specified Person (or in a similar capacity);

(d) any Person in which such specified Person holds a Material Interest; and

(e) any Person with respect to which such specified Person serves as a general

partner or a trustee (or in a similar capacity).
For purposes of this definition, (a) “control’”’ (including “controlling,” “controlled by’’ and “under
common control with””) means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract or otherwise, and shall be construed as such term is used in the rules
promulgated under the Securities Act, (b) the “Family” of an individual includes (i) the individual,
(i1) the individual’s spouse, (iii) any other natural person who is related to the individual or the
individual’s spouse within the second degree, and (iv) any other natural person who resides with
such individual, and (c) “Material Interest” means direct or indirect beneficial ownership (as
defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) of voting securities or other
voting interests representing at least 10% of the outstanding voting power of a Person or equity
securities or other equity interests representing at least 10% of the outstanding equity securities or
equity interests in a Person.

COMMENT

The main purpose of the representations concerning relationships with related
persons is to identify “sweetheart” deals benefitting the seller (which may disappear after the
closing), transactions with related persons on terms unfavorable to the seller (which the
buyer may not be able to terminate after the closing), and possibly diverted corporate
opportunities. Thus, the buyer will want a broad definition of ‘“Related Persons.” For
individuals, the Model Agreement definition focuses on relationships with and arising from
members of an individual’s family; depending on the circumstances, a broader definition
may be necessary to capture other relationships. In the definition of “Material Interest,” the
appropriate percentage of voting power or equity interests will depend on the circumstances.
The objective is to identify the level of equity interest in a Related Person that may confer a
significant economic benefit on a seller or a seller’s shareholder; this may be an interest well
short of control of the Related Person. Tax and accounting considerations may also be
relevant to determining the appropriate percentage.

“Representative” -- with respect to a particular Person, any director, officer, employee,
agent, consultant, advisor, accountant, financial advisor, legal counsel or other representative of that
Person.

“Retained Liabilities” -- as defined in Section 2.4(b).

-60 -
5754336v.1



“Seller” -- as defined in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
“Seller Confidential Information” -- as defined in Section 12.1.
“Seller Contact” -- as defined in Section 12.2.

“Seller Contract” -- any Contract (a) under which Seller has or may acquire any rights or
benefits, (b) under which Seller has or may become subject to any obligation or liability, or (c) by
which Seller or any of the assets owned or used by Seller is or may become bound.

“Shareholders” -- as defined in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Space Lease” -- any lease or rental agreement pertaining to the occupancy of any improved
space on any Land.

“Tangible Personal Property” -- all machinery, equipment, tools, furniture, office
equipment, computer hardware, supplies, materials, vehicles and other items of tangible personal
property (other than Inventories) of every kind owned or leased by Seller (wherever located and
whether or not carried on Seller’s books), together with any express or implied warranty by the
manufacturers or sellers or lessors of any item or component part thereof, and all maintenance
records and other documents relating thereto.

“Tax” -- any income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp,
occupation, premium, property, environmental, windfall profit, customs, vehicle, airplane, boat,
vessel or other title or registration, capital stock, franchise, employees’ income withholding, foreign
or domestic withholding, social security, unemployment, disability, real property, personal property,
sales, use, transfer, value added, alternative, add-on minimum, and other tax, fee, assessment, levy,
tariff, charge or duty of any kind whatsoever, and any interest, penalties, additions or additional
amounts thereon, imposed, assessed, collected by or under the authority of any Governmental Body
or payable under any tax-sharing agreement or any other Contract.

COMMENT

In addition to the governmental impositions applicable to Seller’s business, the term
“Tax” includes fees and other charges incident to the sales taxes and other charges imposed
on the sale of the assets. Such taxes are sometimes levied in the form of fees, which may be
payable by buyer and measured by the value of particular assets being transferred, for the
registration of the transfer of title to aircraft, vehicles, boats, vessels, real estate and other
property. See Sections 7.4(f) and 10.2 and related Commentary.

“Tax Return” -- any return (including any information return), report, statement, schedule,
notice, form, or other document or information filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with
or submitted to, any Governmental Body in connection with the determination, assessment,
collection, or payment of any Tax or in connection with the administration, implementation, or
enforcement of or compliance with any Legal Requirement relating to any Tax.

“Third Party” -- a Person that is not a party to this Agreement.
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“Third-Party Claim” -- any claim against any Indemnified Person by a Third Party, whether
or not involving a Proceeding.

1.2

(a)

(b)

USAGE
Interpretation. In this Agreement, unless a clear contrary intention appears:
) the singular number includes the plural number and vice versa;

(i1) reference to any Person includes such Person’s successors and assigns but, if
applicable, only if such successors and assigns are not prohibited by this Agreement,
and reference to a Person in a particular capacity excludes such Person in any other
capacity or individually;

(iii))  reference to any gender includes each other gender;

(iv)  reference to any agreement, document or instrument means such agreement,
document or instrument as amended or modified and in effect from time to time in
accordance with the terms thereof;

v) reference to any Legal Requirement means such Legal Requirement as
amended, modified, codified, replaced or reenacted, in whole or in part, and in effect
from time to time, including rules and regulations promulgated thereunder and
reference to any section or other provision of any Legal Requirement means that
provision of such Legal Requirement from time to time in effect and constituting the
substantive amendment, modification, codification, replacement or reenactment of
such section or other provision;

(vi)  “hereunder”, “hereof”, “hereto” and words of similar import shall be deemed
references to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or
other provision thereof;

(vii)  “including” (and with correlative meaning “include”) means including
without limiting the generality of any description preceding such term;

(viii) ““or” is used in the inclusive sense of “and/or’;

(ix)  with respect to the determination of any period of time, “from” means “from
and including” and “to” means ‘“to but excluding”; and

(%) references to documents, instruments or agreements shall be deemed to refer
as well to all addenda, exhibits, schedules or amendments thereto.

Accounting Terms and Determinations. Unless otherwise specified herein, all

accounting terms used therein shall be interpreted and all accounting determinations thereunder shall
be made in accordance with GAAP.
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(©) Legal Representation of the Parties. This Agreement was negotiated by the parties
with the benefit of legal representation and any rule of construction or interpretation otherwise
requiring this Agreement to be construed or interpreted against any party shall not apply to any
construction or interpretation hereof.

COMMENT

Clauses (v), (vii), (viii) and (x) of Section 1.2(a) are designed to eliminate the need
for repetitive and cumbersome use of (i) the phrase “as amended” after numerous references
to statutes and rules, (ii) the phrase “including, but not limited to,” or “including, without
limitation,” in every instance in which a broad term is followed by a list of items
encompassed by that term, (iii) “and/or” where the alternative and conjunctive are intended,
and (iv) a list of all possible attachments or agreements relating to each document referenced
in the Model Agreement. The REVISED MODEL BUS. CORP. ACT, Section 1.40(12)
contains a similar definition: “‘Includes’ denotes a partial definition.” In certain
jurisdictions, however, the rule of ejusdem generis has been applied to construe the meaning
of a broad phrase to include only matters that are of a similar nature to those specifically
described. See, e.g., Forward Industries, Inc. v. Rolm of New York Corp., 506 N.Y.S.2d 453,
455 (App. Div. 1986) (requiring the phrase “other cause beyond the control” to be limited to
events of the same kind as those events specifically enumerated); see also Buono Sales, Inc.
v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 363 F.2d 43 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 385 U.S. 971 (1966);
Thaddeus Davids Co. v. Hoffman-LaRoche Chemical Works, 166 N.Y.S. 179 (App. Div.
1917).

A provision such as Section 1.29(b) that “all accounting terms used therein shall be
interpreted and all accounting determinations thereunder shall be made in accordance with
GAAP” can be outcome determinative as GAAP is not otherwise read into financial
provisions of an acquisition agreement. In Koch Business Holdings, LLC v. Amoco Pipeline
Holding Company, 554 F3d 1334 (11th Cir. 2009), a price adjustment turned on the period in
which a liability was booked. In Koch an accrual for losses from a litigation settlement made
on the last day of the quarter was made 17 days after the end of a quarter and before financial
statements for the quarter had been issued. Under GAAP the accrual would have related back
to the quarter in which the settlement was made, but the Court found that the agreement
should be read in effect to require that the accrual relate to the period in which the board of
directors authorized it. The Court commented that “GAAP does not define default legal
rules...GAAP is potentially relevant to contract interpretation where there is ambiguity
regarding intent, [but] it is not relevant here, where the intent is clear on the face of the
agreement.”

2. SALE AND TRANSFER OF ASSETS; CLOSING
2.1 ASSETS TO BE SOLD

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, but
effective as of the Effective Time, Seller shall sell, convey, assign, transfer and deliver to Buyer, free
and clear of any Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, and Buyer shall purchase and
acquire from Seller, all of Seller’s right, title and interest in and to all of Seller’s property and assets,
real, personal or mixed, tangible and intangible, of every kind and description, wherever located,
including the following (but excluding the Excluded Assets):
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(a) all Real Property, including the Real Property described in Parts 3.7 and 3.8;
(b) all Tangible Personal Property, including those items described in Part 2.1(b);
(©) all Inventories;

(d) all Accounts Receivable;

(e) all Seller Contracts, including those listed in Part 3.20(a), and all outstanding offers
or solicitations made by or to Seller to enter into any Contract;

(f) all Governmental Authorizations and all pending applications therefor or renewals
thereof, in each case to the extent transferable to Buyer, including those listed in Part
3.17(b);

(2) all data and Records related to the operations of Seller, including client and customer
lists and Records, referral sources, research and development reports and Records,
production reports and Records, service and warranty Records, equipment logs, operating
guides and manuals, financial and accounting Records, creative materials, advertising
materials, promotional materials, studies, reports, correspondence and other similar
documents and Records and, subject to Legal Requirements, copies of all personnel Records
and other Records described in Section 2.2(g);

(h) all of the intangible rights and property of Seller, including Intellectual Property
Assets, going concern value, good-will, telephone, telecopy and e-mail addresses, websites
and listings and those items listed in Part 3.25(d), (e), (f) and (h);

@) all insurance benefits, including rights and proceeds, arising from or relating to the
Assets or the Assumed Liabilities prior to the Effective Time, unless expended in accordance
with this Agreement;

) all claims of Seller against third parties relating to the Assets, whether choate or
inchoate, known or unknown, contingent or non-contingent, including all such claims listed
in Part 2.1(j); and

(k) all rights of Seller relating to deposits and prepaid expenses, claims for refunds and
rights to offset in respect thereof which are not listed in Part 2.2(d) and which are not
excluded under Section 2.2(h).

All of the foregoing property and assets are herein referred to collectively as the “Assets™.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the transfer of the Assets pursuant to this Agreement shall not
include the assumption of any Liability in respect thereof unless the Buyer expressly assumes such
Liability pursuant to Section 2.4(a).

COMMENT

The identities of the specific assets to be transferred and the liabilities to be assumed
(see Section 2.4) are the heart of an asset purchase transaction. The acquisition agreement
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and the disclosure letter should identify, with some degree of detail, those assets that are to
be acquired by the buyer. The mechanism used for this identification will depend in part
upon the amount of detail the parties desire, the nature of the assets involved, and the status
of the buyer’s due diligence at the time the acquisition agreement is finalized. The
identification could be guided by a consideration of which assets listed on the balance sheet
the buyer intends to purchase. The asset description could also be used as part of the buyer’s
due diligence investigation or to confirm that investigation. To this end, the buyer could
give the seller an exhaustive list of assets and leave it to the seller to tailor the list to fit the
assets the seller has and considers part of the assets being sold.

The Model Agreement initially describes the assets to be acquired in a general way,
followed by a categorization into the groupings listed in Section 2.1. This general
description is further supplemented, to the extent appropriate, by reference to Parts of the
Disclosure Letter to list or describe particular items within certain groupings. This method
works well when the buyer’s due diligence is well under way at the time the acquisition
agreement is finalized and allows the parties to specify, for example, which particular
contracts buyer will acquire.

Alternatively, the parties might omit any specific identification or description and
describe the acquired assets only by categorizing them into general groupings. Although the
parties should always pay close attention to the definition of Excluded Assets, the
mechanism by which the assets that are excluded from the transaction are described assumes
even greater significance when the acquired assets are described in only a general way.

The interplay between the section listing purchased assets and the section listing the
excluded assets also needs close attention. The Model Agreement specifically provides that
the listing of Excluded Assets set forth in Section 2.2 takes priority over the listing of Assets
set forth in Section 2.1. This priority is established both by the parenthetical at the end of the
introductory paragraph of Section 2.1 and the language at the beginning of Section2.2. Asa
result, particular care needs to be given to the listing of Excluded Assets as that list will
control if a particular asset could be both an Asset and an Excluded Asset.

The categories of Assets in Section 2.1 are described using a combination of defined
terms and specific description of the Assets. This represents a blend of two extremes, which
are defining all terms elsewhere and using only the defined terms in Section 2.1 and placing
the complete description of all assets in Section 2.1 with the definitions at the end of each
category. In the Model Agreement, defined terms are used to cover categories of Assets
where that defined term is used elsewhere in the Model Agreement (for example, in the
representations section). Reference is made to the definitions of the various defined terms
used in Section 2.1 and the Comments to those definitions for further description of the
scope of those terms. If no defined term is needed elsewhere in the Model Agreement, a
specific description of the category of Assets is used. Where defined terms are used, the
definitions need to be carefully drafted to transfer only the Assets intended and to ensure that
the defined terms need to be addressed consistently throughout the Agreement.

For example, the term “Tangible Personal Property” includes personal property
owned or leased by the seller (see Section 2.1(b)). Therefore, since the buyer is purchasing
all leased personal property, the associated lease contracts should be listed on the Part of the
Disclosure Letter referred to in Section 2.1(e), should not be listed on Exhibit 2.2(f) pursuant
to Section 2.2(f), which identifies excluded assets, and should be listed on the Part of the
Disclosure Letter referred to in Section 2.4(a)(v).
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Whether a defined term or a specific description is utilized, the Buyer can reduce the
risk that an unlisted item will be excluded from the acquired assets by using language such as
“including.” Although the last sentence of Section 1.2(a)(vii) expressly recognizes that the
word “including” does not limit the preceding words or terms, the rule of ejusdem generis
has been applied to construe the meaning of a broad phrase to include only matters that are of
a nature similar to those specifically described. See the Comment to Section 1.2.

If there are specific assets which are of significant importance to the buyer, the buyer
may want to specifically list those assets instead of relying on the introductory ‘“‘catch-all”
phrase or any “including” clause listing assets of a similar type. For example, if the seller
had subsidiaries, the buyer would want to include specifically stock of the subsidiaries as
assets in Section 2.1. Similarly, if the seller owns or has access to certain business
development assets, such as luxury boxes, event tickets or the like, the buyer would want to
specifically identify those assets.

Under Section 2.1(i), all insurance benefits are transferred to the buyer unless
expended in accordance with the terms of the Model Agreement. In most asset acquisitions,
insurance policies are not transferred, primarily because such policies typically may not be
transferred without the consent of the insurance company. Transferable policies may be
purchased, however. This delineation would involve a review of the seller’s policies to
determine whether each is transferable. The approach taken in the Model Agreement is that
the policies themselves stay with the seller but all unexpended benefits are transferred.
Given this split and the typical non-transferability language in insurance policies, the buyer
may need to utilize the further assurances clause set forth in Section 10.11 and rely on the
seller to take certain actions on behalf of the buyer to receive any insurance proceeds. Note
that only insurance benefits relating to the Assets and Assumed Liabilities are transferred.
Therefore, life insurance under “key man” policies would not be transferred. Finally, the
buyer would receive no rights under this section to the extent the seller self-insures with
respect to a certain risk. However, the parties would need to adjust this provision if the seller
has another variant of self-insurance where an insurance policy covers the risk at issue but
the insured agrees to reimburse the insurance company dollar-for-dollar for any claims.
Under Section 2.1(1), the benefits under that policy would transfer to the buyer and the seller
would be left with the reimbursement obligation. Usually, the parties and their insurance
consultants will be able to structure reasonable insurance backup mechanisms as joint
protection for pre-closing occurrences or, failing that, the buyer may require a substantial
escrow or set-off right to cover these risks. See Sections 2.7 and 11.8.

Section 2.1(k) provides that rights of the seller with respect to deposits and prepaid
expenses, and claims for refunds and rights to offset relating thereto, are included in the
Assets unless specifically excluded. The term “prepaid expenses” is an accounting term and
is used in that sense. Therefore, accounting reference materials would be helpful in the
application of this term. Finally, note that this section provides that it is the seller’s rights
which are being sold, rather than the actual deposits, prepaid expenses and related items.

In many asset purchase transactions the buyer is seeking to acquire a business and all
of seller’s operating assets necessary to conduct the business. Because the Model Agreement
was drafted on the basis of a fact pattern that assumed the acquisition of all of seller’s
operating assets and in order to reduce the risk that buyer could be held liable for seller
liabilities which it did not assume, the Model Agreement does not attempt to define the
“business” being acquired or include in Section 2.1 a statement to the effect that the Assets
include all of the assets of seller’s business. But see the representation in Section 3.6.
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Many drafters prefer to include a defined term “Business” and a catch-all statement
to the effect that the Assets include all of the properties and assets of any kind or nature used
in the Business. This approach is particularly useful (and may be necessary) in situations
where the buyer is acquiring a division of the seller. If this approach were used, the lead-in
to Section 2.1 could be revised, and a new subsection (1) could be added to Section 2.1, to
read as follows:

“Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement, at the Closing and effective as of the Effective Time, Seller
shall sell, convey, assign, transfer and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer shall
purchase and acquire from Seller, free and clear of any Encumbrances other
than Permitted Encumbrances, all of Seller’s right, title and interest in and
to all of Seller’s property and assets, real, personal or mixed, tangible and
intangible, of every kind and description, wherever located, belonging to
Seller and which relate to the business currently conducted by the

Division of Seller as a going concern, including the design,
manufacture and sale of its products and the furnishing of advisory and
consulting services to customers as well as any goodwill associated
therewith (the “Business”), including the following (but excluding the
Excluded Assets):

“(1) all other properties and assets of every kind, character and
description, tangible or intangible, owned by Seller and used or held for use
in connection with the Business, whether or not similar to the items
specifically set forth above.”

See also Section 3.6 and the related Comment.

2.2 EXCLUDED ASSETS

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 2.1 or elsewhere in this
Agreement, the following assets of Seller (collectively, the “Excluded Assets”) are not part of the
sale and purchase contemplated hereunder, are excluded from the Assets, and shall remain the
property of Seller after the Closing:

(a) all cash, cash equivalents and short term investments;
(b) all minute books, stock Records and corporate seals;
(©) the shares of capital stock of Seller held in treasury;

(d) those rights relating to deposits and prepaid expenses and claims for refunds and
rights to offset in respect thereof listed in Part 2.2(d);

(e) all insurance policies and rights thereunder (except to the extent specified in Section
2.1() and (j));

) all of the Seller Contracts listed in Part 2.2(f);
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(2) all personnel Records and other Records that Seller is required by law to retain in its
possession;

(h) all claims for refund of Taxes and other governmental charges of whatever nature;
@) all rights in connection with and assets of the Employee Plans;

) all rights of Seller under this Agreement, the Bill of Sale, the Assignment and
Assumption Agreement, the Promissory Note and the Escrow Agreement; and

k) property and assets expressly designated in Part 2.2(k).
COMMENT

As with the description of the assets to be acquired, the parties should always pay
close attention to the identity of the assets to be excluded from the acquisition and therefore
not transferred from the seller to the buyer. As with the acquired assets, the excluded assets
could be described generally, identified specifically or described using some combination of
the two. Whichever method of description is used, it is important that the method chosen be
consistent with the description of the acquired assets.

In general, the Model Agreement uses general descriptions to categorize the
Excluded Assets. One of these descriptions, Sections 2.2(e), is qualified by reference to the
Assets to reflect the fact that, in general, this category of assets is being retained by the Seller
but selected assets are being acquired by the Buyer. Two other sections, Sections 2.2(d) and
2.2(f), reflect the opposite approach. Each category of assets described in these sections is
being acquired by the Buyer and only selected assets are being retained by the Seller.
However, through Part 2.2(k), the Model Agreement also provides for the specific
identification of certain assets to be retained by the Seller which do not fit within a general
category and do not merit a special category or identification in the text of the Agreement.

The description of excluded assets needs also to mesh with the description of the
assumed and excluded liabilities. For example, Section 2.2(i) of the Model Agreement
provides that the Seller will retain all rights and assets relating to the Employee Plans.
Correspondingly, Section 2.4(b)(vi) of the Model Agreement provides that the Seller retains
all liabilities relating to those Employee Plans.

A number of the categories are designated as excluded assets because the Seller will
continue as an independent company after the closing of the transactions contemplated by the
Model Agreement. The Seller should retain all of its rights under the Model Agreement and
related documents. Also in this category are the Seller’s minute books, stock records and
corporate seal, all of which are properly retained by the Seller in an asset purchase, and
personnel records and other records the Seller is legally required to retain. However, the
Buyer may want to ensure that it has access to these retained items and the ability to make
copies to address post-closing matters. The Buyer should also specify where this inspection
will occur as the Seller may liquidate and move the records to an inconvenient location.
Finally, the Buyer may want the right to obtain these items if the Seller ever decides to
discard them. The Model Agreement provides that the Buyer will receive a copy of certain
of these items in Section 2.1(g). See Section 10.10 and accompanying Commentary.

- 68 -
5754336v.1



Section 2.2(a) reflects the norm in asset purchase transactions that the buyer
typically will not buy cash and cash equivalents. There usually is no reason to buy cash
because this simply would have a dollar for dollar impact on the purchase price and
excluding cash provides logistical simplicity. However, there may be situations when the
purchase of cash should be considered. First, the logistics of the particular transaction may
be such that purchasing cash is easier. For example, when purchasing a chain of retail stores,
it may be easier to buy the cash in the cash registers rather than collecting all the cash and
then restocking the registers with the buyer’s cash. Second, the buyer may be able to buy
cash for a note with deferred payments. This would provide the buyer with immediate
working capital without requiring the infusion of additional capital - in essence, a form of
seller financing.

At times, a buyer may include a category in Section 2.2 which would authorize the
buyer, in its discretion, to designate certain of the seller’s property or assets as Excluded
Assets, often without altering the purchase price or other terms of the agreement. This right
typically can be exercised from the signing of the agreement until shortly before closing.
The buyer may request such right to allow the buyer the greatest benefit from its due
diligence analysis (which typically continues up to the closing). The seller may desire to
carefully review the breadth of this right because the buyer’s decision to exclude assets may
materially change the deal for the seller, particularly if the seller is exiting the business. For
example, there may be assets which the seller would no longer want or which are worth less
than the related operating costs or real estate which may be subject to environmental
problems. If the seller agrees to this kind of provision, the seller may insist upon a right to
renegotiate the purchase price depending on the assets left behind. As an alternative to the
purchase price renegotiation, the seller may request limitation of the proposed exclusion
right so that the buyer could not exclude certain assets, which could include assets that
neither party wants. Whether the buyer will have the ability to insist on the inclusion of this
provision is a matter of the parties’ relative bargaining positions.

2.3 CONSIDERATION.

The consideration for the Assets (the “Purchase Price”) will be (i) $ plus or
minus the Adjustment Amount and (ii) the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities. In accordance
with Section 2.7(b), at the Closing the Purchase Price, prior to adjustment on account of the
Adjustment Amount, shall be delivered by Buyer to Seller as follows: (i) $ by wire
transfer; (ii) $ payable in the form of the Promissory Note; (iii) $ paid to the
escrow agent pursuant to the Escrow Agreement; and (iv) the balance of the Purchase Price by the
execution and delivery of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement. The Adjustment Amount
shall be paid in accordance with Section 2.8.

COMMENT

In Section 2.3 of the Model Agreement the consideration to be paid by the Buyer for
the assets purchased includes both a monetary component and the assumption of specific
liabilities of the Seller. In addition to the consideration set forth in Section 2.3, the Seller
and the Shareholders may receive payments under noncompetition and employment
agreements. If an earnout, consulting, royalty or other financial arrangement is negotiated by
the parties in connection with the transaction, additional value will be paid.
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The amount a buyer is willing to pay for the purchased assets depends on several
factors, including the seller’s industry, state of development and financial condition. A
buyer’s valuation of the seller may be based on some measure of historical or future
earnings, cash flow, or book value (or some combination of revenues, earnings, cash flow,
and book value), as well as the risks inherent in the seller’s business. A discussion of
modern valuation theories and techniques in acquisition transactions is found in Samuel C.
Thompson, Jr., A Lawyer’s Guide to Modern Valuation Techniques in Mergers and
Acquisitions, 21 THE JOURNAL OF CORPORATION LAW, 457 (Spring 1996). The
monetary component of the purchase price is also dependent in part upon the extent to which
liabilities are assumed by the buyer. The range of liabilities a buyer is willing to assume
varies with the particulars of each transaction and, as the Commentary to Section 2.4
observes, the assumption and retention of liabilities is often a heavily negotiated issue.

The method of payment selected by the parties depends on a variety of factors,
including the buyer’s ability to pay, the parties’ views on the value of the assets, the parties’
tolerance for risk, and the tax and accounting consequences to the parties (especially if the
buyer is a public company). See Section III.E in the introductory text and the commentary to
Section 10.2 for a discussion of the tax aspects of asset acquisitions and the Comment to
Section 2.5 for a discussion of the allocation of the purchase price. The method of payment
may include some combination of cash, debt, and stock and may also have a contingent
component based on future performance. For example, if a buyer does not have sufficient
cash or wants to reduce its initial cash outlay, it could require that a portion of the purchase
price be paid by a note. This method of payment, together with an escrow arrangement for
indemnification claims, is reflected in Section 2.3 of the Model Agreement. If the method of
payment includes a debt component, issues such as security, subordination, and post-closing
covenants will have to be resolved. Similarly, if the method of payment includes a stock
component, issues such as valuation, negative covenants and registration rights must be
addressed.

If a buyer and a seller cannot agree on the value of the assets, they may make a
portion of the purchase price contingent on the performance of the assets following the
acquisition. The contingent portion of the purchase price (often called an “earnout”) is
commonly based on the assets’ earnings over a specified period of time following the
acquisition. Although an earnout may bridge a gap between the buyer’s and the seller’s view
of the value of the assets, constructing an earnout raises many issues, including how earnings
will be determined, the formula for calculating the payment amount and how that amount
will be paid (cash or stock), how the acquired businesses will be operated and who will have
the authority to make major decisions, and the effect of a sale of the buyer during the earnout
period. Resolving these issues may be more difficult than agreeing on a purchase price.

The Model Agreement assumes that the parties have agreed upon a fixed price,
subject only to an adjustment based on the difference between the Seller’s working capital on
the date of the Balance Sheet and the date of Closing (see Sections 2.8 and 2.9).

24 LIABILITIES

(a) Assumed Liabilities. On the Closing Date, but effective as of the Effective Time,
Buyer shall assume and agree to discharge only the following Liabilities of Seller (the
“Assumed Liabilities’’):
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(b)

1) any trade account payable reflected on the Interim Balance Sheet (other than
a trade account payable to any Shareholder or a Related Person of Seller) which
remain unpaid at and are not delinquent as of the Effective Time;

(i1) any trade account payable (other than a trade account payable to any
Shareholder or a Related Person of Seller) that have been incurred by Seller in the
Ordinary Course of Business between the date of the Interim Balance Sheet and the
Closing Date which remains unpaid at and are not delinquent as of the Effective
Time;

(1)  any Liability to Seller’s customers incurred by Seller in the Ordinary Course
of Business for non-delinquent orders outstanding as of the Effective Time reflected
on Seller’s books (other than any Liability arising out of or relating to a Breach
which occurred prior to the Effective Time);

(iv)  any Liability to Seller’s customers under written warranty agreements in the
forms disclosed in Part 2.4(a)(iv) given by Seller to its customers in the Ordinary
Course of Business prior to the Effective Time (other than any Liability arising out of
or relating to a Breach which occurred prior to the Effective Time);

(v) any Liability arising after the Effective Time under the Seller Contracts
described in Part 3.20(a) (other than any Liability arising under the Seller Contracts
described on Part 2.4(a)(v) or arising out of or relating to a Breach which occurred
prior to the Effective Time);

(vi)  any Liability of Seller arising after the Effective Time under any Seller
Contract included in the Assets which is entered into by Seller after the date hereof in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement (other than any Liability arising
out of or relating to a Breach which occurred prior to the Effective Time); and

(vii)  any Liability of Seller described on Part 2.4(a)(vii).

Retained Liabilities. The Retained Liabilities shall remain the sole responsibility of

and shall be retained, paid, performed and discharged solely by Seller. “Retained
Liabilities” shall mean every Liability of Seller other than the Assumed Liabilities,
including:

5754336v.1

) any Liability arising out of or relating to products of Seller to the extent
manufactured or sold prior to the Effective Time other than to the extent assumed
under Section 2.4(a)(iii), (iv) or (v);

(i1) any Liability under any Contract assumed by Buyer pursuant to Section 2.4(a)
which arises after the Effective Time but which arises out of or relates to any Breach
that occurred prior to the Effective Time;

(iii))  any Liability for Taxes, including (A) any Taxes arising as a result of Seller’s
operation of its business or ownership of the Assets prior to the Effective Time, (B)
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any Taxes that will arise as a result of the sale of the Assets pursuant to this
Agreement and (C) any deferred Taxes of any nature;

(iv)  any Liability under any Contract not assumed by Buyer under Section 2.4(a),
including any Liability arising out of or relating to Seller’s credit facilities or any
security interest related thereto;

(v) any Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities arising out of or relating to
the operation of Seller’s business or Seller’s leasing, ownership or operation of real

property;,

(vi)  any Liability under the Employee Plans or relating to payroll, vacation, sick
leave, worker’s compensation, unemployment benefits, pension benefits, employee
stock option or profit-sharing plans, health care plans or benefits, or any other
employee plans or benefits of any kind for Seller’s employees or former employees,
or both;

(vii) any Liability under any employment, severance, retention or termination
agreement with any employee of Seller or any of its Related Persons;

(viii) any Liability arising out of or relating to any employee grievance whether or
not the affected employees are hired by Buyer;

(ix)  any Liability of Seller to any Shareholder or Related Person of Seller or any
Shareholder;

(x) any Liability to indemnify, reimburse or advance amounts to any officer,
director, employee or agent of Seller;

(xi)  any Liability to distribute to any of Seller’s shareholders or otherwise apply
all or any part of the consideration received hereunder;

(xii) any Liability arising out of any Proceeding pending as of the Effective Time,
whether or not set forth in the Disclosure Letter;

(xiii) any Liability arising out of any Proceeding commenced after the Effective
Time and arising out of, or relating to, any occurrence or event happening prior to the
Effective Time;

(xiv) any Liability arising out of or resulting from Seller’s non-compliance with
any Legal Requirement or Order of any Governmental Body;

(xv) any Liability of Seller under this Agreement or any other document executed
in connection with the Contemplated Transactions; and

(xvi) any Liability of Seller based upon Seller’s acts or omissions occurring after
the Effective Time.
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COMMENT

The differences between asset and stock acquisitions is clearly seen in the area of
liabilities. In a stock acquisition, the buyer, in effect, acquires all assets of the company
subject to all its liabilities. In an asset acquisition, the buyer typically will not agree to
assume all liabilities of the business being acquired, although some areas of liability may
follow the assets in the hands of a successor. See the discussion of successor liability
contained in Section IV above.

In an asset acquisition, the assumption and retention of liabilities is ordinarily a
heavily negotiated issue, dependent in large part upon the economic agreement of the parties.
The outcome of that negotiation will depend upon the results of the buyer’s due diligence
and negotiations between the parties on other economic matters.

As to approach, most buyers will desire to identify the liabilities they will assume
with as much specificity as practicable to reduce the chance for unanticipated exposure and
controversy. To protect itself after the closing, the buyer will want indemnification if for
some reason it is forced to pay any liability retained by the seller. It will be important to the
buyer to negotiate the indemnification provisions to reflect its agreement that retained
liabilities remain the responsibility of the seller. Counsel to the buyer must be aware of this
position in drafting limitations on the responsibility of the seller to indemnify, such as
collars, baskets, limitation periods on the initiation of claims and exclusivity of the
indemnification. Conversely, counsel to the seller needs to recognize that unlimited
indemnification for retained liabilities, broadly defined, can facilitate an end run by the buyer
around limitations on indemnification for breaches of representations and warranties.
Finally, knowledge about liabilities the seller is to retain, whether determined or contingent
as of the time of closing, may influence the buyer’s decision to require an escrow of part of
the purchase price, the amount to be held in escrow and its duration. See Article 11 (which
provides for indemnification) and Section 2.7 (subsections (a)(vii) and (b)(iil) require
execution of an escrow agreement).

The assumption and retention of liabilities set forth in the provisions of the Model
Agreement is based upon the specific fact situation posited. Those provisions do reflect at
least two general dividing lines which are likely to be the typical buyer’s position. The first
is that, except for specific liabilities arising before the closing which the buyer elects to
assume, the buyer will expect the seller to continue to be responsible for and pay all
liabilities of the seller’s business which arise out of or relate to circumstances before the
effective time. The second is that the buyer will only be willing to assume liabilities arising
in the ordinary course of the business of the seller.

The division of liabilities along these lines requires understanding of the seller’s
business which may not be easily achieved. For example, dividing liabilities arising from
nonserialized products, an artificial division based upon when the problem arises in relation
to the effective time may be the only practical way to assign responsibility. In addition, the
careful drafter will have to be concerned about consistency between the assumption and
other provisions of the agreement, the completeness of coverage and the inevitable
redundancies which may occur in specifically enumerating the liabilities the buyer will
assume. As a case in point, compare Section 2.4(a)(vi), which deals with the assumption of
liabilities under Seller Contracts (as broadly defined in Section 1.1 of the Model Agreement),
with Sections 2.4(a)(ii) and (iii), which deal with the assumption of liabilities under trade
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accounts payable and work orders, all of which may fall within the definition of Seller
Contracts.

The Model Agreement addresses the liabilities which the Buyer will assume in
subsection 2.4(a). In defining the term “Assumed Liabilities,” the Model Agreement
provides that the Buyer will take on only specifically enumerated liabilities. Special care
should be taken in areas where the description of liabilities to be assumed might be construed
to encompass contingent liabilities. The importance of the primacy of this enumeration is
demonstrated by the attention paid to avoid contrary indications in other provisions of the
Model Agreement. For example, Section 2.1, listing the assets to be transferred, is qualified
to indicate that the Buyer is not agreeing thereby to assume any liabilities of Seller unless
expressly assumed under Section 2.4(a). In addition, the specificity required to limit the
exposure of the Buyer is evident from analysis of the particular provisions of Section 2.4(a).

In clauses (i) and (ii) of Section 2.4(a), the Buyer’s agreement to assume trade
accounts payable is restricted to non-delinquent payables that are not paid before the
Effective Time. If the Buyer assumed delinquent payables, the Seller would have an
incentive to delay paying trade accounts. Payables not assumed must be paid by the Seller
under Section 10.3. In clause (i) the liabilities are particularly described by reference to the
Interim Balance Sheet which the Buyer has presumably received and examined before
execution of the agreement. The Interim Balance Sheet rather than the last audited Balance
Sheet (both of which are warranted by Seller under its representations) is used because it
provides a more current listing of the Seller’s trade accounts payable. As for trade accounts
payable arising from the date of the Interim Balance Sheet to the Closing Date, the
agreement of the Buyer is limited to liabilities arising in the Ordinary Course of Business.
Finally, the Buyer’s agreement to assume trade accounts payable does not include any such
payable to a Related Person of the Seller. This position is taken in the Model Agreement
because, at the time of a first draft, the Buyer may not know enough about such payables to
know that the underlying transactions are arm’s-length.

In Section 2.4(a)(iv), the Buyer only agrees to assume the warranty obligations of the
Seller under specifically identified forms of agreements given by the Seller in the Ordinary
Course of Business and does not assume any liability due to a breach before the effective
time. The intent of this provision is to avoid assuming products liability risk for products
manufactured or sold by the Seller before the closing. The allocation of product liability risk
between a seller and a buyer is determined not only by the extent to which the buyer
contractually assumes such risk, but also by the application of de facto merger and other
theories of successor liability. See Section IV above. The buyer may wish to address this
possibility through indemnification, taking into account the availability of existing and
potential insurance coverage for the risk.

Under clauses (v) and (vi) of Section 2.4(a), the Buyer agrees to assume liabilities
under Seller Contracts, but this assumption is limited in several respects. For Seller
Contracts existing at the time the agreement is signed, the Buyer will assume only those
liabilities and obligations arising under the specifically identified Seller Contracts listed in
Part 3.20 of the Disclosure Letter and not arising out of any Breach of those Seller Contracts.
As to Seller Contracts entered into between the date the agreement is signed and the
Effective Time, the Buyer’s assumption is further limited to those contracts which are
entered into by the Seller in compliance with the terms of the Model Agreement, most
importantly the Seller’s covenants in Section 5.2 about how it will operate its business
during that period. Because such covenants serve as the standard for determining the
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liabilities assumed under subsection (a)(vi), they should be scrutinized to avoid the Buyer’s
assumption of unanticipated liabilities.

In Section 2.4(b), the Model Agreement provides that if a liability is not specifically
assumed by the Buyer it remains the responsibility of the Seller. Although the drafter must
keep in mind the implications of the doctrine of ejusdem generis described elsewhere in this
Comment (see the Comment to Section 1.2), the list of Retained Liabilities found in this
subsection is intended to be illustrative of the types of liabilities retained but is not, by its
terms, intended to be exclusive. The benefit of such a list is to focus the parties’ attention on
the division of liabilities between them. Of course, as in the description of the liabilities to
be assumed and the coordination of that provision with other provisions of the Model
Agreement, care should be taken to avoid implications and ambiguities which might raise
questions about what liabilities the Buyer has agreed to assume. If there is concern about
which party will bear responsibility for a specific liability or category of liabilities, it should
be carefully addressed in the agreement. With regard to Section 2.4(b)(iii), note that some
state statutes prohibit sellers and buyers from agreeing that the seller will pay sales taxes.

2.5 ALLOCATION

The Purchase Price shall be allocated in accordance with Exhibit 2.5. After the Closing, the
parties shall make consistent use of the allocation, fair market value and useful lives specified in
Exhibit 2.5 for all Tax purposes and in any and all filings, declarations and reports with the IRS in
respect thereof, including the reports required to be filed under Section 1060 of the Code, if
applicable, it being understood that Buyer shall prepare and deliver IRS Form 8594 to Seller within
forty-five (45) days after the Closing Date if such form is required to be filed with the IRS. In any
Proceeding related to the determination of any Tax, neither Buyer nor Seller or Shareholders shall
contend or represent that such allocation is not a correct allocation.

COMMENT

From a federal tax perspective, a sale of the assets of a business is treated as if there
were a number of sales of individual assets. Section 2.5 represents the agreement between
the Buyer and the Seller as to how the aggregate purchase price is allocated among the
specific assets being purchased. The purpose of this agreement is to assure that both the
Buyer and the Seller are consistent in their reporting of the transaction for tax purposes. In
general, an arm’s-length agreement between the parties as to allocation of the purchase price
will be given effect, unless the IRS determines that the allocation is inappropriate.

An agreement on allocation is important for, in most asset transactions involving the
sale of an entire business, the parties will have to comply with Section 1060 of the Code.
Pursuant to Section 1060, both the buyer and the seller must file Form 8594 (Asset
Acquisition Statement under Section 1060) generally describing the allocation with their
returns for the year in which there was a transfer of assets used in a trade or business if (i)
any good will or going concern value could attach to any of the assets and (ii) the buyer’s
basis in the assets is determined wholly by the amount paid for the assets.

Compliance with Section 1060 will also require disclosure of the consideration paid
for employment or consulting agreements with stockholders of the seller who previously
were key employees. The IRS carefully monitors such arrangements and may recharacterize
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the amounts if there is not economic justification for such payments and the arrangements
are not reasonable.

Section 1060 does not require the buyer and seller to agree on a purchase price
allocation; and this agreement can be an unforeseen area of dispute between the parties
because of the different tax effects an allocation may have. From the seller’s perspective the
allocation determines how much, and the tax character (which may result in a material
differential in marginal rates) of, gain, loss or income the seller will recognize as a result of
the asset sale. For the buyer, the allocation will determine what value the assets will have on
its books for tax (and financial statement) purposes; and this determination will affect if and
how it can depreciate or amortize that purchase price against its income. In addition,
consequences other than direct income tax effects may give rise to controversy. For
example, a substantial allocation to land being sold may give rise to material real estate
transfer taxes and may affect future ad valorem property taxes. Also, different tax effects
may have an unfavorable impact on the financial statements of the seller or buyer.
Nonetheless, parties often agree to file identical IRS Forms 8594 to reduce the likelihood
that the IRS will scrutinize the allocation.

2.6 CLOSING

The purchase and sale provided for in this Agreement (the “Closing’) will take place at the

offices of Buyer’s counsel at , at 10:00 a.m. (local time) on the later of (i)
, , or (ii) the date that is five Business Days following the termination of the

applicable waiting period under the HSR Act, unless Buyer and Seller agree otherwise. Subject to
the provisions of Article 9, failure to consummate the purchase and sale provided for in this
Agreement on the date and time and at the place determined pursuant to this Section 2.6 will not
result in the termination of this Agreement and will not relieve any party of any obligation under this
Agreement. In such a situation, the Closing will occur as soon as practicable, subject to Article 9.

COMMENT

Depending on the nature of the acquisition and the interest of the parties in
completing the acquisition within a certain time frame, there are many ways to set the date of
the closing. See Freund, Anatomy of a Merger 321-23 (1975). Section 2.6 of the Model
Agreement provides that closing will take place on the later to occur of a specific date or five
days after the satisfaction of a specific condition to closing unless Buyer and Seller agree
otherwise. Buyer or Seller may want to add the right to postpone the closing for a specified
period of time if it is unable to satisfy a condition. Note that the term “Contemplated
Transactions” is not used in this Section 2.6 because some of the actions encompassed within
that defined term will occur after the Closing.

By specifying a date in clause (i) of Section 2.6, the parties have fixed the earliest
date that the closing may occur. This may be necessary in certain circumstances, such as
when the buyer wants to complete its due diligence investigation, needs to obtain financing
or will be required to give notice under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification
Act, 29 USC §§ 2101-2109 (the “WARN Act”), although these circumstances could also be
addressed by making these types of events conditions to closing and determining the closing
date by reference to their satisfaction. A party may wish to specify a particular closing date
if it suspects that the other party may be motivated to delay the closing. For example, a
buyer that uses a calendar year may not want to close in mid-December to avoid unnecessary

-76 -
5754336v.1



costs, such as preparation of a short-period tax return or interim financial statements for an
unusual period of time. Also, a seller may desire to close a transaction after the end of its
current tax year to defer the tax consequences of the transaction.

The second clause of Section 2.6 of the Model Agreement determines a closing date
by reference to a specific condition to the closing, in this case termination of the applicable
waiting period under the HSR Act. Generally, this type of clause attempts to fix the date
upon which closing will take place by reference to the condition to closing which the parties
expect will take the longest amount of time to satisfy. Conditions that typically take a long
time to satisfy include shareholder approval (in the case of a sale of all or substantially all of
the assets of the seller, depending upon state corporate law requirements), termination of the
waiting period under the HSR Act, expiration of the notice periods under the WARN Act,
receipt of all regulatory approvals (if seller is in a regulated industry) and receipt of all (or
certain specified) other third party consents (e.g., assignments of contracts or of industrial
revenue bonds where the assets being sold include real estate). When there is doubt about
which condition will take the most amount of time to satisfy, the parties might consider
agreeing to close the transaction within so many days after the satisfaction of the last
condition or certain specified conditions. The parties might keep in mind, however, that the
satisfaction of some conditions may be influenced by a party, even though the agreement
contains provisions (such as Sections 5.7 and 6.2 of the Model Agreement) requiring both
parties to use their best efforts to satisfy all conditions to the closing of the transaction.

There are also tax, accounting, and other practical considerations in scheduling the
closing. For example, if the buyer is paying the purchase price in funds that are not
immediately available (see comment to Section 2.7), the seller may not want to close on a
Friday (especially the Friday before a three-day weekend) because the seller would not have
use of the funds over the weekend. If the buyer is paying the purchase price by a wire
transfer of immediately available funds, the seller may want to determine the time by which
its bank must receive the funds in order to invest the funds overnight. The amount the seller
could lose as a result of not having use of the funds for a few days depends on the purchase
price, but may be substantial in large transactions. Further, if a physical inventory will be
performed shortly before closing, the parties may want to schedule the closing on a day and
at a time to permit this physical inventory with little disruption of the business.

The next to last sentence of Section 2.6 establishes that failure to consummate the
acquisition on the date and time and at the place specified does not relieve any party from its
obligations under the acquisition agreement or give any party an independent right to
terminate the acquisition agreement. The dates set forth in Section 2.6 should not be
confused with the ability to terminate the agreement under Section 9. Because of Section 2.6
providing that failure to close does not terminate the acquisition agreement, the Model
Agreement provides in Section 9.1(f) and (g) that either party may terminate the agreement if
the Closing has not taken place by a specified “drop dead” date. The inclusion of a drop
dead date assures the parties that they will not be bound by the acquisition agreement (and,
in particular, by pre-closing covenants) for an unreasonably long period of time. This drop
dead date could be placed in the closing section. It is typically placed in the termination
provision, however, to keep all termination rights in a single section. Notably, if Section 2.6
states a specific closing date without reference to conditions that must be met, the effect of
Sections 9.1(c) and 9.1(d) may be to give a party the right to terminate the agreement if the
Closing does not take place on the date specified.

2.7 CLOSING OBLIGATIONS
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In addition to any other documents to be delivered under other provisions of this Agreement,

at the Closing:

(a)

Seller and Shareholders, as the case may be, shall deliver to Buyer, together with

funds sufficient to pay all Taxes necessary for the transfer, filing or recording thereof:

5754336v.1

(1) a bill of sale for all of the Assets which are tangible personal property in the
form of Exhibit 2.7(a)(i) (the “Bill of Sale”) executed by Seller;

(i1) an assignment of all of the Assets which are intangible personal property in
the form of Exhibit 2.7(a)(ii), which assignment shall also contain Buyer’s
undertaking and assumption of the Assumed Liabilities (the ‘“Assignment and
Assumption Agreement”), executed by Seller;

(ii1))  for each interest in Real Property identified on Part 3.7(a) and (b), a
recordable warranty deed, an Assignment and Assumption of Lease in the form of
Exhibit 2.7(a)(ii1) or such other appropriate document or instrument of transfer, as
the case may require, each in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer and its
counsel and executed by Seller;

(iv)  assignments of all Intellectual Property Assets and separate assignments of all
registered Marks, Patents and Copyrights, in the form of Exhibit 2.7(a)(iv) executed
by Seller;

) such other deeds, bills of sale, assignments, certificates of title, documents
and other instruments of transfer and conveyance as may reasonably be requested by
Buyer, each in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer and its legal counsel and
executed by Seller;

(vi)  an employment agreement in the form of Exhibit 2.7(a)(vi), executed by
[ ] (the “Employment Agreement”’);

(vii) noncompetition agreements in the form of Exhibit 2.7(a)(vii), executed by
each Shareholder (the “Noncompetition Agreements”);

(viii) an escrow agreement in the form of Exhibit 2.7(a)(viii), executed by Seller
and the Shareholders and the escrow agent (the ‘“Escrow Agreement”);

(ix)  a certificate executed by Seller and each Shareholder as to the accuracy of
their representations and warranties as of the date of this Agreement and as of the
Closing in accordance with Section 7.1 and as to their compliance with and
performance of their covenants and obligations to be performed or complied with at
or before the Closing in accordance with Section 7.2; and

(x) a certificate of the Secretary of Seller certifying, as complete and accurate as
of the Closing, copies of the Governing Documents of Seller, certifying all requisite
resolutions or actions of Seller’s board of directors and shareholders approving the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the
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(b)

Contemplated Transactions and the change of name contemplated by Section 5.9 and
certifying to the incumbency and signatures of the officers of Seller executing this
Agreement and any other document relating to the Contemplated Transactions, and
accompanied by the requisite documents for amending the relevant Governing
Documents of Seller required to effect such change of name in form sufficient for
filing with the appropriate Governmental Body.

Buyer shall deliver to Seller and the Shareholders, as the case may be:

@) $ by wire transfer to an account specified by Seller at least three
(3) business days prior to Closing;

(ii) a promissory note executed by Buyer and payable to Seller in the principal
amount of $ in the form of Exhibit 2.7(b)(ii) (the “Promissory Note’);

(iii))  the Escrow Agreement, executed by Buyer and the escrow agent, together
with the delivery of $ to the escrow agent thereunder, by wire transfer
to an account specified by the escrow agent;

(iv)  the Assignment and Assumption Agreement executed by Buyer;
v) the Employment Agreement executed by Buyer;

(vi)  the Noncompetition Agreements executed by Buyer and $ by wire
transfer to an account specified by each Shareholder at least three (3) days prior to
the Closing Date;

(vii)  a certificate executed by Buyer as to the accuracy of its representations and
warranties as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing in
accordance with Section 8.1 and as to its compliance with and performance of its
covenants and obligations to be performed or complied with at or before the Closing
in accordance with Section 8.2; and

(viii) acertificate of the Secretary of Buyer certifying, as complete and accurate as
of the Closing Date, copies of the Governing Documents of Buyer and certifying all
requisite resolutions or actions of Buyer’s board of directors approving the execution
and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated herein and the incumbency and signatures of the officers of Buyer
executing this Agreement and any other document relating to the Contemplated
Transactions.

COMMENT

Because of the length and complexity of many acquisition agreements, and in

particular asset acquisition agreements, some drafters attempt to list all of the documents that
will be exchanged at the closing in a separate section so that the parties have a checklist, but
this is often impracticable. In addition, such a list may expose a party to liability because of
an obligation to deliver documents that must come from a non-party. To avoid unnecessary
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repetition and possible construction problems, the Model Agreement lists in this section only
those deliveries which are within the control of the party obligated to deliver them.

In Section 2.7, the parties covenant to make certain deliveries. The parties should be
aware of the distinction between (i) deliveries to be treated as covenants, the breach of which
will give the non-breaching party a right to damages, and (ii) deliveries to be treated as
conditions, the breach of which will give the non-breaching party the right to terminate the
acquisition (that is, a “walk right”) but not a right to damages. If the Seller fails to deliver a
particular transfer document, for example, the Buyer can pursue its damage remedy. In
contrast, if the Seller fails to deliver the legal opinion or consents (or other documents
reasonably requested by the Buyer) contemplated by Article 7 (the Buyer’s conditions), the
Buyer would have the right to terminate the acquisition, but it would not have the right to
damages unless the Seller breached its covenant in Section 5.7 to use its best efforts to obtain
such documents. If, however, the Seller covenanted to deliver a particular consent (because,
for example, the Seller or a party related to the Seller was the lessor under a lease which was
to be transferred and that required a consent), the Seller’s failure to deliver that consent
(regardless of the efforts used) would give the Buyer a right to damages as well as the right
to terminate the acquisition (see introductory comment to Article 7). Articles 7 and 8 of the
Model Agreement provide that the deliveries required by this Section 2.7 are conditions
precedent to the applicable party’s obligation to consummate the contemplated transaction.

Parties’ Closing Certificates. The reciprocal certificates required to be delivered at
the closing in regard to the accuracy of each party’s representations and warranties and the
performance of its covenants provide a basis for the post-closing indemnification remedies
under Sections 11.2(a) and (b) and 11.4(a) and (b). See Kling & Nugent Simon, Negotiated
Acquisitions of Companies, Subsidiaries and Divisions § 14.02[5] (1998). See also
Comment to Sections 7.1 and 8.1.

The parties may wish to specify by name or position the officers who are to execute
the closing certificates on behalf of the seller and the buyer (e.g. the chief executive officer
and the chief financial officer). The secretary will ordinarily be the officer executing
certificates dealing with corporate proceedings and approvals.

Officers who are asked to sign closing certificates might express concern about their
personal liability, particularly if they are not shareholders or otherwise benefiting from the
transaction. The buyer might claim that, in addition to its right to indemnification, it relied on
these certificates and was damaged to the extent that the statements made by the officers
were inaccurate. While there is a dearth of authority dealing specifically with this issue, there
have been instances where buyers have sought to recover directly against the officers signing
officers’ certificates based on theories of negligent misrepresentation and fraud. See, e.g.,
Morgan Guar. Trust Co. of N.Y. v. Tisdale, No. 95 Civ. 8023, 1996 WL 544240 (S.D.N.Y.
Sept. 25, 1996).

The seller’s counsel might attempt to minimize the officers’ exposure by adding a
knowledge qualification to the closing certificates and making it clear that the certificates are
being signed by the officers in their corporate capacity and not as individuals. This might be
objected to by the buyer’s counsel, particularly the knowledge qualification, because of a
concern over the effect it might have on the buyer’s indemnification rights. However, that
concern can be alleviated by adding to the certificate an express statement to the effect that
the knowledge qualification will have no such effect. The officers’ exposure might be less of
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a problem if the seller is successful in adding a clause to the effect that the indemnification
provisions are the sole remedy for any claims relating to the sale.

Manner of Payment. The Model Agreement provides for payment by wire transfer
because such transfers are the norm in most substantial transactions. In some circumstances,
however, the parties may choose, for various reasons, including the size of the transaction, to
have payment made by bank cashier’s or certified check. While all three forms of payment
are commonly used and should be acceptable to a seller, parties should be aware of certain
differences in a buyer’s ability to stop payment and in the availability of the funds for use by
a seller.

A certified check is a check of the drawer that contains the drawee bank’s
certification on its face. As aresult of the bank’s certification, the drawee bank’s liability is
substituted for that of the drawer. A cashier’s check is a check drawn by a bank on itself.
Thus, a cashier’s check is the primary promissory obligation of the drawee bank.

Once a certified check has been certified and delivered, and once a cashier’s check
has been delivered to the payee, the customer who procured the check has no right to stop
payment. Although there have been a few cases involving banks that stopped payment on
certified and cashier’s checks at the request of customers, courts generally have held that the
customer has no right to stop payment. See Clark, The Law of Bank Deposits, Collections
and Credit Cards | 3.06 (rev. ed. 1999) (citing cases).

Except for a wire transfer of federal funds, there is no difference among a cashier’s
check, a certified check and a wire transfer in terms of the availability of funds. For
cashier’s checks, certified checks, and wire transfers of clearinghouse funds, a bank into
which such checks are deposited or into which such wire transfers are sent is required to
make the funds available to the payee or beneficiary no later than the business day following
the deposit or receipt of the transfer. For wire transfers of federal funds, a bank is required to
make the funds available immediately on the date of receipt of the transfer. Therefore, if a
seller wants immediate use of the funds, the acquisition agreement should specify that
payment will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds. See generally Clark,
The Law of Bank Deposits, Collections and Credit Cards {{ 7.01-7.25 (rev. ed. 1999). If a
buyer is a foreign firm, a seller may want to specify that payments will be made in U.S.
dollars.

Promissory Notes. Exhibit 2.7(b)(ii) to the Model Agreement contains a form of the
Buyer’s promissory note to be delivered to the Seller. This promissory note is subject to the
rights of set-off in favor of the Buyer, which provide some security to the Buyer for the
enforcement of the Seller’s post-closing indemnification obligations. The promissory note
bears interest, is subject to prepayment without penalty, and may be accelerated following
the occurrence of an event of default.

The promissory note is neither subordinated to the rights of other creditors of the
Buyer nor secured by a security interest in favor of the Seller. Whether such features are
included depends on the proportion of the purchase price paid in cash at closing, the Buyer’s
need for third party financing, the financial strength of the party responsible for future
payments, the length of the payout period, the guaranty of future payments by another, and
the bargaining position of the parties.
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When a promissory note is subordinated with regard to payment, the parties must
determine the degree of subordination. A full subordination of payments prohibits any
payment of interest or principal under the note until completion of payment of all senior
debt. Alternatively, the parties may agree to prohibit subordinated payments only when an
event of default has occurred or in the event of a bankruptcy or reorganization proceeding
involving a buyer.

A seller in a strong bargaining position may demand collateral to secure a buyer’s
note, especially if the buyer is financially weak. The property to serve as collateral will vary,
but typically will come from the assets sold. A seller may take a security interest in all of the
assets sold, and in future replacements and substitutes for those assets, in order to be able to
take back the business in case of default. A similar resultis achieved if the assets when sold
go into a newly formed entity and the seller takes the ownership interest in that entity as
collateral. Alternatively, a seller may take a collateral interest in specific property which the
seller believes is of sufficient value and readily marketable. To prevent the value of the
collateral from being unduly diminished, a seller may also seek certain covenants from a
buyer regarding the operation of the company after closing. In addition or as a substitute, a
seller might obtain the guaranty of another party related to the buyer. A seller will desire to
perfect whatever security interest is taken in order to take the most superior position possible
as compared to other creditors, while a buyer may need to have that interest subordinated to
the interests of some or all of its other creditors.

A detailed discussion of the technical aspects of taking a secured interest to protect a
seller is beyond the scope of this Comment. However, if there is to be security for the
buyer’s note, the details of that understanding should be included in the agreement and the
forms of security documents attached to it as exhibits.

The promissory note is nonnegotiable to protect the Buyer’s set-off rights. See
Comment to Section 11.8.

Escrow Agreement. Exhibit 2.7(a)(viii) contains a form of escrow agreement
providing for an escrow of funds to assist the Buyer in realizing on any successful
indemnification claims that it may have under the acquisition agreement (see Article 11).
The escrow agreement may also be used to facilitate payment of the purchase price
adjustment amount. Consideration should also be given to whether the Buyer wants both an
escrow and a right of setoff. See the Comment to Section 11.8.

2.8 ADJUSTMENT AMOUNT AND PAYMENT

The “Adjustment Amount” (which may be a positive or negative number) will be equal to
the amount determined by subtracting the Closing Working Capital from the Initial Working Capital.
If the Adjustment Amount is positive, the Adjustment Amount shall be paid by wire transfer by
Seller to an account specified by Buyer. If the Adjustment Amount is negative, the Adjustment
Amount shall be paid by wire transfer by Buyer to an account specified by Seller. All payments
shall be made together with interest at the rate set forth in the Promissory Note, which interest shall
begin accruing on the Closing Date and end on the date that the payment is made. Within three (3)
business days after the calculation of the Closing Working Capital becomes binding and conclusive
on the parties pursuant to Section 2.9 of this Agreement, Seller or Buyer, as the case may be, shall
make the wire transfer payment provided for in this Section 2.8.
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COMMENT

The Model Agreement contains a purchase price adjustment mechanism to modify
the purchase price in the event of changes in the financial condition of the Seller during the
period between execution of the acquisition agreement and closing. Such a mechanism
permits the parties to lessen the potentially adverse impact of a flat price based on stale pre-
closing information. Through use of a purchase price adjustment mechanism, the parties are
able to modify the purchase price to reflect more accurately the Seller’s financial condition
as of the closing date. Not all transactions contain purchase price adjustment mechanisms,
however. Such mechanisms are complex in nature and are frequently the subject of
contentious negotiations. As a result, in many cases the parties rely on other mechanisms,
such as resorting to claims for breach of representations and warranties, indemnification
rights and walk away or termination provisions to achieve their objectives.

In the absence of a purchase price adjustment mechanism such as the one employed
in the Model Agreement, provision is frequently made for the proration of certain items
(such as rent under leases included within the Assumed Liabilities and ad valorem taxes with
respect to the Real Property and Tangible Personal Property) to ensure that the seller is
responsible for such liabilities only to the extent they cover periods up to and including the
date of closing and the buyer is responsible for such liabilities only to the extent they cover
periods subsequent to the closing. A proration mechanism is rarely appropriate if the parties
have agreed to such a purchase price adjustment mechanism. The following is a sample of
such a provision:

ADJUSTMENTS TO PURCHASE PRICE

The Purchase Price shall be subject to the following credits and adjustments, which
shall be reflected in the closing statements to be executed and delivered by Buyer
and Seller as hereinabove provided:

(a) Prorations. Any rents, prepaid items and other applicable items with
respect to the Assumed Liabilities shall be prorated as of the Closing Date. Seller
shall assign to Buyer all unused deposits with respect to the Assumed Liabilities and
shall receive a credit in the amount thereof with respect to the Purchase Price.

(b) Ad Valorem Taxes. Ad valorem real and tangible personal property taxes
with respect to the Assets for the calendar year in which the Closing occurs shall be
prorated between Seller and Buyer as of the Closing Date on the basis of no
applicable discount. If the amount of such taxes with respect to any of the Assets
for the calendar year in which the Closing occurs has not been determined as of the
Closing Date, then the taxes with respect to such Assets for the preceding calendar
year, on the basis of no applicable discount, shall be used to calculate such
prorations, with known changes in valuation or millage being applied. The prorated
taxes shall be an adjustment to the amount of cash due from Buyer at the Closing. If
the actual amount of any such taxes varies by more than Dollars
($ ) from estimates used at the Closing to prorate such taxes, then the
parties shall re-prorate such taxes within ten (10) days following request by either
party based on the actual amount of the tax bill.

The type of purchase price adjustment mechanism selected depends on the structure
of the transaction and the nature of the target company’s business. There are many
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yardsticks available for use as the basis of a post-closing adjustment to the nominal purchase
price. They can include, among others, book value, net assets, working capital, sales, net
worth or stockholders’ equity. In some cases it will be appropriate to adjust the purchase
price by employing more than one adjustment mechanism. For example, in a retail sales
business it may be appropriate to measure variations in both sales and inventory. Finally, the
nominal purchase may be subject to an upward or downward adjustment, or both. The
purchase price also may be adjusted dollar for dollar or by an amount equal to some multiple
of changes in the yardstick amount.

Because the Model Agreement was drafted on the basis of a fact pattern that
indicated that the Seller was a manufacturing concern with a full range of business activities,
for purposes of illustration the Model Agreement provides for an adjustment to the purchase
price based on changes in the Seller’s working capital. Working capital of the Seller is
determined as of the date of the Balance Sheet and the Closing Date and the nominal
purchase price is adjusted either upward or downward based upon the amount of the increase
or decrease in the level of the Seller’s working capital. To lessen the opportunity for
manipulation of the working capital amount during the measurement period, restrictions on
the Seller’s ability to manipulate its business operations and financial condition are set forth
in the Seller’s pre-closing covenants contained in Article 5.

The parties may also choose to place limits on the amount of the purchase price
adjustment. Depending on the relative bargaining position of the parties, the acquisition
agreement may provide an upper limit (a “cap” or “ceiling”) to any adjustment amount the
buyer will be obligated to pay the seller. As an alternative, the parties may agree upon an
upper limit to any adjustment amount the seller will be obligated to pay or give back to the
buyer after the closing, the effect of which is to reduce the final purchase price paid by the
buyer to a specified “floor.” The acquisition agreement may further provide for both a cap or
ceiling and a floor (when used in such combination, a “collar’’) on the adjustment amount.
The purchase price adjustment provision can also contain a de minimis “window” - i.e., a
range within which neither party pays a purchase price adjustment amount.

2.9 ADJUSTMENT PROCEDURE

(a) “Working Capital” as of a given date shall mean the amount calculated by
subtracting the current liabilities of Seller included in the Assumed Liabilities as of that date
from the current assets of Seller included in the Assets as of that date. The Working Capital
of Seller as of the date of the Balance Sheet (the “Initial Working Capital”) was
Dollars ($ ).

(b) Buyer shall prepare financial statements (“‘Closing Financial Statements’’) of Seller
as of the Effective Time and for the period from the date of the Balance Sheet through the
Effective Time on the same basis and applying the same accounting principles, policies and
practices that were used in preparing the Balance Sheet, including the principles, policies and
practices set forth on Exhibit 2.9. Buyer shall then determine the Working Capital as of the
Effective Time minus accruals in accordance with GAAP in respect of liabilities to be
incurred by Buyer after the Effective Time (the “Closing Working Capital”) based on the
Closing Financial Statements and using the same methodology as was used to calculate the
Initial Working Capital. Buyer shall deliver the Closing Financial Statements and its
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determination of the Closing Working Capital to Seller within sixty (60) days following the
Closing Date.

(©) If within thirty (30) days following delivery of the Closing Financial Statements and
the Closing Working Capital calculation, Seller has not given Buyer written notice of its
objection to the Closing Working Capital calculation (which notice shall state the basis of
Seller’s objection), then the Closing Working Capital calculated by Buyer shall be binding
and conclusive on the parties and be used in computing the Adjustment Amount.

(d) If Seller duly gives Buyer such notice of objection, and if Seller and Buyer fail to
resolve the issues outstanding with respect to the Closing Financial Statements and the
calculation of the Closing Working Capital within thirty (30) days of Buyer’s receipt of
Seller’s objection notice, Seller and Buyer shall submit the issues remaining in dispute to
, independent public accountants (the ‘“Independent
Accountants”) for resolution applying the principles, policies and practices referred to in
Section 2.9(b). If issues are submitted to the Independent Accountants for resolution, (i)
Seller and Buyer shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the Independent Accountants such
work papers and other documents and information relating to the disputed issues as the
Independent Accountants may request and are available to that party or its agents and shall
be afforded the opportunity to present to the Independent Accountants any material relating
to the disputed issues and to discuss the issues with the Independent Accountants; (ii) the
determination by the Independent Accountants, as set forth in a notice to be delivered to both
Seller and Buyer within sixty (60) days of the submission to the Independent Accountants of
the issues remaining in dispute, shall be final, binding and conclusive on the parties and shall
be used in the calculation of the Closing Working Capital; and (iii) Seller and Buyer will
each bear fifty percent (50%) of the fees and costs of the Independent Accountants for such
determination.

COMMENT

The specific terms of the business deal must be considered when developing a
purchase price adjustment mechanism. For example, if the transaction contemplates an
accounts receivable repurchase obligation requiring the Seller to repurchase all or a portion
of its accounts receivable not collected prior to a certain date, the purchase price adjustment
procedure must take such repurchases into account when determining the adjustment
amount. The Model Agreement provides that the Buyer will prepare the Closing Financial
Statements and calculate the Working Capital as of the Effective Time. To account for the
effects of the underlying transaction, Working Capital is limited to the difference between
the current liabilities of the Seller included in the Assumed Liabilities and the current assets
of the Seller included in the Assets.

To minimize the potential for disputes with respect to the determination of the
adjustment amount, the acquisition agreement specifies the manner in which the adjustment
amount is calculated and the procedures to be utilized in determining the adjustment
yardstick as of a given date. The Model Agreement addresses this objective by stating that
the Closing Financial Statements shall be prepared on the same basis and applying the same
accounting principles, policies and practices that were used in preparing the Balance Sheet,
including the principles, policies and practices listed on Exhibit 2.9. Therefore, the buyer’s
due diligence ordinarily will focus not only on the items reflected on the Balance Sheet, but
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also on the accounting principles, policies and practices used to produce it, as it may be
difficult for the Buyer to dispute these matters after Closing. For cost, timing and other
reasons, the parties may elect to prepare less comprehensive financial statements for the
limited purpose of determining the adjustment amount. Determination of the adjustment
amount will depend upon the type of financial statements which have been prepared and
special accounting procedures may need to be employed in calculating the adjustment
components. Where the parties engage the accountant to issue a report of findings based
upon the application of agreed-upon procedures to specified elements, accounts or items of a
financial statement, such agreed-upon procedures should follow applicable statements on
accounting standards and be clearly set forth in the acquisition agreement. See Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 75, “Engagements to Apply Agreed-Upon Procedures to Specified
Elements, Accounts, or Items of a Financial Statement,” and Statement on Standards for
Attestation Engagements No. 4, “Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements.” Unless
consistent accounting principles, policies and practices are applied, the purchase price
adjustment will not be insulated from the effects of changes in accounting principles, policies
and practices. Since purchase price adjustment mechanisms rely heavily on the application
of accounting principles and methods to particular fact situations, the input of the parties’
accountants is important to the crafting of a mechanism which is responsive to the facts and
workable and reflects the expectations and intentions of the parties in establishing the
ultimate purchase price.

Provisions establishing dispute resolution procedures follow the provisions for the
initial determination and objection. If the parties are unable to resolve amicably any disputes
with respect to the Closing Financial Statements and the Closing Working Capital, Section
2.9(d) provides for dispute resolution by independent accountants previously agreed to by
the parties. If the acquisition agreement does not specify who will serve as the independent
accountants, the parties should establish the procedure for selection. Even if the independent
accountants are named, it may be wise to provide replacement procedures in case a
post-closing conflict arises with respect to the selection of the independent accountants (e.g.,
through merger of the independent accountants with accountants for the Buyer or the Seller).

The procedure to be followed and the scope of authority given for resolution of
disputes concerning the post-closing adjustments vary in acquisition agreements. Section 2.9
provides that the Buyer will determine the Working Capital based on the Closing Financial
Statements using the same methodology as was used to calculate the Initial Working Capital.
The Closing Financial Statements and the Buyer’s determination of the Closing Working
Capital are then delivered to the Seller and, if the Seller has not objected within the requisite
time period to the Closing Working Capital calculation (stating the basis of the objection),
the calculation is “binding and conclusive on the parties.” If the Seller objects and the issues
outstanding are not resolved, the “issues remaining in dispute” are to be submitted to the
accountants for resolution “applying the principles, policies and practices referred to in
Section 2.9(b).” The determination by the accountants of the issues remaining in dispute is
“final, binding and conclusive on the parties” and is to be used in the calculation of the
Closing Working Capital.

The procedure set forth in Section 2.9 does not provide for the accountants to act as
arbitrators, and there is no separate arbitration provision governing disputes under the Model
Agreement. See the Comment to Section 13.4. However, Section 2.9 provides that the
determination by the accountants is to be “final, binding and conclusive” on the parties. To
what extent will this determination be binding on the parties, arbitrable or confirmable by a
court? This is largely a question of state law, except that the Federal Arbitration Act will
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preempt any state law that conflicts or stands as an obstacle to the purpose of the Act to favor
arbitration. The issue is often addressed in the context of a motion to compel arbitration by
one of the parties to the acquisition agreement. The Court in Talegen Holdings, Inc. v.
Fremont Gen. Corp., No. 98 Civ. 0366 (DC), 1998 WL 513066, *3 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 19,
1998), dealt with such a motion as follows:

In resolving a motion to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act. . . ,a
court must: (1) determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate; (2) ascertain the
scope of that agreement to see if the claims raised in the lawsuit fall within the terms
of the agreement; (3) if federal statutory claims are asserted, decide whether
Congress has deemed those claims to be nonarbitrable; and (4) if some, but not all
claims are to be arbitrated, determine whether to stay the balance of the proceedings
pending arbitration.

It then stated that “[c]ourts have consistently found that purchase price adjustment dispute
resolution provisions such as the one at issue here constitute enforceable arbitration
agreements.” Id. The clauses providing for dispute resolution mechanisms need not
expressly provide for arbitration in order for a court to determine that the parties have agreed
to arbitration.

If a court determines that the parties agreed to arbitration, the extent to which
arbitration will be compelled under the Federal Arbitration Act depends on whether the
provision is broadly or narrowly drawn. A broad clause creates a presumption of
arbitrability, whereas a narrow clause allows a court to consider “whether the claims fall
reasonably within the scope of that clause.” Id. Even with a narrow provision, “[b]ecause the
[Federal Arbitration Act] embodies Congress’s strong preference for arbitration, ‘any doubts
concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.”* Id.; see
also Wayrol Plc v. Ameritech Corp., No. 98 Civ. 8451 (DC), 1999 WL 259512 (S.D.N.Y.
April 30, 1999); Advanstar Communications, Inc. v. Beckley-Cardy, Inc., No. 93 Civ. 4230
(KTD), 1994 WL 176981 at *3 (S.D.N.Y. May 6, 1994) (while a narrow clause must be
construed in favor of arbitration, courts may not disregard boundaries set by the agreement).

The question of what comes within the arbitrable issues is a matter of law for a court.
If the dispute arises over the accounting methods used in calculating the closing working
capital or net worth, a court might compel arbitration as to those issues. See Advanstar, 1994
WL 176981 (clauses allowing arbitration of disagreements about balance sheet calculations
“include disputes over the accounting methods used”). A court can disregard whether the
claims might be characterized in another way. See Talegen at *17. On the other hand, some
courts require that the provision include on its face the issue in dispute. In Gestetner
Holdings, Plc v. Nashua Corp., 784 F. Supp. 78 (S.D.N.Y. 1992), the Court held that an
objection to the closing net book value includes an objection about whether the closing
balance sheet failed to comply with generally accepted accounting principles; however, the
Court did not rule on whether the initial balance sheet, for which the defendant argued that
indemnification was the exclusive remedy, could also be considered an arbitrable dispute.
See also Gelco Corp. v. Baker Inds., Inc., 779 F.2d 26 (8th Cir. 1985) (clause covering
disputes concerning adjustments to closing financial statements did not encompass state
court claims for breach of contract); Twin City Monorail, Inc. v. Robbins & Myers, Inc., 728
F.2d 1069 (8th Cir. 1984) (clause extended only to disputed inventory items and not to all
disputes arising out of the contract); Basix Corp. v. Cubic Corp.,No. 96 Civ. 2478, 1996 WL
517667 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 11, 1996) (clause applied only to well-defined class of
disagreements over the closing balance sheet); Stena Line (U.K.) Ltd. v. Sea Containers Ltd.,
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758 F.Supp. 934 (S.D.N.Y. 1991) (only limited issues concerning impact of beginning
balance sheet on later balance sheet are arbitrable); Medcom Holding Co. v. Baxter Travenol
Lab., Inc., 689 F.Supp. 841 (N.D. IlI. 1988) (clause limited to accounts or items on balance
sheet does not encompass objections to valuation of property or accounting principles by
which property is valued).

The scope of the accountants’ authority in Section 2.9(d) is expressly limited to
those issues remaining in dispute and does not extend more broadly to the Closing Financial
Statements or to the calculation of the Initial Working Capital or the Closing Working
Capital. The authority cited above suggests that if there is a dispute over whether the
financial statements from which the Initial Working Capital or the Closing Working Capital
are calculated have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles or reflect the consistent application of those principles, the Buyer may not be able
to resolve the matter under the procedure established in Section 2.9(c) and (d). However, it
might be able to make a claim for indemnification based on a breach of the financial
statement representations and warranties in Section 3.4. If any of the items in the financial
statements from which Initial Working Capital is computed are in error, the inaccuracy could
affect the Adjustment Amount payable under Section 2.8. Again, the Buyer’s recourse might
be limited to a claim for indemnification. If the error is to the disadvantage of the Seller, it
may not be able to restate the financial statements or cause the Initial Working Capital to be
adjusted and therefore would have no recourse for its own error. See Melun Indus., Inc. v.
Strange, 898 F.Supp. 995 (S.D.N.Y. 1992).

In view of this authority, the buyer may wish to weigh the advantages and
disadvantages of initially providing for a broad or narrow scope of issues to be considered by
the accountants. By narrowing the issues, it will focus the accountants on the disputed
accounting items and prevent them from opening up other matters concerning the preparation
of the financial statements from which the working capital calculation is derived. However,
reconsideration of some of the broader accounting issues might result in a different overall
resolution for the parties. The buyer might also consider whether to provide that the
accountants are to act as arbitrators, thereby addressing the question of arbitrability, at least
as to the issues required to be submitted to the accountants. This may, however, have
procedural or other implications under the Federal Arbitration Act or state law.

The phrase “issues remaining in dispute” in the second sentence of Section 2.9(d)
limits the inquiry of the independent accountants to the specific unresolved items. The
parties might consider parameters on the submission of issues in dispute to the independent
accountants. For example, they could agree that if the amount in dispute is less than a
specified amount, they will split the difference and avoid the costs of the accountants’ fees
and the time and effort involved in resolving the dispute. The parties may also want to
structure an arrangement for the payment of amounts not in dispute.

Purchase price adjustment mechanisms do not work in isolation and the seller may
want to include in these provisions a statement to the effect that any liabilities included in the
calculation of the adjustment amount will not give the buyer any right to indemnification.
The rationale for such a clause is that the buyer is protected from damages associated with
such claims by the purchase price adjustment. See Brim Holding Company, Inc. v. Province
Healthcare Company, 2008 Tenn. App. LEXIS 325 (May 28, 2008), in which a stock
purchase agreement indemnification section provision requiring seller to indemnify buyer for
any losses from a specified proceeding was held to entitle the buyer to receive the entire
amount paid in settlement of the case even though seller had pursuant to the working capital
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adjustment section reduced the purchase price by a portion of the amount paid in settlement
(the seller’s argument that the buyer was “double dipping” by getting both a working capital
adjustment and an indemnification payment for the same amount was rejected by the Court).

2.10 CONSENTS

(a) If there are any Material Consents which have not yet been obtained (or otherwise are
not in full force and effect) as of the Closing, in the case of each Seller Contract as to which
such Material Consents were not obtained (or otherwise are not in full force and effect) (the
“Restricted Material Contracts’), Buyer may waive the closing conditions as to any such
Material Consent, and either:

(1) elect to have Seller continue its efforts to obtain the Material Consents, or

(i1) elect to have Seller retain that Restricted Material Contract and all Liabilities
arising therefrom or relating thereto.

If Buyer elects to have Seller continue its efforts to obtain any Material Consents and the
Closing occurs, notwithstanding Sections 2.1 and 2.4, neither this Agreement nor the
Assignment and Assumption Agreement nor any other document related to the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions shall constitute a sale, assignment,
assumption, transfer, conveyance or delivery, or an attempted sale, assignment, assumption,
transfer, conveyance or delivery, of the Restricted Material Contracts, and following the
Closing, the parties shall use Best Efforts, and cooperate with each other, to obtain the
Material Consent relating to each Restricted Material Contract as quickly as practicable.
Pending the obtaining of such Material Consents relating to any Restricted Material
Contract, the parties shall cooperate with each other in any reasonable and lawful
arrangements designed to provide to Buyer the benefits of use of the Restricted Material
Contract for its term (or any right or benefit arising thereunder, including the enforcement for
the benefit of Buyer of any and all rights of Seller against a third party thereunder). Once a
Material Consent for the sale, assignment, assumption, transfer, conveyance and delivery of
a Restricted Material Contract is obtained, Seller shall promptly assign, transfer, convey and
deliver such Restricted Material Contract to Buyer, and Buyer shall assume the obligations
under such Restricted Material Contract assigned to Buyer from and after the date of
assignment to Buyer pursuant to a special-purpose assignment and assumption agreement
substantially similar in terms to those of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement (which
special-purpose agreement the parties shall prepare, execute and deliver in good faith at the
time of such transfer, all at no additional cost to Buyer).

(b) If there are any Consents not listed on Exhibit 7.3 necessary for the assignment and
transfer of any Seller Contracts to Buyer (the “Non-Material Consents’) which have not
yet been obtained (or otherwise are not in full force and effect) as of the Closing, Buyer shall
elect at the Closing, in the case of each of the Seller Contracts as to which such Non-Material
Consents were not obtained (or otherwise are not in full force and effect) (the “Restricted
Non-Material Contracts’’), whether to

1) accept the assignment of such Restricted Non-Material Contract, in which
case, as between Buyer and Seller, such Restricted Non-Material Contract shall, to
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the maximum extent practicable and notwithstanding the failure to obtain the
applicable Non-Material Consent, be transferred at the Closing pursuant to the
Assignment and Assumption Agreement as elsewhere provided under this
Agreement, or

(1)  reject the assignment of such Restricted Non-Material Contract, in which
case, notwithstanding Sections 2.1 and 2.4 hereof, (A) neither this Agreement nor the
Assignment and Assumption Agreement nor any other document related to the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions shall constitute a sale, assignment,
assumption, conveyance or delivery, or an attempted sale, assignment, assumption,
transfer, conveyance or delivery, of such Restricted Non-Material Contract, and (B)
Seller shall retain such Restricted Non-Material Contract and all Liabilities arising

therefrom or relating thereto.
COMMENT

Section 2.10 addresses the issue of how to handle situations where required third
party consents are not obtained prior to the Closing. The Section provides for different
approaches if the contracts are material or non-material.

This differentiation is made by use of Exhibit 7.3. On that Exhibit, the Buyer
designates those contracts which are important enough that the Buyer reserves a right not to
consummate the transaction if the required consents are not obtained. In preparing Exhibit
7.3, the Buyer should be careful so as not to omit non-material contracts if a group or
significant number of them, each individually non-material, may be material when
considered collectively.

If the Buyer does agree to close where a material consent has not yet been obtained,
the Buyer has an election under Section 2.10. The Buyer can either have the Seller continue
its efforts to obtain the consent or have the Seller retain the material contract.

A seller may object to the buyer’s right to elect to have the seller retain a material
contract after the business is sold. Under such circumstances, the seller may be in a difficult
position to meet its obligations under the contract, particularly if it is exiting the business
sold. The seller could also argue that such an election may materially alter its realization
from the transaction and, therefore, its desire to sell. If the seller agrees to this kind of
provision, the seller may insist on a right to renegotiate the purchase price depending on the
material contract to be retained. As an alternative, the seller might negotiate a limitation on
the application to specific material contracts. Whether the buyer will have the ability to
insist on the inclusion of this provision is a matter of the parties’ relative bargaining
positions.

If the Buyer elects to have the Seller continue its efforts to obtain consent, Section
2.10(a) provides that (i) the contract is not yet assigned to the Buyer (because such a
purported assignment might not be valid, and would be in violation of the assignment
restrictions of the contract, and therefore the third party might attempt to cancel the contract
or bring a claim for breach thereof), (ii) in the interest of leaving the parties as close as
possible to the positions bargained for in the Model Agreement, the parties must do all they
legally and reasonably can to procure for the Buyer the benefits the Buyer would have
received had the contract been assigned at the Closing, (iii) the parties must continue after
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the Closing to attempt to obtain the missing consent (note that parties will sometimes
negotiate the issue of how long these efforts must continue), and (iv) once the missing
consent relating to a particular contract is obtained, that contract will be assigned to and
assumed by the Buyer pursuant to a special-purpose assignment and assumption agreement
which will generally follow the form of the assignment and assumption agreement attached
as Exhibit 2.7(a)(ii). Parties might prefer to reach agreement on the form of the
special-purpose assignment and assumption agreement in advance.

Section 2.10(b) deals with consent to non-material contracts. Examples of
non-material contracts might be the lease of the office postage meter, the photocopier
machine service agreement and the water cooler rental agreement. Often, such non-material
contracts are cancelable by either party upon 30 days’ notice, are contracts which simply
provide for pay-as-you-go services, are contracts for which a substitute is readily available,
or are contracts where the third party vendor is not likely to care who the contracting party is
so long as the third party is paid in a timely manner.

Section 2.10(b) provides the Buyer at the Closing with an election as to each
Restricted Non-Material Contract as to which a required consent has not been obtained by
the Closing. The Buyer can choose to have the contract assigned to it even in violation of
the contract’s assignment provisions, figuring that (i) the risk of the third party canceling the
contract or bringing a breach of contract claim if and when such third party becomes aware
of the unauthorized transfer is not significant, or (ii) even if such cancellation of or claim
under the contract is pursued by the third party, the amount of potential damages is minimal.
Alternatively, the Buyer can elect not to take the contract, forcing the Seller to retain the
contract and all the liabilities thereunder.

Arguably, it should be a buyer’s decision whether to accept or reject non-material
contracts where consents have not been obtained. After all, it is the buyer’s post-closing
operation of the business which will suffer if the contracts are not assigned, so a buyer
should decide what contracts it truly needs. However, the seller may argue that it too can be
held responsible if a contract is purportedly assigned in violation of the assignment
restrictions of such contract, and therefore that the seller should have some say in whether or
not such a contract is transferred to a buyer in violation of the assignment restrictions (or at
least should be protected in some way, such as through indemnification, if the third party
pursues a claim against the seller). The parties’ negotiating positions and strengths will
govern the outcome of this issue.

Sections 5.4, 5.7, 6.1 and 6.2 will have to be coordinated so as to clarify that the
parties must cooperate to obtain both the Material Consents and the Non-Material Consents
before the Closing.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER AND
SHAREHOLDERS

Seller and each Shareholder represent and warrant, jointly and severally, to Buyer as follows:
COMMENT

The Seller’s representations and warranties are the Seller’s and the Shareholders’
formal description of the Seller and its business. The technical difference between
representations and warranties — representations are statements of past or existing facts and
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warranties are promises that existing or future facts are or will be true — has proven
unimportant in acquisition practice. See Freund, Anatomy of a Merger 153 (1975).
Separating them explicitly in an acquisition agreement is a drafting nuisance, and the legal
import of the separation has been all but eliminated. See Reliance Finance Corp. v. Miller,
557 F.2d 674, 682 (9th Cir. 1977) (the distinction between representations and warranties is
inappropriate when interpreting a stock acquisition agreement). The commentary to the
Model Agreement generally refers only to representations.

Representations, if false, may support claims in tort and also claims for breach of an
implied warranty, breach of an implied promise that a representation is true, or breach of an
express warranty if the description is basic to the bargain. Cf. U.C.C. § 2-313. See generally
Business Acquisitions ch. 31 (Herz & Baller eds., 2d ed. 1981). The Model Agreement,
following common practice, stipulates remedies for breaches of representations that are
equivalent to those provided for breaches of warranties (see Sections 1.1 (definition of
“Breach”), 7.1 and 7.2 (conditions to the Buyer’s obligations to complete the acquisition),
and 11.2(a) (the Seller’s and the Shareholders’ indemnification obligations)).

Purposes of the Seller’s Representations: The seller’s representations serve three
overlapping purposes. First, they are a device for obtaining disclosure about the seller before
the signing of the acquisition agreement. A thorough buyer’s draft elicits information about
the seller and its business relevant to the buyer’s willingness to buy the assets. For example,
because the Model Agreement was drafted on the basis of a fact pattern that assumed that the
Seller has no subsidiaries, the representations in the Model Agreement reflect this
assumption. If a seller has subsidiaries, the buyer’s draft needs to elicit information
regarding the subsidiaries.

The seller’s representations also provide a foundation for the buyer’s right to
terminate the acquisition before or at the closing. After the signing of the acquisition
agreement and before the closing, the buyer usually undertakes a due diligence investigation
of the seller. Detailed representations give the buyer, on its subsequent discovery of adverse
facts, the right not to proceed with the acquisition, even if the adverse facts do not rise to the
level of common law “materiality” defined by judges in fraud and contract cases (see Section
7.1 and the related Comment).

Finally, the seller’s representations affect the buyer’s right to indemnification by the
seller and the shareholders (and other remedies) if the buyer discovers a breach of any
representation after the closing (see Section 11.2 and the related Comment). In this regard,
the seller’s representations serve as a mechanism for allocating economic risks between the
buyer and the seller and the shareholders. Sellers often resist the argument that
representations simply allocate economic risk on the basis that civil and criminal liabilities
can result from making false statements. The buyer will typically request that the
shareholders’ indemnification obligations be joint and several; as to this and the allocation of
responsibility among the shareholders, see the Comment to Section 11.2.

Scope of Seller’s Representations: The scope and extent of the seller’s
representations and warranties largely will be dependent upon the relative bargaining power
of the parties. Where there is competition for a seller or the acquisition presents a particularly
attractive opportunity, the buyer might scale down the representations so as not to adversely
affect its ability to make the acquisition. In scaling down the representations, consideration
must be given to their relative benefit to the buyer in terms of the degree and likelihood of
exposure and their materiality to the ongoing business operations.
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The representations and warranties will also reflect particular concerns of the Buyer.
In some cases, these concerns can be satisfied through the conduct of due diligence without
having to obtain a specific representation. In other cases, the Buyer will insist upon
additional comfort from the Seller through its representations backed up by indemnification.

The representations in the Model Agreement are based on a fact pattern which
characterizes the Seller as a manufacturer with a full range of business activities, including
advisory and consulting services provided to customers. The representations would look
somewhat different if the Seller were strictly a service provider. Similarly, representations
often are added to address specific concerns that pertain to the industry in which the seller
operates. For example, representations concerning the adequacy of reserves would be
appropriate for an insurance company and representations concerning compliance with
certain federal and state food and drug laws would be appropriate for a medical device or
drug manufacturer. If it were to have subsidiaries that are part of the Assets being acquired
by the Buyer, the representations should be expanded to include their organization,
capitalization, assets, liabilities and operations. An example of the incorporation of
subsidiaries in the representations and in certain other provisions of an acquisition agreement
can be found in the MODEL STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH
COMMENTARY. Similar changes should be made for any partnerships, limited liability
companies or other entities owned or controlled by the Seller. The scope of the
representations also changes over time to address current issues. Examples are the extensive
environmental representations that began to appear in the late 1980s and the Year 2000
representations that were commonly sought by buyers in the late 1990s. See Section 3.26.

Considerations When Drafting “Adverse Effect” Language in Representations: The
importance of the specific wording of the Seller’s representations cannot be emphasized too

much because they provide the foundation for both the Buyer’s “walk rights” in Section 7.1
and the Buyer’s indemnification rights in Section 11.2.

Consider, for example, the following simplified version of the litigation
representation: ‘“There is no lawsuit pending against Seller that will have an adverse effect on
Seller.” The phrase “that will have an adverse effect on Seller” clearly provides adequate
protection to the Buyer in the context of a post-closing indemnification claim against the
Seller and the Shareholders. If there is a previously undisclosed lawsuit against the Seller
that has an adverse effect on the Seller (because, for example, a judgment is ultimately
rendered against the Seller in the lawsuit), the Buyer will be able to recover damages from
the and the Seller and the Shareholders because of the breach of the litigation representation
(see subsection 11.2(a)). However, the quoted phrase may not adequately protect the Buyer
if the Buyer is seeking to terminate the acquisition because of the lawsuit. To terminate the
acquisition (without incurring any liability to the Seller), the Buyer will have to demonstrate,
on the scheduled closing date, that the lawsuit “will have an adverse effect on Seller” (see
Section 7.1). The buyer may find it difficult to make this showing, especially if there is
doubt about the ultimate outcome of the lawsuit.

To address this problem, a Buyer might be tempted to reword the litigation
representation so that it covers lawsuits that “could reasonably be expected to have” an
adverse effect on the seller (as distinguished from lawsuits that definitely “will” have such an
effect). However, while this change in wording clearly expands the scope of the Buyer’s
“walk rights,” it may actually limit the Buyer’s indemnification rights, because even if the
lawsuit ultimately has an adverse effect on the Seller, the Seller and its shareholders may be
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able to avoid liability to the Buyer by showing that, as of the closing date, it was
unreasonable to expect that the lawsuit would have such an effect.

To protect both its indemnification rights and its “walk rights” in the context of
undisclosed litigation, the Buyer may propose that the litigation representation be reworded
to cover any lawsuit “that may have an adverse effect” on the Seller (see Section 3.15(a)). If
a seller objects to the breadth of this language, the Buyer may propose, as a compromise, that
the litigation representation be reworded to cover lawsuits “that will, or that could reasonably
be expected to,” have an adverse effect on the seller.

Finally, an aggressive Buyer may propose to create “walk rights” for any litigation
that “if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect.” A Seller should object to the breadth of this provision because, in addition to
including the broad language referred to above, this provision permits the Buyer to presume
an adverse outcome of the litigation. As a result, it materially expands the Buyer’s “walk
rights.”

Considerations When Drafting Representations Incorporating Specific Time Periods:
Representations that focus on specific time periods require careful drafting because of the
“bring down” clause in Section 7.1 (the clause stating that the Seller’s representations must
be accurate as of the closing date as if made on the closing date). For example, consider the
representation in Section 3.17(a)(iii), which states that the Seller has not received notice of
any alleged legal violation “since” a specified date. Absent a cut-off date, this would require
disclosure of all violations since the organization of the Seller. In some acquisition
agreements, this representation is worded differently, stating that no notice of an alleged
violation has been received at any time during a specified time period (such as a five-year
period) “prior to the date of this agreement.” If the representation were drafted in this
manner, the Buyer would not have a “walk right” if the Seller received notice of a significant
alleged violation between the signing date and the closing date — the representation would
remain accurate as “brought down” to the scheduled closing date pursuant to Section 7.1(a),
because the notice would not have been received “prior to” the date of the Agreement. In
contrast, if the representation were drafted as in Section 3.17(a)(iii), the representation would
be materially inaccurate as “brought down” to the scheduled closing date (because the notice
of the alleged violation would have been received “since” the date specified in Section
3.17(a)(iii)), and the Buyer therefore would have a “walk right” pursuant to Section 7.1(a).

The Effect of “Knowledge” Qualifications in Representations: Sections 3.14, 3.16,
3.18, 3.20, 3.22, 3.23, 3.24, 3.25, 3.33 and 4.3 contain “knowledge” qualifications. The
addition of knowledge qualifications to the representations in Article 3 can significantly limit
the Buyer’s post-closing indemnification rights (by shifting to the Buyer the economic risks
of unknown facts). However, such qualifications should not affect the Buyer’s “walk rights”
under Section 7.1. If, before the Closing, the Buyer learns of a fact (not already known to
the Seller) that is inconsistent with a representation containing a knowledge qualification, the
Buyer should simply disclose this fact to the Seller. The Seller will thus acquire knowledge
of the fact, and the representation will be inaccurate despite the knowledge qualification. For
further discussion of knowledge qualifications, see the Comments to the definition of
“Knowledge” in Section 1.1 and to the sections listed above.

The Absence of “Materiality” Qualifications: The Seller’s representations in the
Model Agreement generally do not contain materiality qualifications. Rather, the issue of
materiality is addressed in the remedies sections. Section 7.1(a) specifies that only material
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breaches of representations give the Buyer a “walk right.” Section 7.1(b) covers the few
representations that contain their own materiality qualification (see the Comment to Section
7.1). The indemnification provisions replace a general and open-ended materiality
qualification with a carefully quantified “basket” in Section 11.6 that exonerates the Seller
and the Shareholders from liability for breaches resulting in damages below a specified
amount. Alternatively, the Buyer could acquiesce to some materiality qualifications in
Article 3 but eliminate or reduce the “basket” to prevent “double-dipping.”

The Absence of a “Bring Down” Representation: For a discussion of the absence of
a “bring down” representation in the Model Agreement, see the comment to Section 7.1.

3.1 ORGANIZATION AND GOOD STANDING

(a) Part 3.1(a) contains a complete and accurate list of Seller’s jurisdiction of
incorporation and any other jurisdictions in which it is qualified to do business as a foreign
corporation. Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing
under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, with full corporate power and authority to
conduct its business as it is now being conducted, to own or use the properties and assets that
it purports to own or use, and to perform all its obligations under the Seller Contracts. Seller
is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing under the
laws of each state or other jurisdiction in which either the ownership or use of the properties
owned or used by it, or the nature of the activities conducted by it, requires such
qualification.

(b) Complete and accurate copies of the Governing Documents of Seller, as currently in
effect, are attached to Part 3.1(b).

(©) Seller has no Subsidiary and, except as disclosed in Part 3.1(c), does not own any
shares of capital stock or other securities of any other Person.

COMMENT

In an asset acquisition, the buyer’s primary concern is that the business of the seller
has been operated properly prior to the execution of the acquisition agreement and will
continue to be so operated between the signing and the closing. Moreover, the buyer (or the
subsidiary that will own the assets and conduct the business post-closing) may need to
qualify to do business in each state where that business will be conducted. A list of all states
where qualification of the seller is required gives the buyer a checklist of states where it must
be qualified on or before the closing date.

The representation concerning the seller’s power and authority is generally qualified
by a reference to “corporate” power and authority. Use of the word “corporate” limits the
representation to mean that the seller is authorized to conduct its business (as it is currently
conducted) under applicable business corporation laws and its charter and by-laws -- that is,
such action is not “ultra vires.” If the word “corporate” is omitted, the term “power and
authority” could be interpreted to mean “full power and authority” under all applicable laws
and regulations; that the seller has such authority is a much broader representation.

The representation concerning qualification of the seller as a foreign corporation in
other jurisdictions occasionally contains an exception for jurisdictions in which “the failure
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to be so qualified would not have a material adverse effect on the business or properties of
Seller.” Requiring a list of foreign jurisdictions does not limit or expand the breadth of the
previous sentence but forces the seller to give proper attention to this matter.

The representation that the seller does not have a subsidiary is included to confirm
that the business of the seller is conducted directly by it and not through subsidiaries. If the
seller had conducted business through subsidiaries, the documentation for the transfer of the
assets may need to be modified to transfer the stock or assets of the subsidiaries and,
depending on the materiality of the subsidiaries, the buyer would want to include appropriate
representations and covenants regarding the subsidiaries. See the Model Stock Purchase
Agreement with Commentary for examples of representations that could be adapted and
added to the Model Asset Purchase Agreement to deal with a sale of stock of a subsidiary.

To the extent that capital stock or other securities are included among the assets, the
contemplated transactions would involve the sale of a security within the contemplation of
the Securities Act and applicable state securities statutes. This would necessitate the parties
structuring the transaction to comply with the applicable securities registration and other
requirements or structure the contemplated transactions to be exempt from their registration
requirements. See the Comments to Sections 3.2 and 3.33.

See Chapter 2, “Basic Corporate Documents”, of the MANUAL ON ACQUISITION
REVIEW.

3.2 ENFORCEABILITY; AUTHORITY; NO CONFLICT

(a) This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligation of Seller and each
Shareholder, enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms. Upon the
execution and delivery by Seller and Shareholders of the Escrow Agreement, the
Employment Agreement, the Noncompetition Agreement, and each other agreement to be
executed or delivered by any or all of Seller and Shareholders at the Closing (collectively,
the “‘Seller’s Closing Documents’), each of Seller’s Closing Documents will constitute the
legal, valid, and binding obligation of each of Seller and the Shareholders a party thereto,
enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms. Seller has the absolute and
unrestricted right, power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Seller’s
Closing Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations under this Agreement
and the Seller’s Closing Documents, and such action has been duly authorized by all
necessary action by Seller’s shareholders and board of directors. Each Shareholder has all
necessary legal capacity to enter into this Agreement and the Seller’s Closing Documents to
which such Shareholder is a party and to perform his obligations hereunder and thereunder.

(b) Except as set forth in Part 3.2(b), neither the execution and delivery of this
Agreement nor the consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions
will, directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time):

@) Breach (A) any provision of any of the Governing Documents of Seller, or
(B) any resolution adopted by the board of directors or the shareholders of Seller;

(i1) Breach or give any Governmental Body or other Person the right to
challenge any of the Contemplated Transactions or to exercise any remedy or obtain
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(©

any relief under any Legal Requirement or any Order to which Seller or either
Shareholder, or any of the Assets, may be subject;

(i11))  contravene, conflict with, or result in a violation or breach of any of the terms
or requirements of, or give any Governmental Body the right to revoke, withdraw,
suspend, cancel, terminate, or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is held
by Seller or that otherwise relates to the Assets or to the business of Seller;

(iv)  cause Buyer to become subject to, or to become liable for the payment of, any
Tax;

(v) Breach any provision of, or give any Person the right to declare a default or
exercise any remedy under, or to accelerate the maturity or performance of, or
payment under, or to cancel, terminate, or modify, any Seller Contract;

(vi)  resultin the imposition or creation of any Encumbrance upon or with respect
to any of the Assets; or

(vii)  resultin any shareholder of the Seller having the right to exercise dissenters’
appraisal rights.

Except as set forth in Part 3.2(c), neither Seller nor either Shareholder is required to

give any notice to or obtain any Consent from any Person in connection with the execution
and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation or performance of any of the

Contemplated Transactions.
COMMENT

The Seller may seek an exception to the representations in the first sentence of
Section 3.2(a) to the extent that enforceability is limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar
laws affecting creditors’ rights and remedies or by equitable principles. Such an exception is
almost universally found in legal opinions regarding enforceability, and some buyers may
allow it in the representations. Other buyers will respond that the exception would be
inappropriate because the risk of such limitations should fall on the seller and the
shareholders.

In most states, shareholder approval of an asset sale has historically been required if
the corporation is selling all or substantially all of its assets. The Delaware courts have used
both “qualitative” and “quantitative” tests in interpreting the phrase “substantially all,” as it
is used in Section 271 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) which requires
stockholder approval for a corporation to “sell, lease or exchange all or substantially all of its
property and assets.” See Gimbel v. The Signal Companies, Inc., 316 A.2d 599 (Del. Ch.
1974) (assets representing 41% of net worth but only 15% of gross revenues held not to be
“substantially all”); Katz v. Bregman, 431 A.2d 1274 (Del. Ch. 1981) (51% of total assets,
generating approximately 45% of net sales, held to be “substantially all”’); and Thorpe v.
CERBCO, Inc.,676 A.2d 436 (Del. 1996) (sale of subsidiary with 68% of assets, which was
primary income generator, held to be “substantially all”’; Court noted that seller would be left
with only one operating subsidiary, which was marginally profitable). See Hollinger Inc. v.
Hollinger International, Inc., 858 A.2d 342 (Del. Ch. 2004), appeal refused, 871 A.2d 1128
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(Del. 2004), in which (A) the sale of assets by a subsidiary with approval of its parent
corporation (its stockholder), but not the stockholders of the parent, was alleged by the
largest stockholder of the parent to contravene DGCL § 271; (B) without reaching a
conclusion, the Chancery Court commented in dicta that “[w]hen an asset sale by the wholly
owned subsidiary is to be consummated by a contract in which the parent entirely guarantees
the performance of the selling subsidiary that is disposing of all of its assets and in which the
parent is liable for any breach of warranty by the subsidiary, the direct act of the parent’s
board can, without any appreciable stretch, be viewed as selling assets of the parent itself”
(the Court recognized that the precise language of DGCL § 271 only requires a vote on
covered sales by a corporation of “its” assets, but felt that analyzing dispositions by
subsidiaries on the basis of whether there was fraud or a showing that the subsidiary was a
mere alter ego of the parent as suggested in Leslie v. Telephonics Office Technologies, Inc.,
1993 WL 547188 (Del. Ch., Dec. 30, 1993) was too rigid); and (C) examining the
consolidated economics of the subsidiary level sale, the Chancery Court held (1) that
“substantially all” of the assets should be literally read, commenting that “[a] fair and
succinct equivalent to the term ‘substantially all’ would be “essentially everything”,
notwithstanding past decisions that have looked at sales of assets around the 50% level, (2)
that the principal inquiry was whether the assets sold were “quantitatively vital to the
operations of” seller (the business sold represented 57.4% of parent’s consolidated EBITDA,
49% of its revenues, 35.7% of the book value of its assets, and 57% of its asset values based
on bids for the two principal units of the parent), (3) that the parent had a remaining
substantial profitable business after the sale (the Chancery Court wrote: “if the portion of the
business not sold constitutes a substantial, viable, ongoing component of the corporation, the
sale is not subject to Section 271,” quoting BALOTTI AND FINKELSTEIN, THE DELAWARE
LAW OF CORPORATIONS AND BUSINESS ORGANIZATIONS, §10.2 at 10-7 (3rCl ed. Supp. 2004),
and (4) that the “qualitative” test of Gimbel focuses on “factors such as the cash-flow
generating value of assets” rather than subjective factors such as whether ownership of the
business would enable its managers to have dinner with the Queen. See Morton and Reilly,
Clarity or Confusion? The 2005 Amendment to Section 271 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, X Deal Points — The Newsletter of the Committee on Negotiated
Acquisitions 2 (Fall 2005); see also Subcommittee on Recent Judicial Developments, ABA
Negotiated Acquisitions Committee, Annual Survey of Judicial Developments Pertaining to
Mergers and Acquisitions, 60 Bus. Law. 843, 855-58 (2005); BALOTTI AND FINKELSTEIN,
THE DELAWARE LAW OF CORPORATIONS AND BUSINESS ORGANIZATIONS, §10.2 (3rCl ed.
Supp. 2009).

To address the uncertainties raised by dicta in Vice Chancellor Strine’s opinion in
Hollinger, DGCL § 271 was amended effective August 1, 2005 to add a new subsection (c)
which provides as follows:

(c) For purposes of this section only, the property and assets of the
corporation include the property and assets of any subsidiary of the
corporation. As used in this subsection, “subsidiary” means any entity
wholly-owned and controlled, directly or indirectly, by the corporation and
includes, without limitation, corporations, partnerships, limited
partnerships, limited liability partnerships, limited liability companies,
and/or statutory trusts. Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section,
except to the extent the certificate of incorporation otherwise provides, no
resolution by stockholders or members shall be required for a sale, lease or
exchange of property and assets of the corporation to a subsidiary.
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This amendment answered certain questions raised by Hollinger, but raised or left
unanswered other questions (e.g., (i) whether subsection (c) applies in the case of a merger of
a subsidiary with a third party even though literally read DGCL § 271 does not apply to
mergers, (ii) what happens if the subsidiary is less than 100% owned, and (iii) what
additional is meant by the requirement that the subsidiary be wholly “controlled” as well as
“wholly owned”). See Morton and Reilly, Clarity or Confusion? The 2005 Amendment to
Section 271 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, X Deal Points — The Newsletter of
the Committee on Negotiated Acquisitions 2 (Fall 2005); cf. Weinstein Enterprises, Inc. v.
Orloff, 870 A.2d 499 (Del. 2005) for a discussion of “control” in the context of a DGCL §
220 action seeking inspection of certain documents in the possession of a publicly held New
York corporation of which the defendant Delaware corporation defendant was a 45.16%
stockholder.

In Story v. Kennecott Copper Corporation, 394 N.Y.S. 2d 353 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1977),
the Court held that under New York law the sale by Kennecott of its subsidiary Peabody
Coal Company, which accounted for approximately 55% of Kennecott’s consolidated assets,
was not a sale of “substantially all” of Kennecott’s assets requiring shareholder approval
even though Peabody was the only profitable operation of Kennecott for the past two years.

Difficulties in determining when a shareholder vote is required have led some states
to adopt a bright line test. TEX. BUS. CORP. ACT ANN. arts. 5.09 and 5.10 provide, in
essence, that shareholder approval is required under Texas law only if it is contemplated that
the corporation will cease to conduct any business following the sale of assets. See Byron F.
Egan and Curtis W. Huff, Choice of State of Incorporation --Texas versus Delaware: Is it
Now Time to Rethink Traditional Notions?”, 54 SMU Law Review 249, 287-290 (Winter
2001). Under TBCA art. 5.10, a sale of all or substantially all of a corporation’s property
and assets must be approved by the shareholders (and shareholders who vote against the sale
can perfect appraisal rights). TBCA art. 5.09(A) provides an exception to the shareholder
approval requirement if the sale is “in the usual and regular course of the business of the
corporation. . ..”, and a 1987 amendment added section B to art. 5.09 providing that a sale is

in the usual and regular course of business if, [after the sale,] the
corporation shall, directly or indirectly, either continue to engage in one or
more businesses or apply a portion of the consideration received in
connection with the transaction to the conduct of a business in which it
engages following the transaction.

In Rudisill v. Arnold White & Durkee, P.C., 148 S.W.3d 556 (Tex. App. 2004), the
1987 amendment to art. 5.09 was applied literally. The Rudisill case arose out of the
combination of Arnold White & Durke, P.C. (“AWD”) with another law firm, Howrey &
Simon (“HS”). The combination agreement provided that all of AWD’s assets other than
those specifically excluded (three vacation condominiums, two insurance policies and
several auto leases) were to be transferred to HS in exchange for a partnership interest in HS,
which subsequently changed its name to Howrey Simon Arnold & White, LLP (“HSAW”).
In addition, AWD shareholders were eligible individually to become partners in HSAW by
signing its partnership agreement, which most of them did.

For business reasons, the AWD/HS combination was submitted to a vote of AWD’s
shareholders. Three AWD shareholders submitted written objections to the combination,
voted against it, declined to sign the HSAW partnership agreement, and then filed an action
seeking a declaration of their entitlement to dissenters’ rights or alternate relief. The Court
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accepted AWD’s position that these shareholders were not entitled to dissenters’ rights
because the sale was in the “usual and regular course of business” as AWD continued “to
engage in one or more businesses” within the meaning of TBCA art. 5.09B, writing that
“AWD remained in the legal services business, at least indirectly, in that (1) its shareholders
and employees continued to practice law under the auspices of HSAW, and (2) it held an
ownership interest in HSAW, which unquestionably continues directly in that business.”
The Court further held that AWD’s obtaining shareholder approval when it was not required
by TBCA art. 5.09 did not create appraisal rights, pointing out that appraisal rights are
available under the statute only “if special authorization of the shareholders is required.”
See Subcommittee on Recent Judicial Developments, ABA Negotiated Acquisitions
Committee, Annual Survey of Judicial Developments Pertaining to Mergers and
Acquisitions, 60 Bus. Law. 843, 855-60 (2005).

A 1999 revision to the Model Business Corporation Act (“MBCA”) excludes from
the requirement of a shareholder vote any disposition of assets that would not “leave the
corporation without a significant continuing business activity.” MBCA § 12.02(a). The
revision includes a safe harbor definition of significant continuing business activity: at least
25 percent of the total assets and 25 percent of either income (before income taxes) or
revenues from pre-transaction operations.

If shareholder approval is required, the buyer may want to require that it be obtained
before or contemporaneously with execution of the asset purchase agreement. In Optima
International of Miami, Inc. v. WCI Steel, Inc., C.A. No. 3833-VCL (Del. Ch. June 27, 2008)
(TRANSCRIPT), the Delaware Chancery Court, in the context of a merger agreement which
required stockholder consent to the merger be delivered within 24 hours and which was
adopted by the written consent of more than a majority of the stockholders promptly after its
signing, wrote: ‘“Nothing in the DGCL requires any particular period of time between a
board’s authorization of a merger agreement and the necessary stockholder vote [and] the
board’s agreement to proceed as it did [was not] a breach of duty.” Although the buyer can
include a no-shop provision (see Section 5.6 of the Model Agreement) in the acquisition
agreement, the seller may want a fiduciary out to the no-shop provision, and with or without
a fiduciary out provision, there is the possibility that the shareholder vote will not be
obtained if a better offer comes along before the vote is held. Moreover, in some
circumstances, a no-shop may be invalid. See Omnicare, Inc. v. NCS Healthcare, Inc., 818
A.2d 914 (Del. 2003) (Delaware Supreme Court directed Court of Chancery to preliminarily
enjoin a merger, holding that the combination of deal protection measures (a provision in the
merger agreement requiring a stockholder vote on the merger even if the board no longer
recommended it, an agreement between the acquirer and the controlling stockholders that
ensured a majority of the voting power would be voted in favor of the transaction, and the
absence of any effective fiduciary termination right) were inequitably coercive and
preclusive because they made it “mathematically impossible” for any alternative proposal to
succeed); Orman v. Cullman, no. 18039, 2004 Del. Ch. LEXIS 150 (Del. Ch. Oct. 20, 2004)
(Delaware Court of Chancery held that a fully informed “majority of the minority”
stockholder vote operated to extinguish the plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary duty claims even
though the controlling stockholders had agreed to vote for the merger and against any
alternative transaction for 18 months and not to sell their shares to another bidder during that
period; the Court distinguished Omnicare because (i) the target’s public stockholders
retained the power to reject the proposed transaction and (ii) the target’s board had
negotiated effective fiduciary outs that would enable it to entertain unsolicited proposals
under certain circumstances and to withdraw its recommendation of the merger if the board
concluded that its fiduciary duties so required); Optima International of Miami, Inc. v. WCI
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Steel, Inc., C.A. No. 3833-VCL (Del. Ch. June 27, 2008) (TRANSCRIPT), (“Omnicare is of
questionable continued vitality”); Ace Limited v. Capital Re Corp., 747 A.2d 95 (Del. Ch.
1999); Subcommittee on Recent Judicial Developments, ABA Negotiated Acquisitions
Committee, Annual Survey of Judicial Developments Pertaining to Mergers and
Acquisitions, 60 Bus. Law. 843, 853-55 (2005). While those cases typically involved
publicly held companies, the courts have not generally made a distinction between publicly
and closely held companies in discussing directors’ fiduciary duties.

If the Seller insists on a fiduciary out to the no-shop provision and the transaction is
one in which shareholder approval is required, the Buyer may request that the asset purchase
agreement include a “force the vote” provision. A “force the vote” provision typically
requires the Seller to convene a meeting by a date certain and to have the stockholder vote on
the Buyer’s proposal at that meeting even if the Seller has received another offer in the
interim and employed the fiduciary out to engage in discussions with the new bidder. A
“force the vote” provision is specifically authorized in Delaware by statute. See 8 Del. C.
§ 146.

Under Revion, Inc. v. MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings, Inc., 506 A.2d 173 (Del.
1986), director fiduciary duties require robust director involvement in sale of control
transactions to confirm that the stockholders are getting the best price reasonably available.
Directors fiduciary duties are applicable in the case of closely held corporations as well as
corporations whose securities are publicly traded, although the conduct required to satisfy
their fiduciary duties will be measured with reference to what is reasonable in the context.
See Optima International of Miami, Inc. v. WCI Steel, Inc., C.A. No. 3833-VCL (Del. Ch.
June 27, 2008) (TRANSCRIPT); Julian v. Eastern States Construction Service, Inc. (Del.
Ch. No. 1892-VCP July 8, 2008); and Byron F. Egan, Fiduciary Duties of Corporate
Directors and Officers in Texas, 43 Tex. J. of Bus. Law 45, 182-183 (Spring 2009), which
can be found at http://www.jw.com/site/jsp/publicationinfo.jsp?id=1230. Revlon does not
apply to a sale of assets, including the sale of a subsidiary, because the transaction does not
involve a sale of control of the Company. Although Revlon is not applicable, the directors’
fiduciary duty of care still requires directors to use informed business judgment to maximize
value in a sale of assets. See McPadden v. Sidhu, 964 A.2d 1262 (Del. Ch. 2008).

In Lyondell Chemical Company v. Ryan, 970 A.2d 235 (Del. 2009), the Delaware
Supreme Court, in an en banc decision reversing a Chancery Court decision, rejected post-
merger stockholder claims that independent directors failed to act in good faith in selling the
company after only a week of negotiations with a single bidder, even accepting plaintiftf’s
allegations that the directors did nothing to prepare for an offer which might be expected
from a recent purchaser of an 8% block and did not even consider conducting a market check
before entering into a merger agreement (at a “blow-out” premium price) containing a no-
shop provision (with a fiduciary out) and a 3% break-up fee. In Lyondell the plaintiff alleged
that the defendant directors failed to act in good faith in conducting the sale of Lyondell to
an unaffiliated third party, which would have precluded exculpation under Lyondell’s DGCL
§ 102(b)(7) charter provision and left the directors exposed to personal liability (and possible
monetary damages) for their conduct. In Lyondell ten of eleven directors were disinterested
and independent (the CEO was the other director).

The plaintiff in Lyondell claimed that the Board failed to adequately fulfill its duty of
care under Revlon by (1) engaging in a hasty deliberative process that rendered the Board
unable to inform itself as to the company’s value or as to the propriety of the transaction, (2)
failing to conduct a market check or to shop the company and (3) agreeing to unreasonable
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deal protection devices that served to discourage competing bids. In the Chancery Court the
defendant directors’ motion for summary judgment was partially denied, with the Chancery
Court emphasizing that Revlon requires robust Board involvement in sale of control
transactions to confirm that, even at arguably a “blowout” market premium, the stockholders
are getting the best price reasonably available. The Chancery Court had determined that
genuine issues of material fact existed as to (1) whether the independent directors engaged in
a satisfactory sale process to acquire the highest available value for stockholders as required
by Revion and (2) whether the directors’ decision to agree to typical deal protections was
reasonable in view of the weakness in the process. In a case reminiscent of Smith v. Van
Gorkom, 488 A.2d 858 (Del. 1985) in that the Board acted quickly on a merger proposal
negotiated by an informed CEO without Board involvement, the Chancery Court found that
the directors’ conduct could implicate the good faith component of the duty of loyalty and
that all of these procedural shortcomings could add up to an overall failure to act in good
faith, an element of a Board’s duty of loyalty, since the Board members appeared not to have
become fully engaged in an active Revlon process.

In reversing and holding that summary judgment for the defendant directors should
have been granted, the Delaware Supreme Court explained Revlon as follows:

The duty to seek the best available price applies only when a
company embarks on a transaction — on its own initiative or in response to
an unsolicited offer— that will result in a change of control. * * *

There is only one Revion duty — to “[get] the best price for the
stockholders at a sale of the company.” No court can tell directors exactly
how to accomplish that goal, because they will be facing a unique
combination of circumstances, many of which will be outside their control.

“[T]here is no single blueprint that a board must follow to fulfill its duties.”
% sk ook

The Lyondell directors did not conduct an auction or a market
check, and they did not satisfy the trial court that they had the “impeccable”
market knowledge that the court believed was necessary to excuse their
failure to pursue one of the first two alternatives. As a result, the Court of
Chancery was unable to conclude that the directors had met their burden
under Revlon. In evaluating the totality of the circumstances, even on this
limited record, we would be inclined to hold otherwise. But we would not
question the trial court’s decision to seek additional evidence if the issue
were whether the directors had exercised due care. Where, as here, the issue
is whether the directors failed to act in good faith, the analysis is very
different, and the existing record mandates the entry of judgment in favor of
the directors.

As discussed above, bad faith will be found if a “fiduciary
intentionally fails to act in the face of a known duty to act, demonstrating a
conscious disregard for his duties.” The trial court decided that the Revion
sale process must follow one of three courses, and that the Lyondell
directors did not discharge that “known set of [Revilon] ‘duties’.” But, as
noted, there are no legally prescribed steps that directors must follow to
satisfy their Revion duties. Thus, the directors’ failure to take any specific
steps during the sale process could not have demonstrated a conscious
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disregard of their duties. More importantly, there is a vast difference
between an inadequate or flawed effort to carry out fiduciary duties and a
conscious disregard for those duties.

Directors’ decisions must be reasonable, not perfect. “In the

transactional context, [an] extreme set of facts [is] required to sustain a
disloyalty claim premised on the notion that disinterested directors were
intentionally disregarding their duties.” * * * [I]f the directors failed to do
all that they should have under the circumstances, they breached their duty
of care. Only if they knowingly and completely failed to undertake their
responsibilities would they breach their duty of loyalty. * * *

Viewing the record in this manner leads to only one possible

conclusion. The Lyondell directors met several times to consider Basell’s
premium offer. They were generally aware of the value of their company
and they knew the chemical company market. The directors solicited and
followed the advice of their financial and legal advisors. They attempted to
negotiate a higher offer even though all the evidence indicates that Basell
had offered a “blowout” price. Finally, they approved the merger
agreement, because “it was simply too good not to pass along [to the
stockholders] for their consideration.” We assume, as we must on summary
judgment, that the Lyondell directors did absolutely nothing to prepare for
Basell’s offer, and that they did not even consider conducting a market
check before agreeing to the merger. Even so, this record clearly establishes
that the Lyondell directors did not breach their duty of loyalty by failing to
act in good faith. In concluding otherwise, the Court of Chancery reversibly

erred.

Some lessons from the Supreme Court’s opinion in Lyondell are:

Revlon duties do not arise until the Board starts a negotiation to sell the company
and do not arise simply because the Board has facts that give the Board reason to
believe that a third party will make an acquisition proposal. The Revion “duty to
seek the best available price applies only when a company embarks on a transaction
. . . that will result in a change of control.” Revlon does not require a Board to
obtain a valuation of the company, commence an auction or implement defensive
measures just because the company is “in play.” A Board can exercise its business
judgment to “wait and see” when a Schedule 13D has been filed that suggests a bid
for the company is reasonably to be expected.

When the Revion duties become applicable, there is no single blueprint that a Board
must follow to satisfy its Revion duties. In the words of the Supreme Court: no
“court can tell directors exactly how to accomplish [the Revion goal to get the best
price for the company], because they will be facing a unique combination of
circumstances.” Because there are no mandated steps, directors’ failure to take any
specific steps cannot amount to the conscious disregard of duties required for a
finding of bad faith.

Since there are no specific steps a Board must take to satisfy its Revion duties,

directors do not fail in their duty of good faith to the shareholders if they do not seek
competing bids, when they have a fairness opinion and reason to believe that no
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topping bid is likely, and instead try (albeit unsuccessfully) to extract a higher price
from the bidder. The directors do not have to succeed in negotiating a post-signing
market check. While a flawed process may be enough for a breach of the duty of
care, it is not enough to establish the “conscious disregard” of known fiduciary
duties required for a lack of good faith. The Supreme Court’s opinion does not
measure the directors’ conduct on a duty of care scale, although the Supreme Court
did comment that it “would not question the trial court’s decision to seek additional
evidence if the issue were whether the directors had exercised due care.”

. Directors do not breach their duty of good faith by agreeing to reasonable deal
protection provisions in the absence of an auction.

. Concluding merger negotiations in a one week period is not bad faith.
See Byron F. Egan, Fiduciary Duties of Corporate Directors and Officers in Texas, 43 Tex.

J. of Bus. Law 45, 202-215 (Spring 2009), which can be found at
http://www.jw.com/site/jsp/publicationinfo.jsp?id=1230.

While creditors’ power over the corporate governance of a solvent company is
limited to the rights given to them by their contracts, their interest in business combinations
expands as the company approaches insolvency and the creditors become more concerned
that the company maximize the value received in order to increase the likelihood that they
will be paid in full. See D.J. Baker, John Wm. Butler, Jr., and Mark A. McDermott,
Corporate Governance of Troubled Companies and the Role of Restructuring Counsel, 63
Bus. Law. 855 (May 2008). In North American Catholic Educational Programming
Foundation Inc. v. Gheewalla, 930 A2d 92, 94 (Del. 2007) the Delaware Supreme Court
held “that the creditors of a Delaware corporation that is either insolvent or in the zone of
insolvency have no right, as a matter of law, to assert direct claims for breach of fiduciary
duty against the corporation’s directors,” but the creditors of an insolvent corporation may
bring a derivative action on behalf of the corporation against its directors. See Torch
Liquidating Trust v. Stockstill, 561 F.3d 377 (5th Cir.2009) (the Fifth Circuit applying
Delaware law followed Gheewalla in derivative action by liquidating trust for an insolvent
closely held Delaware corporation against its officers and directors alleging breach of their
fiduciary duties in making misleading statements about the corporation’s financial health that
induced trade creditors to deal with it, but dismissed claims because plaintiff failed to allege
how their statements damaged the corporation as opposed to the creditors); cf. Trenwick
America Litigation Trust v. Ernst & Young LLP, et al., 906 A.2d 168 (Del. Ch. 2006)
(Delaware Chancery Court held that “put simply, under Delaware law, ‘deepening
insolvency’ is no more of a cause of action when a firm is insolvent than a cause of action
for ‘shallowing profitability’ would be when a firm is solvent”); Floyd v. Hefner, 2006 WL
2844245 (S.D. Tex. 2006) (no creditor standing under Texas law to bring claims against
directors of insolvent corporation until it has ceased to do business and must operate as trust
fund for the benefit of creditors). See also Byron F. Egan, Fiduciary Duties of Corporate
Directors and Officers in Texas, 43 Tex. J. of Bus. Law 45, 123-145 (Spring 2009), which
can be found at http://www.jw.com/site/jsp/publicationinfo.jsp?1d=1230.

The parties should consider the applicability of the Securities Act and state securities
laws to the Contemplated Transactions notwithstanding receipt of the requisite shareholder
vote. Ordinarily a sale of assets, even if it involves the sale of a business, to a sophisticated
financial buyer who will use the assets as part of a business which it will manage and control
does not implicate the registration provisions of the Securities Act. The inclusion of the
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Promissory Note as part of the Purchase Price (see Section 2.3) may, however, result in the
Contemplated Transactions involving the sale of a security requiring structuring to comply
with the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. See Section 3.33 and the related
Comment.

Section 3.2(b) contains the Seller’s “no conflict” representation. The purpose of this
representation is to assure the Buyer that, except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, the
acquisition will not violate (or otherwise trigger adverse consequences under) any legal or
contractual requirement applicable to the Seller or either Shareholder. In connection with
clause (iv) of Section 3.2(b), the Seller’s counsel should consider sales and transfer taxes.
See the Comment to Section 10.2.

The purpose served by the no conflict representation differs from that served by the
more general representations concerning Legal Requirements, Governmental Authorizations,
Orders, and Contracts (see Sections 3.17, 3.18 and 3.20), which alert the Buyer to violations
and other potential problems not connected with the acquisition. The no conflict
representation focuses specifically on violations and other potential problems that would be
triggered by the consummation of the acquisition and related transactions.

The term “Contemplated Transactions” is defined broadly in Article 1. The use of
an expansive definition makes the scope of the no conflict representation very broad. A
seller may argue for a narrower definition and may also seek to clarify that the no conflict
representation does not extend to laws, contracts, or other requirements that are adopted or
otherwise take effect after the closing date. In addition, the seller may seek to clarify that the
no conflict representation applies only to violations arising from the seller’s and the
shareholders’ performance of the acquisition and related transactions (and not to violations
arising from actions taken by the buyer).

The no conflict representation relates both to requirements binding upon the Seller
and to requirements binding upon the Shareholders. (Requirements binding upon the Buyer
are separately covered by the Buyer’s “no conflict” representation in Section 4.2 and the
closing condition in Section 8.1.) The Shareholders may seek to eliminate the references to
laws, regulations, orders, and contracts binding upon the Shareholders, arguing that
violations of requirements applicable only to the Shareholders (and not also applicable to the
Seller) should be of no concern to the Buyer because the Buyer is not making an investment
in the Shareholders. The Buyer may respond to such an argument by pointing out that a
violation of a law, regulation, order, or contract binding upon the Shareholders can be of
substantial concern to the Buyer if such a violation would provide a governmental body or a
third party with grounds to set aside or challenge the acquisition. The Buyer may also point
out that, if the Shareholders were to incur a significant financial liability as a result of such a
violation, the Shareholders’ ability to satisfy their indemnification obligations and other
post-closing obligations to the Buyer could be impaired.

The phrase “with or without notice or lapse of time,” which appears in the
introduction to the “no conflict” representation, requires the Seller to advise the Buyer of any
“potential” or “unmatured” violations or defaults (circumstances that, while not technically
constituting a violation or default, could become an actual violation or default if a specified
grace period elapses or if a formal notice of violation or default is delivered) that may be
caused by the acquisition or related transactions.
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Clause (ii) of the “no conflict” representation focuses specifically on Legal
Requirements and Orders that might be contravened by the acquisition or related
transactions. The broad language of this provision requires disclosure not only of legal
violations, but also of other types of adverse legal consequences that may be triggered by the
Contemplated Transactions. For example, the “Exon-Florio” regulations, 31 C.F.R. §
800.101 et seq., provide for the submission of notices to the Committee on Foreign
Investment in the United States in connection with acquisitions of U.S. companies by
“foreign persons.” Because the filing of an “Exon-Florio” notice is voluntary, the failure to
file such a notice is not a regulatory violation. However, the filing of such a notice shortens
the time period within which the President can exercise divestment authority and certain
other legal remedies with respect to the acquisition described in the notice. Thus, the failure
to file such a notice can have an adverse effect on the Seller. Clause (ii) alerts the Buyer to
the existence of regulatory provisions of this type.

The parties may face a troublesome dilemma if both the Buyer and the Seller are
aware of a possible violation of law that might occur as a consequence of the acquisition or
related transactions. If the possible violation is not disclosed by the Seller in the Disclosure
Letter, as between the parties the Seller will bear the risks associated with any violation (see
Section 11.2(a)). But if the Seller elects to disclose the possible violation in the Disclosure
Letter, it may be providing a discoverable “road map for a lawsuit by the government or a
third party.” Kling & Nugent Simon, Negotiated Acquisitions of Companies, Subsidiaries
and Divisions § 11.04(7) (1992).

Although clause (iii) (which addresses the possible revocation of Governmental
Authorizations) overlaps to some extent with clause (ii), clause (iii) is included because a
Governmental Authorization may become subject to revocation without any statutory or
regulatory “violation” actually having occurred.

Clause (iv) is important because the sale of the assets will trigger state and local tax
concerns in most states. In many states, the sale of assets may routinely lead to a
reassessment of real property and may increase taxes on personal property. For example, if
rolling stock is to be transferred, the transfer will, in some cases, lead to increased local
taxes. Seller’s counsel should resist any representation to the effect that the sale of assets
will not lead to a reassessment.

Clause (v) deals with contractual defaults and other contractual consequences that
may be triggered by the acquisition or related transactions. Many contracts provide that the
contracts may not be assigned without the consent of the other parties thereto. Hence,
without such consents, the contracts would be breached upon the transfer at the closing.
Clause (v) alerts the Buyer to the existence of any such contracts.

Clause (v) applies to “Seller Contracts,” the definition of which extends both to
contracts to which the Seller is a party and to contracts under which the Seller has any rights
or by which the Seller may be bound. The inclusion of the latter type of contracts may be
important to the Buyer. For example, the Buyer will want to know if the Seller’s rights
under a promissory note or a guaranty given by a third party and held by the Seller would be
terminated or otherwise impaired as a result of the acquisition. Because such a promissory
note or guaranty would presumably be signed only by the third party maker or guarantor
(and would not be executed on behalf of the Seller in its capacity as payee or beneficiary),
the Seller might not be considered a party to the note or guaranty.

- 106 -
5754336v.1



Other examples of contracts that may be covered by the expansive definition of
“Seller Contract” include the following:

1. contracts under which the Seller is a third party beneficiary;

2. contracts under which a party’s rights or obligations have been assigned to
or assumed by the Seller;

3. contracts containing obligations that have been guaranteed by the Seller;

4. recorded agreements or declarations that relate to real property owned by the
Seller and that contain covenants or restrictions “running with the land”; and

5. contracts entered into by a partnership in which the Seller is a general
partner.

The Seller is required to provide (in Part 3.2 of the Disclosure Letter) a list of
governmental and third-party consents needed to consummate the acquisition. Some of these
consents may be sufficiently important to justify giving the Buyer (and, in some cases, the
Seller) a “walk right” if they are not ultimately obtained (see Sections 7.3 and 8.3 and the
related Comments).

Clause (vii) deals with appraisal rights. MBCA § 13.02(a)(3) confers upon certain
shareholders not consenting to the sale or other disposition the right to dissent from the
transaction and to obtain appraisal and payment of the fair value of their shares. The right is
generally limited to shareholders who are entitled to vote on the sale. Some states, such as
Delaware, do not give appraisal rights in connection with sales of assets. The MBCA sets
forth procedural requirements for the exercise of appraisal rights that must be strictly
complied with. A brief summary follows:

1. If the sale or other disposition of the assets of a corporation is to be
submitted to a meeting of the shareholders, the meeting notice must state that shareholders
are or may be entitled to assert appraisal rights under the MBCA. The notice must include a
copy of the section of the statute conferring those rights. MBCA § 13.20(a). A shareholder
desiring to exercise those rights must deliver to the corporation before the vote is taken a
notice of his or her intention to exercise dissenters’ rights and must not vote in favor of the
proposal. MBCA § 13.21(a).

2. Following the approval of the sale or other disposition, a specific notice
must be sent by the corporation to the dissenting shareholders who have given the required
notice, enclosing a form to be completed by those shareholders and specifying the date by
which the form must be returned to the corporation and the date the shareholders’ stock
certificates must be returned for deposit with the corporation. The notice must also state the
corporation’s estimate of the fair value of the shares and the date by which any withdrawal
must be received by the corporation. MBCA § 13.22.

3. Following the receipt by the corporation of the completed form from a
dissenting shareholder and the return and deposit of his or her stock certificates, the
corporation must pay to each shareholder who has complied with the appraisal requirements
and who has not withdrawn his or her demand for payment, the amount of the corporation
estimates to be the “fair value” of his or her shares, plus interest, and must accompany this
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payment with copies of certain financial information concerning the corporation. MBCA §
13.24. Some jurisdictions only require an offer of payment by the corporation, with final
payment to await acceptance by the shareholder of the offer.

4. A dissenting shareholder who is not satisfied with the payment by the
corporation must timely object to the determination of fair value and present his or her own
valuation and demand payment. MBCA § 13.26.

5. If the dissenting shareholder’s demand remains unresolved for sixty days
after the payment demand is made, the corporation must either commence a judicial
proceeding to determine the fair value of the shares or pay the amount demanded by the
dissenting shareholder. The proceeding is held in a jurisdiction where the principal place of
business of the corporation is located or at the location of its registered office. The court is
required to determine the fair value of the shares plus interest. MBCA § 13.30. Under the
prior MBCA, it was the shareholder’s obligation to commence proceedings to value the
shares. Currently forty-six jurisdictions require the corporation to initiate the litigation,
while six put this burden on the dissenting shareholder.

Many jurisdictions follow the MBCA by providing that the statutory rights of
dissenters represent an exclusive remedy and that shareholders may not otherwise challenge
the validity or appropriateness of the sale of assets except for reasons of fraud or illegality.
In other jurisdictions, challenges based on breach of fiduciary duty and other theories are still
permitted.

While the material set forth above contains a general outline of the MBCA
provisions as they relate to shareholders’ rights to dissent from a sale of all or substantially
all of a corporation’s assets, counsel should consult the specific statute in the state of
domicile of the seller to confirm the procedures that must be satisfied.

As to the impact of dissenters’ rights on other provisions of the Model Agreement,
counsel should bear in mind the potential for some disruption of the acquisition process as a
result of the exercise of those rights, and might consider adding a closing condition to permit
a quick exit by the Buyer from the transaction if it appears that dissenters’ rights will be
exercised.

See Chapter 3, “Contracts”, of the MANUAL ON ACQUISITION REVIEW.
34 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Seller has delivered to Buyer: (a) an audited balance sheet of Seller as at ,
20__ (including the notes thereto, the “Balance Sheet’’), and the related audited statements of
income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal year then ended, including in
each case the notes thereto, together with the report thereon of , independent
certified public accountants, (b) [audited] balance sheets of Seller as at in each of
the years ____ through ___, and the related [audited] statements of income, changes in shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the fiscal years then ended, including in each case the notes
thereto, [together with the report thereon of , independent certified public accountants,]
and (c¢) an unaudited balance sheet of Seller as at ,20__ (the “Interim Balance Sheet”)
and the related unaudited statement[s] of income, [changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows]
for the ____ months then ended, including in each case the notes thereto certified by Seller’s chief
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financial officer. Such financial statements (i) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and
(i1) fairly present (and the financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 5.8 will fairly present)
the financial condition and the results of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows
of Seller as at the respective dates of and for the periods referred to in such financial statements. The
financial statements referred to in this Section 3.4 and delivered pursuant to Section 5.8 reflect and
will reflect the consistent application of such accounting principles throughout the periods involved,
except as disclosed in the notes to such financial statements. The financial statements have been and
will be prepared from and are in accordance with the accounting Records of Seller. Seller has also
delivered to Buyer copies of all letters from Seller’s auditors to Seller’s board of directors or the
audit committee thereof during the thirty-six months preceding the execution of this Agreement,
together with copies of all responses thereto.

COMMENT

This representation, which requires the delivery of specified financial statements of
the Seller and provides assurances regarding the quality of those financial statements, is
almost universally present in an acquisition agreement. Financial statements are key items in
the evaluation of nearly all potential business acquisitions. The Model Agreement
representation requires financial statements to be delivered and provides a basis for
contractual remedies if they prove to be inaccurate. Other provisions of the typical
acquisition agreement also relate to the financial statements, including representations that
deal with specific parts of the financial statements in greater detail and with concepts that go
beyond GAAP (such as title to properties and accounts receivable), serve as the basis for
assessing the quality of the financial statements (such as the representation concerning the
accuracy of the Seller’s books and records), or use the financial statements as a starting or
reference point (such as the absence of certain changes since the date of the financial
statements).

The Model Agreement representation requires the delivery of (1) audited annual
financial statements as of the end of the most recent fiscal year, (2) annual financial
statements for a period of years, which the Buyer will probably require be audited unless
audited financial statements for those years do not exist and cannot be created, and (3)
unaudited financial statements as of the end of an interim period subsequent to the most
recent fiscal year. If the Seller had subsidiaries, the Agreement would refer to consolidated
financial statements and could call for consolidating financial statements.

The determination of which financial statements should be required, and whether
they should be audited, will depend upon factors such as availability, relevance to the
buyer’s commercial evaluation of the acquisition, and the burden and expense on the seller
that the buyer is willing to impose and the seller is willing to bear. Especially if the acquired
assets have been operated as part of a larger enterprise and the seller does not have a history
of independent financing transactions with respect to such assets, separate financial
statements (audited or otherwise) may not exist and, although the auditors that expressed an
opinion concerning the entire enterprise’s financial statements will of necessity have
reviewed the financial statements relating to the acquired assets, that review may not have
been sufficient for the expression of an opinion about the financial statements of the business
represented by the acquired assets alone. This occurs most frequently when the acquired
assets do not represent a major portion of the entire enterprise, so that the materiality
judgments made in the examination of the enterprise’s financial statements are not
appropriate for an examination of the financial statements relating to the acquired assets.
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The representation concerning the accuracy of the seller’s books and records (see Section
3.5) is critical because these books and records are the buyer’s main tool for assessing the
financial health of the business utilizing the acquired assets and guarding against fraud in the
financial statements (under Section 5.1, the buyer has a right to inspect these books and
records).

Many of the representations in the Model Agreement relate to the period since the
date of the Balance Sheet because it is assumed that the Balance Sheet is audited and is
therefore a more reliable benchmark than the Interim Balance Sheet, which is assumed to be
unaudited.

The Model Agreement representation does not attempt to characterize the auditors’
report. The buyer’s counsel should determine at an early stage whether the report contains
any qualifications regarding (1) conformity with GAAP, (2) the auditors’ examination
having been in accordance with the generally accepted auditing standards, (3) or fair
presentation being subject to the outcome of contingencies. Any qualification in the
auditors’ report should be reviewed with the buyer’s accountants.

In some jurisdictions, including California and New York, auditors cannot be held
liable for inaccurate financial reports to persons not in privity with the auditors, with possible
exceptions in very limited circumstances. See Bily v. Arthur Young & Co., 11 Cal. Rptr. 2d
51 (1992); Credit Alliance Corporation v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 65 N.Y.2d 536, 546, 547
(1985); Ultramares Corp. v. Touche, 255 N.Y. 170 (1931); see also Security Pac. Bus.
Credit, Inc. v. Peat Marwick Main & Co., 586 N.Y.S.2d 87, 90-91 (1992) (explaining the
circumstances in which accountants may be held liable to third parties); Greycas Inc. v.
Proud, 826 F.2d 1560, 1565 (7th Cir. 1987) (holding that, although privity of contract is not
required in Illinois, the plaintiff must still demonstrate that a negligent misrepresentation
induced detrimental reliance). If the audited financial statements were prepared in the
ordinary course, the buyer probably will not satisfy the requirements for auditors’ liability in
those jurisdictions in the absence of a “reliance letter” from the auditors addressed to the
buyer. Requests for reliance letters are relatively unusual in acquisitions, and accounting
firms are increasingly unwilling to give them.

Issues frequently arise concerning the appropriate degree of assurance regarding the
quality of the financial statements. The buyer’s first draft of this representation often
includes a statement that the financial statements are true, complete, and correct in an effort
to eliminate the leeway for judgments about contingencies (such as to the appropriate size of
reserves for subsequent events) and materiality inherent in the concept of fair presentation in
accordance with GAAP. The seller may object that this statement is an unfair request for
assurances that the financial statements meet a standard that is inconsistent with the
procedures used by accountants to produce them. In addition, the seller may be reluctant to
represent that interim financial statements (i) “have been prepared in accordance with
GAAP” and (ii) “fairly present,” either because of some question about the quality of the
information contained (for example, there may be no physical inventory taken at the end of
an interim period) or because of the level of disclosure included in the interim financial
statements (such as the absence of a full set of notes to financial statements). A qualification
that may be appropriate could be inserted at the end of the second sentence of Section 3.4 as
follows: “subject, in the case of interim financial statements, to normal recurring year-end
adjustments (the effect of which will not, individually or in the aggregate, be significant) and
the absence of notes (that, if presented, would not differ materially from those included in
the Balance Sheet)”. It has been suggested that the representation concerning fair
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presentation should also be qualified with respect to audited financial statements. See
Augenbraun & Eyck, Financial Statement Representations in Business Transactions, 47 Bus.
Law. 157,166 (1991). The buyer is unlikely to accept this view, especially in its first draft
of the acquisition agreement.

The seller may be willing to represent only that the financial statements have been
prepared from, and are consistent with, its books and records. The buyer should be aware
that this representation provides far less comfort to the buyer than that provided by the
Model Agreement representation. See DCV Holdings, Inc. v. ConAgra, Inc., 2005 Del.
Super. LEXIS 88 (March 24, 2005) (audited financial statements of joint venture company
being sold in private equity financed management buyout accrued bogus rebate from affiliate
in order to increase bonuses; no fraud found where seller disclosure schedule disclosed that
accrual was not in accordance with GAAP and that rebate would not be collected; Court held
no duty to disclose that rebate was “bogus” as Delaware duty of disclosure does not require
“self-flagellation”).

Many of the representations in Article 3 reflect the Buyer’s attempt to obtain
assurances about specific line items in the financial statements that go well beyond fair
presentation in accordance with GAAP. Reliance on GAAP may be inadequate if the Seller
is engaged in businesses (such as insurance) in which valuation or contingent liability
reserves are especially significant. However, specific line item representations could lead a
court to give less significance to the representation concerning overall compliance with
GAAP in the case of line items not covered by a specific representation. See, e.g., Delta
Holdings, Inc. v. National Distillers & Chemical Corp., 945 F.2d 1226 (2d Cir. 1991), cert.
denied, 503 U.S. 985 (1992). The specific content of these representations will vary greatly
depending on the nature of the Seller’s businesses and assets.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (H.R. 3763), Pub. L. No. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745
(2002) (codified in scattered sections of 11, 15, 18, 28 and 29 U.S.C.) [hereinafter “SOX’], is
generally applicable only to companies required to file reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “1934 Act”) (“reporting companies”), or that have a registration statement on file with
the SEC under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “/933 Act”’), in each case
regardless of size (collectively, “public companies™ or “issuers”). Private companies that
contemplate going public, seeking financing from investors whose exit strategy is a public
offering or being acquired by a public company may find it advantageous or necessary to
conduct their affairs as if they were subject to SOX. See Byron F. Egan, Major Themes of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 42 Tex. J. of Bus. L. 339 (Winter 2008), which can be found at
http://www.jw.com/site/jsp/publicationinfo.jsp?id=1186. The provisions of SOX relating to
financial statements are increasingly being addressed in the representations and warranties of
agreements for the acquisition of closely held businesses.

Prior to SOX, the core of the financial statements representation was that the
financial statements “fairly present the financial condition and results of operations of the
target in accordance with GAAP.” The certification required by SOX § 302 removes the
GAAP qualification, so that the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of an issuer
are required to certify that the issuer’s financial statements fairly present the financial
condition and results of operations of the issuer, without regard to GAAP. See Final Rule:
Certification of Disclosure in Companies’ Quarterly and Annual Reports, Release Nos. 33-
8124, 34-46427 at 25 (August 28, 2002) (in which the SEC stated its belief that “Congress
intended [the Section 302 certifications] to provide assurances that the financial information
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disclosed in a report, viewed in its entirety, meets a standard of overall material accuracy and
correctness that is broader than financial reporting requirements under generally accepted
accounting principles”). Accordingly, Section 3.4 above requires the Seller and the
Shareholders to represent that Seller’s financial statements fairly present the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company, while also requiring them to separately
represent that its financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP. See also,
United States v. Simon, 425 F.2d 796 (2d Cir. 1969) (in an appeal from a criminal conviction
of three accountants with Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Montgomery for conspiring to knowingly
draw up false and misleading financial statements that failed to adequately disclose looting
by the corporate president and that receivables from an affiliate booked as assets were from
an insolvent entity and secured by securities of the company (which itself was in a perilous
predicament), the defendants called eight expert independent accountants (an impressive
array of leaders of the profession) who testified generally that the financial statements were
in no way inconsistent with generally accepted accounting principles or generally accepted
auditing standards since the financial statements made all the informative disclosures
reasonably necessary for fair presentation of the financial position of the company as of the
close of the fiscal year in question, Judge Henry J. Friendly wrote:

We do not think the jury was also required to accept the accountants’
evaluation whether a given fact was material to overall fair presentation . . .
it simply cannot be true that an accountant is under no duty to disclose what
he knows when he has reason to believe that, to a material extent, a
corporation is being operated not to carry out its business in the interest of
all the stockholders but for the private benefit of its president. * * * The
jury could reasonably have wondered how accountants who were really
seeking to tell the truth could have constructed a footnote so well designed
to conceal the shocking facts. . .. the claim that generally accepted
accounting practices do not require accountants to investigate and report on
developments since the date of the statements being certified has little
relevance.).

If the buyer is a public company, its counsel should consider the requirements in
SEC Regulation S X, 17 C.F.R. § 210 (2005), if any, that apply to post closing disclosure of
audited financial statements for the assets being acquired. In general, these requirements
depend on the relative size of the buyer and the assets being acquired.

In the case of a private company being acquired, the acquiring public company will
have to certify under SOX §§ 302 and 906 in its SEC reports as to its consolidated financial
statements in its first periodic report after the combination, which will put the CEO and CFO
of the buyer in the position of having to certify as to the financial statements and internal
controls of the consolidated entity, including the acquired company. See SEC Release No.
33-8238 (June 5, 2003), titled “Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting and Certification of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Reports,” which can be
found at http://www.sec.gov/rules/final/33-8238.htm; Amendments to Rules Regarding
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, Exchange Act Release
No. 34-55928 (June 20, 2007), available at http://www.sec.gov/rules/final.shtml;
Commission Guidance Regarding Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting Under Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Exchange
Act Release No. 34-55929 (June 20, 2007), available at
http://www.sec.gov/rules/interp.shtml; Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
Auditing Standard No. 5 (May 24, 2007): An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial
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Reporting That is Integrated with An Audit of Financial Statements, available at
http://www.pcaobus.org/Standards/Standards _and Related Rules/Auditing Standard No.5.
aspx; Public Company Accounting Oversight Board: Order Approving Proposed Auditing
Standard No. 5, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting that is Integrated
with an Audit of Financial Statements, a Related Independence Rule, and Conforming
Amendments, Exchange Act Release No. 34-56152 (July 27, 2007), available at
http://www.sec.gov/rules/pcaob.shtml. Those certifications in turn will require the buyer to
be sure of the seller’s SOX conformity before the transaction is completed so that there will
not be a post closing financial reporting surprise.

Under these circumstances a Buyer may ask for a representation as to the internal
controls of Seller such as the following:

The Company has implemented and maintains a system of internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under
the 1934 Act) sufficient to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with GAAP, including, without
limitation, that (i) transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorizations, (ii) transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP and to maintain asset accountability, (ii1) access to
assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or
specific authorization, and (iv) the recorded accountability for assets is
compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate
action is taken with respect to any differences.

The foregoing results in increased emphasis on due diligence. This emphasis
manifests itself through expanded representations and warranties in acquisition agreements
and financing agreements, as well as through hiring auditors to review the work papers of the
seller’s auditors.

3.6 SUFFICIENCY OF ASSETS

Except as disclosed in Part 3.6, the Assets (a) constitute all of the assets, tangible and
intangible, of any nature whatsoever, necessary to operate Seller’s business in the manner presently
operated by Seller and (b) include all of the operating assets of Seller.

COMMENT

The purpose of the representation in subsection 3.6(a) is to confirm that the various
assets to be purchased by the buyer constitute all those necessary for it to continue operating
the business of seller in the same manner as it had been conducted by the seller. See the
Comments to Sections 2.1 and 2.2. If any of the essential assets are owned by the principal
shareholders or other third parties, the buyer may want assurances that it will have use of
these assets on some reasonable basis before entering into the transaction with the seller.
The representation in subsection 3.6(b) is to help confirm the availability of sales tax
exemptions in certain states. See the Comment to Section 10.2.
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3.13 NO UNDISCLOSED LIABILITIES

Except as set forth in Part 3.13, Seller has no Liability except for Liabilities reflected or
reserved against in the Balance Sheet or the Interim Balance Sheet and current liabilities incurred in
the Ordinary Course of Business of Seller since the date of the Interim Balance Sheet.

COMMENT

Transferee liability may be imposed on a buyer by the bulk sales statutes, the law of
fraudulent conveyance and various doctrines in areas such as environmental law and
products liability. Consequently, the buyer will have an interest not only in the liabilities
being assumed under subsection 2.4(a), but also in the liabilities of the seller that are not
being assumed. This representation assures the buyer that it has been informed of all
Liabilities (which, as the term is defined in the Model Agreement, includes “contingent”
liabilities) of the seller.

The seller may seek to narrow the scope of this representation by limiting the types
of liabilities that must be disclosed. For example, the seller may request that the
representation extend only to “liabilities of the type required to be reflected as liabilities on a
balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP.” The buyer will likely object to this
request, arguing that the standards for disclosing liabilities on a balance sheet under GAAP
are relatively restrictive and that the buyer needs to assess the potential impact of all types of
liabilities on the seller, regardless of whether such liabilities are sufficiently definite to merit
disclosure in the seller’s financial statements.

If the seller is unsuccessful in limiting the scope of this representation to balance
sheet type liabilities, additional language changes might be suggested. Many liabilities and
obligations (e.g., open purchase and sales orders, employment contracts) are not required to
be reflected or reserved against in a balance sheet or even disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. For example, most of the disclosures made in the Disclosure Letter,
particularly those with respect to leases and other contracts (see Section 3.20), involve
liabilities or obligations of the seller. In addition, liabilities or obligations arise from other
contracts not required to be included in the Disclosure Letter because they do not reach the
dollar threshold requiring disclosure. This might be addressed by adding another exception
to this representation for “Liabilities arising under the Seller Contracts disclosed in Part
3.20(a) or not required to be disclosed therein.”

The seller may also seek to add a knowledge qualification to this representation,
arguing that it cannot be expected to identify every conceivable contingent liability and
obligation to which it may be subject. The buyer will typically resist the addition of such a
qualification, pointing out that, even in an asset purchase, any exposure to unknown
liabilities is more appropriately borne by the seller and the shareholders (who presumably
have considerable familiarity with the past and current operations of the seller) than by the
buyer.

Even if the buyer successfully resists the seller’s attempts to narrow the scope of this
representation, the buyer should not overestimate the protection that this representation
provides. Although the representation extends to “contingent” liabilities (as well as to other
types of liabilities that are not required to be shown as liabilities on a balance sheet under
GAAP), it focuses exclusively on existing liabilities — it does not cover liabilities that may
arise in the future from past events or existing circumstances. Indeed, a number of judicial
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decisions involving business acquisitions have recognized this critical distinction and have
construed the term “liability” (or “contingent liability””) narrowly. For example, in Climatrol
Indus. v. Fedders Corp., 501 N.E.2d 292 (Ill. App. Ct. 1986), the Court concluded that a
seller’s defective product does not represent a “contingent liability” of the seller unless the
defective product has actually injured someone. The Court stated:

As of [the date of the closing of the acquisition in question], there was no
liability at all for the product liability suits at issue herein, because no injury
had occurred. Therefore, these suits are not amongst the “liabilities . . .
whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise, which exist[ed] on the
Closing Date,” which defendant expressly assumed.

Id. at 294. Earlier in its opinion, the Court noted:

Other courts have sharply distinguished between “contingencies” and
“contingent liabilities”: A contingent liability is one thing, a contingency
the happening of which may bring into existence a liability is another, and a
very different thing. In the former case, there is a liability which will
become absolute upon the happening of a certain event. In the latter there is
none until the event happens. The difference is simply that which exists
between a conditional debt or liability and none at all.

1d. (citations omitted); see also Godchaux v. Conveying Techniques, Inc., 846 F.2d 306,310
(5th Cir. 1988) (an employer’s withdrawal liability under ERISA comes into existence not
when the employer’s pension plan first develops an unfunded vested liability, but rather
when the employer actually withdraws from the pension plan; therefore, there was no breach
of a warranty that the employer “did not have any liabilities of any nature, whether accrued,
absolute, contingent, or otherwise”); East Prairie R-Z School Dist. v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 813
F. Supp. 1396 (E.D. Mo. 1993) (cause of action for property damage based on asbestos
contamination had not accrued at time of assumption of liabilities); Grant-Howard Assocs.
v. General Housewares Corp.,482 N.Y.S.2d 225, 227 (1984) (there is no contingent liability
from a defective product until the injury occurs). See DCV Holdings, Inc. v. ConAgra, Inc.,
2005 Del. Super. LEXIS 88 (March 24, 2005), in which the issue was whether a no
undisclosed liabilities representation that provided that none of the companies in division
being sold “has any liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether absolute, accrued,
contingent, unasserted, determined, determinable or otherwise)” included damages resulting
from antitrust conspiracy; Court found the representation was inherently ambiguous because
of uncertainty whether it embraced “future or potential liabilities”; extrinsic evidence showed
that in negotiations buyer agreed to add knowledge qualifier to specific representations
dealing with compliance with law and disclosure; Court concluded:

[N]one of the testimony indicates that the parties agreed that [the no
undisclosed liabilities representation] trumped all other representations. If
the [buyer] pinned its hopes on a contract interpretation that was not
conveyed to the sellers, such interpretation cannot stand. A contract will be
construed against a party who maintains its own interpretation of an
agreement and fails to inform the other party of that interpretation.

Even though the terms “liability” and “contingent liability” may be narrowly
construed, other provisions in the Model Agreement protect the Buyer against various
contingencies that may not actually constitute “contingent liabilities” as of the Closing Date.
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For example, the Model Agreement contains representations that no event has occurred that
may result in a future material adverse change in the business of the Seller as carried on by
the Buyer (see Section 3.15); that no undisclosed event has occurred that may result in a
future violation of law by the Seller (see Section 3.17); that the Seller has no knowledge of
any circumstances that may serve as a basis for the commencement of a future lawsuit
against the Seller (see Section 3.18); that no undisclosed event has occurred that would
constitute a future default under any of the Contracts of the Seller being assigned to or
assumed by the Buyer (see Section 3.20); and that the Seller knows of no facts that
materially threaten its business (see Section 3.33). In addition, the Model Agreement
requires the Seller and the Shareholders to indemnify the Buyer against liabilities that may
arise in the future from products manufactured by the Seller prior to the Closing Date (see
Section 11.2).

If abuyer seeks even broader protection against undisclosed contingencies, it should
consider expanding the scope of the seller’s indemnity obligations under Section 11.2 so that
the seller and the shareholders are obligated to indemnify the buyer not only against future
product liabilities, but also against other categories of liabilities that may arise after the
Closing Date from circumstances existing before the Closing Date.

3.14 TAXES

(a) Tax Returns Filed and Taxes Paid. Seller has filed or caused to be filed on a timely
basis all Tax Returns and all reports with respect to Taxes that are or were required to be
filed pursuant to applicable Legal Requirements. All Tax Returns and reports filed by Seller
are true, correct and complete. Seller has paid, or made provision for the payment of, all
Taxes that have or may have become due for all periods covered by the Tax Returns or
otherwise, or pursuant to any assessment received by Seller, except such Taxes, if any, as are
listed in Part 3.14(a) and are being contested in good faith and as to which adequate reserves
(determined in accordance with GAAP) have been provided in the Balance Sheet and the
Interim Balance Sheet. Except as provided in Part 3.14(a), Seller currently is not the
beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return. No claim has ever
been made or is expected to be made by any Governmental Body in a jurisdiction where
Seller does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.
There are no Encumbrances on any of the Assets that arose in connection with any failure (or
alleged failure) to pay any Tax, and Seller has no Knowledge of any basis for assertion of
any claims attributable to Taxes which, if adversely determined, would result in any such
Encumbrance.

(b) Delivery of Tax Returns and Information Regarding Audits and Potential Audits.
Seller has delivered or made available to Buyer copies of, and Part 3.14(b) contains a
complete and accurate list of, all Tax Returns filed since , 20__. The federal and
state income or franchise Tax Returns of Seller have been audited by the IRS or relevant
state tax authorities or are closed by the applicable statute of limitations for all taxable years
through ,20__. Part 3.14(b) contains a complete and accurate list of all Tax Returns
that have been audited or are currently under audit and accurately describe any deficiencies
or other amounts that were paid or are currently being contested. To the Knowledge of
Seller, no undisclosed deficiencies are expected to be asserted with respect to any such audit.
All deficiencies proposed as a result of such audits have been paid, reserved against, settled,
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or are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings as described in Part 3.14(b).
Seller has delivered, or made available to Buyer, copies of any examination reports,
statements or deficiencies, or similar items with respect to such audits. Except as provided
in Part 3.14(b), Seller has no knowledge that any Governmental Body is likely to assess any
additional taxes for any period for which Tax Returns have been filed. There is no dispute or
claim concerning any Taxes of Seller either (i) claimed or raised by any Governmental Body
in writing or (ii) as to which Seller has Knowledge. Part 3.14(b) contains a list of all Tax
Returns for which the applicable statute of limitations has not run. Except as described in
Part 3.14(b), Seller has not given or been requested to give waivers or extensions (or is or
would be subject to a waiver or extension given by any other Person) of any statute of
limitations relating to the payment of Taxes of Seller or for which Seller may be liable.

(©) Proper Accrual. The charges, accruals, and reserves with respect to Taxes on the
Records of Seller are adequate (determined in accordance with GAAP) and are at least equal
to Seller’s liability for Taxes. There exists no proposed tax assessment or deficiency against
Seller except as disclosed in the [Interim] Balance Sheet or in Part 3.14(c).

(d) Specific Potential Tax Liabilities and Tax Situations.

(1) Withholding. All taxes that Seller is or was required by Legal Requirements
to withhold, deduct or collect have been duly withheld, deducted and collected and,
to the extent required, have been paid to the proper Governmental Body or other
Person.

(i1) Tax Sharing or Similar Agreements. There is no tax sharing agreement, tax
allocation agreement, tax indemnity obligation or similar written or unwritten
agreement, arrangement, understanding or practice with respect to Taxes (including
any advance pricing agreement, closing agreement or other arrangement relating to
Taxes) that will require any payment by Seller.

(iii))  Consolidated Group. Seller (A) has not been a member of an affiliated group
within the meaning of Code Section 1504(a) (or any similar group defined under a
similar provision of state, local or foreign law), and (B) has no liability for Taxes of
any person (other than Seller and its Subsidiaries) under Reg. §1.1502-6 (or any
similar provision of state, local or foreign law), as a transferee or successor by
contract or otherwise.

(iv) S Corporation. Seller is not an S corporation as defined in Code Section
1361.

ALTERNATIVE No. 1:

Seller is an S corporation as defined in Code Section 1361 and Seller is not and has
not been subject to either the built-in-gains tax under Code Section 1374 or the
passive income tax under Code Section 1375.

ALTERNATIVE No. 2:
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Selleris an S corporation as defined in Code Section 1361 and Seller is not subject to
the tax on passive income under Code Section 1375, but is subject to the
built-in-gains tax under Code Section 1374, and all tax liabilities under Code Section
1374 though and including the Closing Date have on shall be properly paid and
discharged by Seller.

INCLUDE WITH BOTH ALTERNATIVE No. 1 AND No. 2:

Part 3.14(d)(iv) lists all the states and localities with respect to which Seller is
required to file any corporate, income or franchise tax returns and sets forth whether
Seller is treated as the equivalent of an S corporation by or with respect to each such
state or locality. Seller has properly filed Tax Returns with and paid and discharged
any liabilities for taxes in any states or localities in which it is subject to Tax.

W) Substantial Understatement Penalty. Seller has disclosed on its federal
income Tax Returns all positions taken therein that could give rise to a substantial
understatement of federal income Tax within the meaning of Code Section 6662.

COMMENT

Section 3.14 seeks disclosure of tax matters that may be significant to a buyer.
Although the buyer does not assume the seller’s tax liabilities, the buyer would be interested
in both ensuring that those liabilities are paid and understanding any possible tax issues that
may arise in the buyer’s post-acquisition operation of the business. By obtaining assurances
that the seller has paid all of its taxes, the buyer reduces the likelihood of successor liability
claims against it for the seller’s unpaid taxes. Although such a claim is unlikely for the
federal income tax liability of the seller, such a claim could be made for state or local taxes.

Some state laws specifically provide that a buyer in an asset acquisition may be
liable for the selling corporation’s state tax liability. For example, Section 212.10 of the
Florida Statutes (1) requires a seller to pay any sales tax within 15 days of the closing; (2)
requires a buyer to withhold a sufficient portion of the purchase price to cover the amount of
such taxes; and (3) provides that if the buyer:

shall fail to withhold a sufficient amount of the purchase money as above
provided, he or she shall be personally liable for the payment of the taxes,
interest, and penalties accruing and unpaid on account of the operation of
the business by any former owner, owners or assigns.

In addition to statutory successor liability, a buyer could be subject to liability for a
seller’s taxes under a common law successor liability theory. See e.g., Peter L. Faber, State
and Local Income and Franchise Tax Aspects of Corporate Acquisitions, NEGOTIATING
BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS, J-14 - J-15 (ABA-CLE, 1998).

If the buyer were acquiring subsidiaries of the seller, the buyer would want to be
sure all taxes of the subsidiaries have been paid, because any acquired subsidiary remains
responsible for any such liability after the acquisition. To avoid taking over all of a
subsidiary’s liabilities, the buyer could either (1) purchase the assets of the subsidiary,
thereby making a multiple asset acquisition, or (2) have the seller liquidate the subsidiary,
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which can be accomplished tax-free under Code Section 332, and then acquire the assets of
the former subsidiary directly from the seller.

Section 3.14(a) focuses on the tax returns and reports that are required to be filed by
a seller, the accuracy thereof, and the payment of the taxes shown thereon. Thus, it is
designed to ensure that the seller has complied with the basic tax requirements. This
representation can stay the same even if the seller is an S corporation, because an S
corporation may be subject to state, local and foreign taxes and may be subject to federal
income tax with respect to built-in-gains under Code Section 1374 and to passive income
under Code Section 1375. Even though an S corporation generally is not subject to federal
income taxation, it still must file a return.

Section 3.14(b) deals with the background information relating to the seller’s tax
liability. Here the seller must turn over all tax returns and information relating to the audit of
those returns. The seller may insist upon a carve-back on the returns and audit information it
must provide, such as limiting the returns to the federal income tax returns and material state,
local and foreign returns. This subsection also seeks information regarding tax issues that
could be raised in the future with respect to returns that have not yet been audited or even
filed. Thus, it might be seen as a provision designed to ferret out all issues with respect to the
potential underpayment of taxes previously paid or currently due.

Section 3.14(c) is designed to ensure that any outstanding tax liabilities are properly
reflected in the books of the seller.

Section 3.14(d) deals with specific potential tax liabilities or situations that may or
may not be present depending upon the circumstances. Most of the items are addressed in a
more general manner in preceding subsections, but it may be helpful in focusing the attention
of the parties to address certain specific items in subsection (d). The first item, withholding
obligations, is particularly important. Tax sharing agreements, covered in clause (ii), are
common for consolidated groups where there is a minority interest. Clause (iii) is designed
to ensure that there is no potential tax liability with respect to other consolidated groups of
which the seller may have been a member.

Certain provisions of Section 3.14 are qualified by “Knowledge”. The seller may
argue that tax matters are the responsibility of a particular officer of the seller and only that
officer’s knowledge should be considered. The definition of “Knowledge”, however, states
that the seller will be deemed to have Knowledge of a fact or matter if any of its directors or
officers has Knowledge of it. Therefore, the responsible officer’s Knowledge is imputed to
seller, and it is not necessary to change the language in Section 3.14 or to foreclose the
possibility that another director or officer of seller may have Knowledge of relevant tax
matters.

Section 3.14(d)(iv) addresses the basic situations that can arise with respect to S
corporation status:

(1) The Seller is not an S corporation;

2) The Seller is an S corporation and neither the built-in-gains tax nor the tax
on passive income applies; or
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3 The Seller is an S corporation and the tax on passive income does not apply
but the tax on built-in-gains does apply.

If the seller is an S corporation, the buyer will want to know the states and localities
in which the seller is subject to tax as an entity, and that the seller has in fact discharged its
obligations to those states. The last two sentences of clause (iv) address these issues.

The substantial understatement representation in clause (v) could help identify any
aggressive practices in which the seller has engaged.

If the seller were publicly held, the buyer would want representations which address,
respectively, excessive employee compensation under Code Section 162(m) and golden
parachute payments under Code Section 280G. These representations could be worded as
follows:

) Excessive Employee Remuneration. The disallowance of a deduction under
Code Section 162(m) for employee remuneration will not apply to any
amount paid or payable by Seller under any contractual arrangement
currently in effect.

(vil)  Golden Parachute Payments. Seller has not made any payments, is not
obligated to make any payments, and is not a party to any agreement that
under certain circumstances could obligate it to make any payments that
will not be deductible under Code Section 280G.

Such representations should be included for publicly-held sellers only, because these
Code sections specifically do not apply to certain defined closely-held corporations.

Finally, although the buyer in a taxable acquisition will not succeed to the seller’s
basis for its assets and other attributes, the buyer will in essence be taking over the basis and
other tax attributes of any acquired subsidiaries. This information would permit the buyer to
make the decision on whether or not to make a Section 338 election with respect to any
acquired subsidiary for which a Section 338(h)(10) election is not filed. A representation
soliciting this information would read as follows:

(viii)  Basis and Other Information. Part 3.14(d)(viii) sets forth the following
information with respect to Seller and its subsidiaries (or in the case of
clause (B) below, with respect to each of the subsidiaries) as of the most
recent practicable date [(as well as on an estimated pro forma basis as of the
Closing giving effect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby)]: (A) the basis of Seller or subsidiary in its assets; (B) the basis of
the shareholder(s) of each Subsidiary in such Subsidiary’s stock (or the
amount of any Excess Loss Account); (C) the amount of any net operating
loss, net capital loss, unused investment or other credit, unused foreign tax,
or excess charitable contribution allocable to Seller or any of its
subsidiaries; and (D) the amount of any deferred gain or loss allocable to
Seller or any of its subsidiaries arising out of any deferred intercompany
transaction under the regulations under Code Section 1502.

The meaning of the term “Taxes” as used in an asset purchase agreement was
determined in Innophos, Inc. v. Rhodia, S.A., 10 N.Y.3d 25, 882 N.E.2d 389, 852 N.Y.S.2d
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820 (N.Y. 2008), in connection with a claim for post-closing indemnification by the buyer.
Two months after the closing, an agency of the Mexican government assessed the buyer (as
successor in interest to a subsidiary acquired as part of the asset purchase) for over $130
million for water extraction fees. The buyer asserted an indemnification claim with respect to
these fees, and litigation ensued when that claim was rejected. The asset purchase agreement
provided: “The Sellers agree to indemnify and hold harmless the Purchaser against (i) Taxes
of the Mexican Subsidiaries with respect to any taxable period (or portion thereof) that ends
on or before the Closing Date . . .” The agreement’s definition of “Taxes” provided: *“‘Tax’
or ‘Taxes’ means all (i) United States federal, state or local or non-United States taxes,
assessments, charges, duties, levies or other similar governmental charges of any nature,
including all income, gross receipts, employment, franchise, profits, capital gains, capital
stock, transfer, sales, use, occupation, property, excise, severance, windfall profits, stamp,
stamp duty reserve, license, payroll, withholding, ad valorem, value added, alternative
minimum, environmental, customs, social security (or similar), unemployment, sick pay,
disability, registration and other taxes, assessments, charges, duties, fees, levies or other
similar governmental charges of any kind whatsoever, whether disputed or not, together with
all estimated taxes, deficiency assessments, additions to tax, penalties and interest; (ii) any
liability for the payment of any amount of a type described in clause (i) arising as a result of
being or having been a member of any consolidated, combined, unitary or other group or
being or having been included or required to be included in any Tax Return related thereto;
and (iii) any liability for the payment of any amount of a type described in clause (i) or
clause (ii) as a result of any obligation to indemnify or otherwise assume or succeed to the
liability of any other Person.” The trial court found that the Mexican assessment was a “Tax”
under this sweeping definition of Taxes. The Court of Appeals affirmed, finding persuasive
buyer’s argument that the fees were assessed by the Government of Mexico in its sovereign
capacity, and, as such, they were similar to the examples of taxes contained in the definition,
particularly with respect to severance taxes. The opinion pointed out that a severance tax is
based on the volume of a natural resource exploited pursuant to a governmental concession.
Both parties’ experts agreed that Mexico’s Constitution vests ownership over natural
resources, including the water at issue, in the Mexican State. Thus in the Court’s view the
water was a state-owned natural resource regulated by the government in its capacity as a
sovereign. See XIII Deal Points (The Newsletter of the ABA Bus. L. Sec. Committee on
Negotiated Acquisitions) at 13-15 (Summer 2008).

3.15 NO MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE

Since the date of the Balance Sheet, there has not been any material adverse change in the
business, operations, prospects, assets, results of operations or condition (financial or other) of
Seller, and no event has occurred or circumstance exists that may result in such a material adverse
change.

COMMENT

A seller may have several comments to this representation. First, the seller may
resist the representation in its entirety on the basis that the buyer is buying assets, rather than
stock. Second, if the seller is unsuccessful in eliminating the representation in its entirety,
the seller might try to limit the representation by, for example, deleting certain portions of
the representations, such as the reference to “prospects” on the basis that “prospects” is too
vague. Third, the seller might try to specify a number of items that will not be deemed to
constitute a material adverse change in the business, etc. of the seller even if they were to
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occur. In that regard, the seller might suggest the following “carve outs” be added to the end
of Section 3.15:

; provided, however, that in no event shall any of the following constitute a
material adverse change in the business, operations, prospects, assets,
results of operations or condition of Seller: (i) any change resulting from
conditions affecting the industry in which Seller operates or from changes
in general business or economic conditions; (ii) any change resulting from
the announcement or pendency of any of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement; and (iii) any change resulting from compliance by Seller
with the terms of, or the taking of any action contemplated or permitted by,
this Agreement.

The buyer, however, may resist the changes suggested by the seller on the basis that
the buyer needs assurances that the business it is buying through its asset purchase has not
suffered a material adverse change since the date of the most recent audited balance sheet of
the seller. If the buyer agrees to one or more “carve outs” to the material adverse change
provision, the buyer might want to specify a standard of proof with respect to the “carve
outs” (e.g., that (i) the only changes that will be excluded are those that are “proximately,”
“demonstrably” or “directly”: caused by the particular circumstances described above, and
(i1) with respect to any dispute regarding whether a change was proximately caused by one of
the circumstances described above, the seller shall have the burden of proof by a
preponderance of the evidence).

Whether or not the general material